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The following management discussion and analysis (“MD&A”) is intended to assist readers in understanding
Altus Group Income Fund (“Fund” or “Altus”), its business environment, strategies, performance and the risk
factors of the Fund. It should be read in conjunction with the consolidated financial statements and accompanying
notes (“financial statements”) of the Fund for the year ended December 31, 2010, which have been prepared in
accordance with Canadian Generally Accepted Accounting Principles (GAAP) and are reported in Canadian
dollars. Unless otherwise indicated herein, references to “$” are to Canadian dollars.
Unless otherwise indicated or the context otherwise requires, “Fund” or “Altus” refers to Altus Group Income
Fund, “Trust” refers to Altus Operating Trust, “Altus GP” refers to Altus Group General Partner Corporation,
“Geomatics GP” refers to Altus Geomatics General Partner Corporation, “Altus LP” refers to Altus Group Limited
Partnership, “Altus Limited” refers to Altus Group Limited, ”Altus Advisory” refers to Altus Group Advisory
Services Limited, “Altus Residential” refers to Altus Residential Limited, “Altus Geomatics” refers to Altus
Geomatics Limited Partnership, “Altus Geomatics BC” refers to Altus Geomatics Land Surveying BC Limited,
“Altus Paralegal” refers to Altus Group Tax Consulting Paralegal Professional Corporation, “Altus Group UK”
refers to Altus Group (UK) Limited, “Altus Group UK2” refers to Altus Group (UK2) Limited, “Altus UK LLP”
refers to Altus UK Limited Liability Partnership, ”Altus Ireland” refers to Altus Group (Ireland) Professional
Consulting Limited, “Altus Group US” refers to Altus Group U.S. Inc., “PPTL” refers to Physical Planning
Technologies Ltd., “Altus Hawaii” refers to Altus Group (Hawaii) Inc., “Altus Group Asia Pacific” refers to Altus
Group Asia Pacific Limited, “Altus Vietnam” refers to Altus Group (Vietnam) Limited, “Altus Hong Kong” refers
to Altus Group (Hong Kong) Limited, “Altus Shanghai” refers to Altus Construction Consultancy (Shanghai)
Limited, “Altus Singapore” refers to Altus Group (Singapore) Private Limited, “Altus India” refers to Altus Group
(India) Private Limited, “Altus Australia” refers to Altus Group Australia Pty Ltd., “Altus Australia Consulting”
refers to Altus Group Consulting Pty Limited, “Altus ACT” refers to Altus Group (A.C.T.) Pty Ltd, “PK
Queensland” refers to Page Kirkland Queensland Pty Ltd., “Altus Australia Cost” refers to Altus Group Cost
Management Pty Limited, “Altus Thailand” refers to Altus Group Consulting (Thailand) Co. Ltd., “Altus
Holdings Thailand” refers to Altus Group Management Holdings (Thailand) Co., Ltd., “Altus Construction
Thailand” refers to Altus Group Construction Professionals Thailand Co. Ltd., “Altus Services Thailand” refers to
Altus Group Services (Thailand) Co. Ltd., “Altus Egypt” refers to Altus Group Egypt LLC, “Altus Asia Pacific”
refers to the Fund’s operations in the Asia Pacific region, “Altus UK” refers to the Fund’s UK operations, “Altus
US” refers to the Fund’s operations in the USA, “Altus Canada” refers to the Fund’s Canadian operations and
“Altus North America” refers to the combined US and Canadian operations.
On January 1, 2011, the Fund completed a plan of arrangement which allowed for the conversion of the Fund from
an income trust structure into a corporation. The new corporation is named Altus Group Limited and it will
continue to operate the business of the Fund. Refer to subsequent events on page 39.
This MD&A is dated as of March 23, 2011.

Forward‐Looking Statements
Certain statements in this MD&A may constitute “forward‐looking” statements, which involve known
and unknown risks, uncertainties and other factors, which may cause the actual results, performance or
achievements of the Fund and its subsidiary entities, to be materially different from any future results,
performance or achievements expressed or implied by such forward looking statements. When used in

1

Altus Group Income Fund
Management Discussion & Analysis
December 31, 2010
this MD&A, such statements use words such as “may”, “will”, “expect”, “believe”, “plan”, “would”,
“could” and other similar terminology. These statements are not guarantees of future performance and
are subject to numerous risks and uncertainties which could cause actual results to differ materially from
the forward‐looking statements, including those described in the Fund’s publicly filed documents,
including the Annual Information Form (which are available on SEDAR at www.sedar.com) and in this
document under “Key Factors Affecting the Business”. Those risks and uncertainties include: general
state of the economy; dependence on oil and gas sector; competition in the industry; ability to attract and
retain professionals; interest rate risk; currency risk; credit risk; ability to maintain profitability and
manage growth; revenue and cash flow volatility; dependence on Canadian multi‐residential market;
integration of acquisitions; protection of intellectual property; weather; fixed‐price and contingency
engagements; performance of obligations / maintenance of client satisfaction; appraisal mandates;
customer concentration; restrictions on potential growth; operating risks; risk of future legal proceedings;
legislative and regulatory changes; and, insurance limits. Given these risks and uncertainties, investors
should not place undue reliance on forward‐looking statements as a prediction of actual results. These
statements reflect management’s current expectations regarding future events and operating performance
and speak only as of the date of this MD&A. Although the forward‐looking statements contained in this
MD&A are based upon what management believes to be reasonable assumptions, the Fund cannot assure
investors that actual results will be consistent with these forward‐looking statements. These forward‐
looking statements are made as of the date of this MD&A and, except in accordance with applicable law,
the Fund assumes no obligations to update or revise them to reflect new events or circumstances.
Additionally, the Fund undertakes no obligation to comment on analyses, expectations or statements
made by third parties in respect of the Fund, its financial or operating results, or its securities.

Non‐GAAP Measures
The Fund uses non‐GAAP measures that are generally used by Canadian open‐ended income funds as
indicators of financial performance. Readers are cautioned that they are not defined performance
measures under GAAP and may differ from similar computations as reported by other similar entities
and, accordingly, may not be comparable to financial measures as reported by those entities. The Fund
believes that these measures are useful supplemental measures that may assist investors in assessing an
investment in units of the Fund (“Units”).
Earnings before Interest, Taxes, Depreciation, Amortization and Non‐Controlling Interest,
(“EBITDA”), represents revenue less disbursements, salaries, general and administrative expenses but
before interest, taxes, depreciation, amortization, non‐controlling interest and equity accounted earnings
(loss). Refer to Results of Operations on page 17.
Distributable Cash is calculated in accordance with the interpretive release “Standardized Distributable
Cash in Income Trusts and Other Flow‐through Entities” issued by the Canadian Institute of Chartered
Accountants. Refer to Distributable Cash on page 33.
1. Standardized Distributable Cash is defined as the periodic cash flows from operating activities as
reported in the GAAP financial statements, including the effect of changes in non‐cash working
capital and any cash flows from (used in) discontinued operations, less provisions for:
a. capital expenditures, including principal payments on capital leases; and,
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b. restrictions on distributions arising from compliance with financial covenants.
Adjusted Distributable Cash is defined as Standardized Distributable Cash adjusted for investing
and financing activities, such as:
a. the effect of changes in non‐cash working capital;
b. income taxes;
c. debt obligations;
d. funding of long‐term unfunded contractual obligations, such as unfunded pension
obligations and asset retirement obligations; and,
e. funding of property, plant and equipment and intangible assets with debt or equity
financing.
A Payout Ratio is calculated for both Standardized Distributable Cash and Adjusted Distributable Cash,
defined as the declared distributions to unitholders divided by Standardized Distributable Cash and
Adjusted Distributable Cash, as appropriate. Refer to Distributable Cash on page 33.
2.

Overview of the Fund
As of December 31, 2010, the Fund is an unincorporated, open‐ended, limited purpose trust established
under the laws of the Province of Ontario, Canada that indirectly owns or controls Altus Limited, Altus
Geomatics, Altus Residential, Altus Advisory, Altus Group US, PPTL, Altus Hawaii, Altus Vietnam,
Altus Hong Kong, Altus Shanghai, Altus Singapore, Altus India, Altus Australia Consulting, Altus ACT,
PK Queensland, Altus Australia Cost, Altus Holdings Thailand, Altus Construction Thailand, Altus
Services Thailand and Altus UK LLP, all of which constitute the operating entities.
The Fund owns all the issued and outstanding units and notes of the Trust. The Trust is an
unincorporated, open‐ended, limited purpose trust established under the laws of the Province of Ontario,
Canada. The Trust was created to acquire and hold Class A limited partnership units of Altus LP.
Altus LP is a limited partnership formed under the laws of the Province of Manitoba, Canada. The Fund
owns 100% of the shares of Altus GP, the general partner of Altus LP. Altus LP was created to acquire
and hold the investments in Altus and related businesses. Altus LP owns 100% of the shares of Altus
Limited.
The Altus LP Class B limited partnership units are held by the vendors of acquired businesses, certain
employees and the Altus Investors Management Partnership. They are exchangeable into Units of the
Fund on a one‐for‐one basis, subject to adjustment, in accordance with the terms of the Exchange
Agreement. In addition, the holders of the Class B limited partnership units hold Special Voting Units of
the Fund, one for each Class B limited partnership unit of Altus LP, which are cancelled when the Altus
LP Class B limited partnership units are exchanged into Units of the Fund. These Special Voting Units are
the only special voting units of the Fund currently outstanding.
Altus Limited was formed under the laws of the Province of Ontario, Canada on the amalgamation of
predecessor operating entities. Altus Limited owns 100% of the shares of Altus Group UK, Altus Ireland,
Altus Group US, Altus Advisory, Altus Residential and Altus Group Asia Pacific. Altus Limited also
owns 49% of the shares of Geomatics GP and 99.9% of the limited partnership units of Altus Geomatics.
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Altus Advisory was formed under the laws of the Province of Ontario, Canada to provide services in
Canada as receiver‐manager for mortgages in possession and trustee under the Construction Lien Act of
the various provinces.
Altus Residential was formed under the laws of the Province of Ontario, Canada to provide collateral and
risk management services in Canada.
Altus Geomatics is a limited partnership formed under the laws of the Province of Alberta, Canada.
Geomatics GP is the general partner of Altus Geomatics. Altus Geomatics BC was formed in April 2009
under the laws of the Province of British Columbia, Canada to allow Altus Geomatics to provide survey
services in British Columbia in compliance with the regulations of the Association of British Columbia
Land Surveyors.
Altus Paralegal was formed under the laws of Ontario, Canada and in compliance with the regulations of
the Law Society of Upper Canada (as defined in the Law Society Act). Effective May 1, 2008, the realty tax
consulting practice in Ontario, Canada was reorganized as a separate professional corporation to comply
with the rules and regulations of the Law Society Act and the consultants have been licensed as paralegals.
Altus Group UK was formed under the laws of England & Wales to acquire and hold the investments in
Altus Group UK2 and Altus UK LLP. Altus Group UK owns all the shares of Altus Group UK2, formed
under the laws of England & Wales. Altus UK LLP was formed under the laws of England & Wales to
acquire the business assets of businesses domiciled in the United Kingdom (“UK”). Altus Group UK
owns all the Class A limited liability partnership units and Altus Group UK2 owns all the Class C limited
liability partnership units in Altus UK LLP. The Class B limited liability partnership units of Altus UK
LLP are held by the vendors of acquired businesses who are also current member‐partners of Altus UK
LLP. The beneficial owners of the Class D limited liability partnership units of Altus UK LLP are certain
employees of Altus UK LLP. Each Altus UK LLP Class B and Class D limited liability partnership unit is
entitled to an allocation from profits of Altus UK LLP in an amount equal to the cash distributions
declared and paid on each Altus LP Class B limited partnership unit in respect of the same accounting
period, but otherwise have no additional interest in the equity of Altus UK LLP.
Altus Ireland was formed under the laws of Ireland to provide real estate consulting services in Ireland.
Altus Group US was formed under the laws of the state of Delaware, USA, to acquire and hold
investments or the business assets of businesses domiciled in the USA. Altus Group US owns 100% of
PPTL, Altus Hawaii, Altus Group LLC and Altus Group ULC. PPTL was formed under the laws of the
state of Delaware, USA, to carry on the business of Capital Planning Solutions Inc. (“CPSI”) in the USA.
Altus Hawaii was acquired as part of the Page Kirkland Group acquisition.
Altus Group LLC was formed under the laws of the state of Delaware, USA. Altus Group ULC was
formed under the laws of the Province of Nova Scotia, Canada. These companies were formed to facilitate
intercompany financing.
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Altus Group Asia Pacific was formed under the laws of the Province of Ontario, Canada, to acquire and
hold the investment in businesses domiciled in the Asia Pacific region, including those of the Page
Kirkland Group. Altus Group Asia Pacific owns 100% of the shares of Altus Australia, Altus Hong Kong,
Altus Thailand, Altus Vietnam, Altus Singapore and Altus India. Altus Group Asia Pacific also owns 85%
of the shares of Altus Egypt.
Altus Australia was formed under the laws of the state of Victoria, Australia to acquire and hold the
investments in Altus Australia Consulting and Altus ACT. Altus Australia owns 100% of the shares of
Altus Australia Consulting and Altus ACT. Altus Australia and Altus Australia Consulting together own
100% of the shares of PK Queensland and Altus Australia Cost. PK Queensland is in the process of being
restructured into Altus Australia Consulting and deregistered.
Altus Australia Consulting was formed under the laws of the state of New South Wales, Australia; Altus
ACT was formed under the laws of the Australian Capital Territory; Altus Australia Cost was formed
under the laws of the state of New South Wales, Australia; PK Queensland was formed under the laws of
the state of New South Wales, Australia.
Altus Hong Kong was formed under the laws of Hong Kong and owns 100% of the shares of Altus
Shanghai. Altus Shanghai was formed under the laws of the Peoples’ Republic of China and is registered
as a wholly foreign owned enterprise.
Altus Thailand was formed under the laws of Thailand to acquire and hold the investment in Altus
Holdings Thailand. Altus Thailand owns 100% of the shares of Altus Holdings Thailand. Altus Thailand
and Altus Holdings Thailand together own 100% of the shares of Altus Construction Thailand and Altus
Services Thailand. Altus Holdings Thailand, Altus Construction Thailand and Altus Services Thailand
were formed under the laws of Thailand.
Altus Vietnam was formed under the laws of Vietnam.
Altus Singapore was formed under the laws of Singapore.
Altus India was formed under the laws of India.
Altus Egypt was formed under the laws of Egypt.
Disclosure controls and procedures and internal controls over financial reporting
Management of the Fund is responsible for establishing and maintaining disclosure controls and
procedures (“DC&P”) and internal controls over financial reporting (“ICFR”), as those terms are defined
in National Instrument 52‐109 ‐ Certification of Disclosure in Issuers’ Annual and Interim Filings (“NI 52‐
109”), for the Fund.
Management has caused such DC&P to be designed under its supervision to provide reasonable
assurance that material information relating to the Fund, including its consolidated subsidiaries, is made
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known to the Chief Executive Officer and the Chief Financial Officer by others within those entities for
the period in which the annual filings were prepared. Further, such DC&P are designed to provide
reasonable assurance that information required to be disclosed by the issuer in its annual filings, interim
filings or other reports filed or submitted by it under securities legislation is recorded, processed,
summarized and reported within the time periods specified in securities legislation.
Management has caused such ICFR to be designed under its supervision using the “COSO” framework
(“Committee of Sponsoring Organizations of the Treadway Commission”) to provide reasonable
assurance regarding the reliability of financial reporting and the preparation of the consolidated financial
statements for external purposes in accordance with GAAP.
Management has limited the scope of the design of DC&P and ICFR to exclude controls, policies and
procedures of a business, the PricewaterhouseCoopers’ US‐based Real Estate Appraisal Management
Practice, which was acquired on July 30, 2010. Financial information of the business acquired is
summarized below.
Selected Balance Sheet data:
In thousands of dollars
Current Assets

December 31, 2010
$

4,224

Long Term Assets

488

Current Liabilities

621

Income Statement data:
In thousands of dollars
Revenues
Expenses
Net earnings (loss)

Five Months ended December 31, 2010
$

6,291
6,288
3

The scope limitation is in accordance with section 3.3(1)(b) of NI 52‐109, which allows an issuer to limit its
design of DC&P and ICFR to exclude controls, policies and procedures of a business that the issuer
acquired not exceeding 365 days from the date of acquisition.
Management of the Fund has caused to be evaluated under its supervision the effectiveness of its DC&P
as of December 31, 2010, and has concluded that the design and effectiveness of these controls and
procedures provide reasonable assurance that material information relating to the Fund, including its
consolidated subsidiaries, was made known to management on a timely basis to ensure adequate
disclosure.
Management of the Fund has caused to be evaluated under its supervision the effectiveness of its ICFR as
of December 31, 2010 using the COSO framework. Management has concluded that the overall design
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and effectiveness of these controls provide reasonable assurance of the reliability of financial reporting
and the preparation of the consolidated financial statements for external purposes in accordance with
GAAP.
There have been no changes in the Fund’s internal controls over financial reporting that occurred during
the fourth quarter of 2010, the most recently completed interim period, that have materially affected, or
are reasonably likely to materially affect, the Fund’s internal controls over financial reporting.
The Audit Committee and the Board of Directors of Altus Group Limited (previously the Trustees of the
Fund) reviewed and approved this MD&A and the consolidated financial statements for the year ended
December 31, 2010.

Overview of the Industry and Business
Altus Group is a leading multidisciplinary provider of independent real estate consulting and
professional advisory services worldwide. Altus provides a broad range of services that support many
stages of the real estate development cycle: Research, Valuation & Advisory; Cost Consulting & Project
Management; Realty Tax Consulting; and Geomatics. Each business unit is considered a leading service
provider within its specific practice area.
Research, Valuation & Advisory (“RVA”)
The valuation of office, retail, industrial and multi‐residential properties is an ongoing need of the real
estate industry. Properties are typically valued on a regular basis as a result of acquisitions, dispositions,
new financings, covenants of existing financings, expropriation and/or litigation and general portfolio
management. Research is central to the valuation process and research‐based product offerings are
becoming an important line of business. It encompasses database management, analysis of lease and sale
transaction data and provision of customized services, such as impact analysis of mergers on office space
demand, consolidation of tenant rosters and lease expiry schedules, feasibility analysis, occupancy
strategies, asset benchmarking and vacancy forecasts.
Cost Consulting & Project Management (“Cost”)
Accurate and reliable cost consulting and project management is integral to the financial success of a
capital development project. Given the significant fluctuation in construction and development costs,
property developers and owners rely on cost consulting specialists to obtain the most efficient cost
structure for their property development projects and to understand and manage the risks associated
with the development cost side of real estate. As well, within the cost consulting group, capital planning
and infrastructure advisory services are designed to assist clients with ongoing solutions to develop and
maintain the long‐term financial stability of their assets, both vertical and linear. Project Management
covers the four main phases of a development project: initiation and concept; planning and development;
implementation and execution; and handover and evaluation.
Realty Tax Consulting (“Realty Tax”)
Property tax is typically the largest cost in property ownership after debt‐service. Further, realty tax
regimes vary significantly between provinces and local jurisdictions. Given the magnitude and
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complexity of this expense, property managers and owners are increasingly seeking professional
expertise to manage this cost. Equipped with a full spectrum of real estate tax consulting services, this
unit includes assessment appeal (including expert witness), tax due diligence, vacancy rebate counsel,
new construction/preliminary property assessment studies as well as on‐going property tax management
and budgeting.
Geomatics
Geomatics is the practice of recording and managing spatially referenced information, including land
surveying, geographic information systems (“GIS”), global positioning systems (“GPS”) and, more
recently, light detection and ranging (“LIDAR”). Land surveys and geomatics services are fundamental to
the ownership and management of land: setting property boundaries, confirming route and corridor
selection, land settlement surveys, mapping, construction and well site surveys, and oilfield surveys. This
team of professionals, based in Western Canada, is engaged primarily in the exploration and
development activity in the oil and gas sector, as well as in pipeline and utility corridors, land
development and municipal sectors.
Geographic Coverage
At December 31, 2010, Altus had operations in 27 cities across Canada, 18 cities across Asia Pacific, 10
locations in the UK and nine cities in the US. Consultants in North America included: 319 advisory staff
in RVA; 176 consultants in Cost; 210 advisory staff in Realty Tax; and 396 professional and technical staff
in Geomatics. Consultants in the UK included: 25 advisory staff in RVA; 8 consultants in Cost; and 65
advisory staff in Realty Tax. Consultants in Asia Pacific included 311 consultants in Cost.
Clients
Altus’ clients include prominent banking institutions, pension funds, insurance companies, accounting
firms, public real estate organizations (including REITs), industrial companies as well as private
investors, asset and fund managers, real estate developers, governmental institutions and firms in the oil
and gas sector.
Revenue is largely fee‐based and Altus is typically engaged on either an hourly‐based, fixed‐price or
contingency‐based arrangement. Altus is usually retained on a project‐by‐project basis, although some
clients have annual or multi‐year arrangements for the provision of services.
The Fund’s largest operating expense is compensation, including salaries, performance‐based bonuses,
benefits and payroll taxes. Headcount is also a driver of the Fund’s capital expenditures.
Growth Strategy
The Fund’s ability to achieve revenue growth and sustain profitability depends on its ability to execute its
strategic plan and effectively manage its growth. The Fund has identified a number of strategies to grow its
business, while maintaining its distributions. The Fund’s strategy for organic growth is based on cross‐
selling its broad range of services to new and existing clients, leveraging its technology platform through
continued improvements and investing in new capabilities to address growing business needs. By targeting
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marketing initiatives at clients in both new geographic areas and new industries, Altus is able to generate
revenue growth across all business units further diversifying its revenue base.
The Fund intends to continue to make strategic acquisitions from time to time to further grow its business.
Such strategic acquisitions are intended to build on the Fund’s current leadership position in real estate
advisory services in Canada, the UK and the Asia Pacific region by continued regional and international
expansion. Supported by a comprehensive integration plan, these acquisitions complement existing
offerings and extend Altus’ professional and geographic reach.
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Operating Highlights
Selected Financial Information

For the year ended December 31,

In thousands of dollars, except for per unit amounts

2010

2009

2008

(audited)

(audited)

(audited)

Operations
Revenues

$

EBITDA

252,520

$

219,766

$

209,458

32,682

33,234

34,947

3,148

3,388

9,471

Net earnings (loss)
Earnings (loss) per unit:
Basic
Diluted
Weighted average number units (‘000s):
Basic
Diluted

$0.16
$0.16

$0.18
$0.18

$0.55
$0.55

19,944
22,579

19,125
21,650

17,158
19,518

Distributable Cash (1)
Distributable cash:
Standardized
Adjusted

11,458
28,407

24,005
30,564

9,420
27,620

Distributions declared

26,776

25,795

23,423

$1.20

$1.20

$1.20

19,954
2,359

19,136
2,359

17,160
2,359

233.7%
94.3%

107.5%
84.4%

248.7%
84.8%

At December 31,
2010
(audited)

At December 31,
2009
(audited)

At December 31,
2008
(audited)

Distributions declared, per unit
Weighted average number units (‘000s):
Fund Units & Series 1 Class B LP units
Series 2 Class B LP units
Payout ratio:
Standardized
Adjusted

Balance sheet
Total assets
Long‐term financial liabilities
(1)

$

380,054
139,185

$

339,448
83,602

$

319,265
37,604

Distributable cash is calculated for the combined interest of the Fund’s Units and the Altus LP Class B limited partnership units in
accordance with the interpretive release “Standardized Distributable Cash in Income Trusts and Other Flow‐through Entities” issued
by the CICA.

The Fund was formed on May 19, 2005 when, pursuant to an Initial Public Offering (“IPO”), the Fund
issued a total of 8,037,825 Units to the public for gross proceeds of $80.4 million and indirectly acquired
all of the outstanding shares of the operating and holding companies of the predecessor operating
entities, Altus Group, Helyar Group and Derbyshire Viceroy Consultants Limited (collectively referred to
as the “predecessor operating entities”) and indirectly formed Altus Limited.
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2008
Altus delivered on its strategic plan and enhanced its competitive position with eight acquisitions.
Revenue for the year ended December 31, 2008 increased 41% compared to 2007, of which approximately
28% is attributable to revenue from acquisitions in 2008 and a full 12 months of revenue from the 2007
acquisitions. EBITDA for this period was $34.9 million, a margin of 16.7%, and net earnings were $9.5
million, a margin of 4.5%. Distributions to unitholders, on a diluted basis, were $23.4 million or $1.20 per
unit for an adjusted payout ratio of 84.8%.
Total consideration for the eight acquisitions in 2008 was $43.7 million including the issue of 29,544 Fund
Units and 489,339 Altus LP Series 1 Class B limited partnership units:


The Fund made two acquisitions in the emerging specialty area of seniors housing. First, on February 1,
2008, the Fund indirectly acquired certain assets of HealthTrust Canada ULC, (“HealthTrust”) for
approximately $3.5 million, subject to adjustments. As partial consideration for such assets, the Fund
issued 22,921 Altus LP Series 1 Class B limited partnership units. In addition, the asset purchase
agreement provided that management was to invest $0.612 million in 34,382 Altus LP Series 1 Class B
limited partnership units. Second, on March 1, 2008, the Fund indirectly acquired certain assets,
including all of the intellectual property, of 2038951 Ontario Limited (“Doug Dorey”) for approximately
$1.3 million, subject to adjustments. As part of the consideration for such assets, the Fund issued 19,933
Altus LP Series 1 Class B limited partnership units. The practices of HealthTrust and Doug Dorey were
combined and continue to operate as the Seniors’ Housing line of business in the RVA business unit,
assisting clients with site selection, product offering, expansion, exit strategies and property re‐
positioning with respect to seniors’ housing.



On March 1, 2008, the Fund indirectly acquired certain assets, including all of the intellectual property,
of Géocom Recherche Inc. (“Géocom”) for approximately $3.3 million, subject to adjustments. As partial
consideration for such assets, the Fund issued 33,222 Altus LP Series 1 Class B limited partnership units.
In addition, the asset purchase agreement provided that management was to invest $0.375 million in
20,763 Altus LP Series 1 Class B limited partnership units. Géocom operates as Altus Géocom in the
RVA business unit, providing retail research and market analysis.



On May 30, 2008, the Fund indirectly acquired the Property Tax Practice, including the intellectual
property, of Deloitte Canada (“Deloitte”) for approximately $15.3 million, subject to adjustments. With
approximately 80 employees in Vancouver, Calgary, Edmonton, Regina, Saskatoon, Winnipeg,
Toronto, Ottawa, London and Montreal, the acquisition expands the Fund’s Realty Tax presence in
Western Canada and broadens its client roster in the multi‐unit residential, commercial, industrial
and retail industries.



On June 1, 2008, the Fund indirectly acquired certain business assets of Andrews Group (“Andrews”)
for approximately $5.4 million, subject to adjustments. As partial consideration for such assets, the Fund
issued 29,544 Fund Units and 59,087 Altus UK LLP Class B limited liability partnership units. Andrews
continues to operate as Altus Andrews, a division of Altus UK LLP. Based in London with operations
in Southampton and Bracknell, Altus Andrews offers Cost Consulting & Project Management
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services. Post closing, there was a consensus that the UK economy was in a recession and had been
hard hit by the combined meltdown in international financial conditions, impacting Britain’s
international financial sector heavily, and a deflating property market. This contributed to a difficult
business environment for Altus Andrews. Included in the total consideration of $5.4 million was a
holdback of $1.0 million, which would only be paid to the vendor if earnings exceeded a certain
threshold on the one‐year anniversary. During the fourth quarter of 2008, it was determined that the
level of earnings could not be sustained and, therefore, the purchase price was adjusted by the
holdback of $1.0 million with a corresponding adjustment to goodwill. In addition, the vendor of
Andrews Group resigned prior to year end. As provided in the Altus UK LLP members’ agreement,
the Fund redeemed all of the 59,087 Altus UK LLP Class B limited liability partnership units issued to
the vendor and recorded a payable to the vendor as part of the overall consideration paid. The
adjusted consideration paid, as a result of the holdback adjustment and share redemption, was
approximately $4.3 million. The proceeds owing to the vendor for the purchase of the Class B LLP
units will be held by the Fund for a two year period specified in the members’ agreement and paid to
the vendor providing he does not compete with Altus UK LLP nor solicit clients or staff.


On August 1, 2008, the Fund indirectly acquired certain business assets of Commercial Data Solutions
Corp. (“Space4Lease”) for approximately $1.2 million, subject to adjustments. As partial consideration
for such assets, the Fund issued 22,509 Altus LP Series 1 Class B limited partnership units. Space4Lease
is a Vancouver‐based company that offers office market information to the Canadian commercial real
estate sector. By expanding Altus’ current offerings, Space4Lease supplements Altus’ existing leading
real estate information service provider, Altus InSite.



The Fund made two acquisitions in the specialty area of technology platforms for vertical and linear
infrastructure capital planning. First, on November 1, 2008, the Fund indirectly acquired certain
business assets of Capital Planning Solutions Inc. (“CPSI”) for approximately $13.9 million, subject to
adjustments. As partial consideration for such assets, the Fund issued 335,609 Altus LP Series 1 Class
B limited partnership units. The agreement provides for an additional purchase payment to a
maximum of $13,640 if earnings exceed a certain threshold on the one‐year anniversary. For the year
ended December 31, 2008, this amount has not been included as a part of the total purchase price as
the level of earnings could not be determined without a reasonable doubt. PPTL, a company
incorporated in Delaware, USA, was acquired with the business assets of CPSI. Then, on December 1,
2008 the Fund indirectly acquired certain business assets of Harfan Technologies Inc. (“Harfan”) for
approximately $0.88 million, subject to adjustments. CPSI operates as Altus Capital Planning, a line of
business in the Cost business unit. Harfan was integrated into Altus Capital Planning. Altus Capital
Planning is dedicated to developing capital planning systems for organizations looking for effective
strategies to manage their capital spending in real estate and infrastructure assets portfolios. Harfan
added the ability to provide infrastructure management software products targeted to North
American municipalities.

Altus recorded two purchase price adjustments in 2008 related to 2007 acquisitions. A purchase price
adjustment was finalized with respect to Edwin Hill for $1.02 million, payable in cash, which was
recorded as an adjustment to goodwill (such payment was previously accrued as a bonus). Additionally,
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Altus accrued an estimate of a purchase price adjustment with respect to Crape for $0.62 million which
was recorded as an adjustment to goodwill. Consideration for the purchase price adjustment would be in
Altus LP Series 1 Class B limited partnership units or cash. The purchase price adjustment with respect to
Crape was subject to negotiation with the vendor.
On July 2, 2008, the Fund completed a private equity placement of 2,250,000 units for gross proceeds of
$41.0 million. The units issued pursuant to this offering are subject to a four‐month hold period under
Canadian securities laws. On July 3, 2008, $4.5 million was repaid on the Revolving Operating Facility,
$34.2 million was repaid on the Revolving Term Facility and $1.5 million was retained to finance network
infrastructure improvements.
On July 29, 2008, the Fund issued 30,000 Altus LP Series 1 Class B limited partnership units, valued at
$0.5 million, to the former owners of All West Surveys Ltd., pursuant to an amendment to the
combination agreement originally dated April 24, 2006.
Beginning May 1, 2008, all paralegals providing ʺlegal servicesʺ in Ontario (as defined in the Law Society
Act) must be licensed and may only provide such legal services through a sole proprietorship,
partnership or professional corporation (incorporated under the Business Corporations Act (Ontario)).
Effective May 1, 2008, the realty tax consulting practice in Ontario was reorganized as a separate
professional corporation to comply with these rules and regulations and the consultants have been
licensed as paralegals.
2009
Altus continued to deliver on its strategic plan and enhance its competitive position with two
acquisitions. Revenue for the year ended December 31, 2009 increased 5% compared to 2008, of which
approximately 16% is attributable to revenue from acquisitions in 2009 and a full 12 months of revenue
from the 2008 acquisitions. EBITDA for this period was $33.2 million, a margin of 15.1%, and net earnings
were $3.4 million, a margin of 1.5%. Distributions to unitholders, on a diluted basis, were $25.8 million or
$1.20 per unit for an adjusted payout ratio of 84.4%.
Total consideration for the 2009 acquisitions was $39.7 million including the issue of 758,144 Fund Units
and 130,909 Altus LP Series 1 Class B limited partnership units:


On May 1, 2009, the Fund indirectly acquired certain business assets of Suvius Inc. (“Suvius”) for
approximately $5.1 million, subject to adjustments. As partial consideration for such assets, the Fund
issued 130,909 Altus LP Series 1 Class B limited partnership units. Suvius provided administrative
and field services support to Lennon Trilogy Professional Land Surveyors (“Lennon Trilogy”). Altus
Geomatics will continue to provide administrative and field services support to Lennon Trilogy.



On July 31, 2009, the Fund indirectly acquired shares in certain businesses carried on by the Page
Kirkland Group (“Page Kirkland”) for approximately $34.6 million, subject to adjustments. As partial
consideration for such shares, the Fund issued 758,144 Fund Units. A holdback of $14.3 million
Australian Dollars is due within a two to three year period subject to certain performance targets
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being achieved. Page Kirkland operated in eight countries across the Asia Pacific region and in
Hawaii, USA, providing services including cost management, project management, asset and
facilities management and development management.
Altus finalized four purchase price adjustments in 2009 with respect to 2008 acquisitions. A purchase
price adjustment was finalized with respect to Deloitte for $0.1 million, which was recorded as an
adjustment to goodwill. The final purchase price adjustment for the Crape acquisition was $1.1 million, of
which $0.6 million had been accrued as at December 31, 2008. The additional $0.5 million payable
resulted in an increase to goodwill. This was settled in cash of $0.5 million and the issuance of 46,791
Altus LP Series 1 Class B limited partnership units. A purchase price adjustment was also finalized with
respect to Géocom, resulting in a reduction to goodwill of $0.2 million. With respect to the CPSI
acquisition, there was a holdback of $1.7 million, which would only be paid to the vendor if certain
performance targets were achieved. During the year, this amount was reversed, with a corresponding
adjustment to goodwill, as the amount of the holdback payable could not be determined beyond a
reasonable doubt. Discussions are currently underway with the vendors of CPSI regarding achievement
of these performance targets, which will determine what, if any, final contingent consideration will be
payable. To the extent that there is an additional payment, this will result in an increase to goodwill. This
was offset by a purchase price adjustment for CPSI of $0.2 million, which was recorded as an increase to
goodwill.
On April 30, 2009, the Fund increased its investment in Solidifi Inc. (“Solidifi”) by $3.0 million to a 19.55%
interest. Solidifi is a leading provider of single family residential appraisals, collateral risk management
and data analytic services to the North American financial services industry. Solidifi provides customers
with a flexible service platform for procuring collateral valuation, data solutions, and other real estate
services from marketplace vendors and appraisers, with complete transparency and data to make
“incredibly smart decisions”. In accordance with GAAP, Altus has adopted the equity method to account
for the Solidifi investment.
Effective July 31, 2009, the Fund amended its credit facilities, increasing the total credit facilities from
$82.5 million to $100.4 million over the remaining term. The Revolving Operating Facility increased from
$7.5 million to $12.5 million and the Revolving Term Facility increased from $75.0 million to $87.9
million. The amendment also resulted in an increase in the applicable margin over the floating rate, with
margins ranging from 0.5% to 2.75% depending on the funded debt to EBITDA ratio and facility used.
2010
Altus continued to deliver on its strategic plan and enhance its competitive position with three
acquisitions. Revenue for the year ended December 31, 2010 increased 15% compared to 2009, of which
approximately 13% is attributable to revenue from acquisitions in 2010 and a full 12 months of revenue
from the 2009 acquisitions. EBITDA for this period was $32.7 million, a margin of 12.9%, and net earnings
were $3.1 million, a margin of 1.2%. Distributions to unitholders, on a diluted basis, were $26.8 million or
$1.20 per unit for an adjusted payout ratio of 94.3%.
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Total net consideration for the three acquisitions in 2010 was $20.6 million including the issue of 257,090
Fund Units and 9,868 Altus LP Series 1 Class B limited partnership units:


On June 1, 2010, the Fund indirectly acquired certain business assets of Brazos Tax Group LLP
(“Brazos”) for approximately $2.2 million, subject to adjustments. As partial consideration for such
assets, the Fund issued 20,886 Fund Units. Two holdbacks of $0.1 million US Dollars each are due on
the first and second anniversary of the acquisition. Another holdback of $0.5 million US Dollars is
due on the second anniversary of the acquisition subject to certain performance targets being
achieved. Brazos was a US‐based property tax company providing services such as business and
personal property tax compliance and appeals, real estate valuation appeals and property tax
payment administration and due diligence.



On July 2, 2010, the Fund indirectly acquired certain business assets of Peters Surveys Ltd. (“Peters”)
for approximately $1.0 million, subject to adjustments. As partial consideration for such assets, the
Fund issued 9,868 Altus LP Series 1 Class B limited partnership units. A holdback of $1.0 million is
due on September 30, 2011 subject to certain performance targets being achieved. At the acquisition
date, only $0.6 million, $0.5 million on a discounted basis, of this holdback was included in the
purchase price. Peters was a professional land surveying and planning firm, providing a broad range
of geomatic services within the province of Saskatchewan, Canada.



On July 30, 2010, the Fund indirectly acquired certain business assets of PricewaterhouseCoopersʹ US‐
based Real Estate Appraisal Management Practice (“PwC Appraisal Management Practice”) for
approximately $17.4 million, subject to adjustments. As partial consideration for such assets, the
Fund issued 236,204 Fund Units. The agreement provides for an additional purchase payment if
average earnings exceed a certain threshold on the three‐year anniversary. While there is no
maximum amount stipulated in the agreement, the Fund has estimated the contingent consideration
to be $5.3 million, on a discounted basis, which is reflected in the purchase price. The PwC Appraisal
Management Practice provided comprehensive valuation consulting and analytic services to a roster
of global clients through a national practice operated from offices in Jersey City, Houston, Irvine and
Atlanta in the US.

Altus also revised the purchase price with respect to Page Kirkland. Included in the total consideration
for the Page Kirkland acquisition was a holdback of $9.5 million, which would only be paid to the
vendors if certain performance targets were achieved over a two to three year period. During the fourth
quarter of 2010, the amount was reversed with a corresponding adjustment to goodwill and intangible
assets as it was determined that the performance targets were not likely to be achieved. Further, the
interest accretion and net foreign exchange losses previously recorded related to this holdback of $2.3
million and $1.0 million, respectively, have been reversed. To the extent that there is an additional
payment, this will result in an increase to goodwill.
On July 23, 2010, the Fund increased its investment in Solidifi. The Fund now holds approximately 23.6%
of the outstanding shares of Solidifi. On July 29, 2010, Solidifi Inc. changed its name to Real Matters Inc.
(“Real Matters”) and has Solidifi, the appraisal management solutions business, as one of its wholly
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owned subsidiaries. Real Matters is the leading provider of property information services in North
America. It fuses unique data gathered from a network of more than 17,000 field agents with the
technological power of its cloud‐based redihiveTM environment to propel the next generation of
businesses that provide insight into residential and commercial properties. Real Matters currently serves
leading global financial institutions and is located in Chicago, Toronto, Montreal and Calgary.
Effective October 28, 2010, the Fund amended its credit facilities, increasing the Revolving Operating
Facility from $87.9 million to $97.9 million over the remaining term.
On December 1, 2010, the Fund completed the issuance of $50.0 million convertible unsecured
subordinated debentures (“convertible debentures”) with a maturity date of December 31, 2017. The
convertible debentures bear interest at a rate of 5.75% per annum, and are payable semi‐annually on June
30 and December 31 each year. Each convertible debenture is convertible into Fund Units at the option of
the holder at a conversion price of $18.60 per Fund Unit at any time after January 3, 2011 and prior to the
close of business on the earlier of December 31, 2017 and the business day immediately preceding the
date fixed for redemption.
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Results of Operations
Year ended December 31,
In thousands of dollars, except for per unit amounts
Revenues
Disbursements
Salaries and benefits
General and administrative
Earnings before income taxes, interest, amortization, non‐controlling
interest and equity accounted earnings (loss)

$

2010

2009

(audited)

(audited)

252,520

$

219,766

25,352

26,122

155,768

127,574

38,718

32,836

32,682

33,234

25,748

28,164

Interest

4,155

3,514

Equity accounted (earnings) loss

1,038

615

1,741

941

Amortization

Earnings (loss) before income taxes and non‐controlling interest
Current income tax expense (recovery)

871

459

(3,219)

(4,077)

Earnings (loss) before non‐controlling interest

4,089

4,559

Net earnings (loss)
Earnings (loss) per unit:
Basic
Diluted
Weighted average number units (‘000s):
Basic
Diluted

3,148

3,388

$0.16
$0.16

$0.18
$0.18

19,944
22,579

19,125
21,650

Future income tax expense (recovery)

Revenues for the year ended December 31, 2010 were $252.5 million, an increase of 15% over 2009, of
which 13% is attributable to the 2010 acquisitions of Brazos, PwC Appraisal Management Practice and
Peters, and the 2009 acquisitions of Page Kirkland and Suvius.
Altus North America
The operations of Altus US have been combined with Altus Canada for reporting in this MD&A.
For the year ended December 31, 2010, revenues were $198.9 million, an increase of 12% over 2009. The
increase was attributable to organic growth of 6% and acquisitions which provided 6% in incremental
revenues. Revenue per person for the year ended December 31, 2010 was $182,000 (2009 ‐ $170,000).


North America RVA revenue was $54.9 million, an increase of 17% over 2009. The acquisition of
PwC Appraisal Management Practice provided 13% in incremental revenues. A full year of Altus
Residential operations represented 1% of the increase. RVA achieved 3% organic growth due to
higher subscription revenues and an increased number of appraisal and advisory assignments, a
direct result of a more liquid real estate marketplace in comparison to 2009.
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North America Cost revenue was $38.1 million, a decrease of 8% over 2009, notwithstanding an
offset of 3% from the 2009 acquisition of the US operations of Page Kirkland. Although new
construction loan activity has improved, the slowdown of activity in 2009 has had a continuing
impact into 2010. In addition, revenues were impacted by the winding down of work related to
the Olympic village and lower revenues from Altus Capital Planning.
North America Realty Tax revenue was $54.6 million, an increase of 6% over 2009. Organic
growth of 3% was due to contingency‐related work in British Columbia and Manitoba as well as
new assessment rolls in larger Quebec municipalities. The acquisition of Brazos provided 3% in
incremental revenues.
North America Geomatics revenue was $51.3 million, an increase of 35% over 2009, of which 6%
relates to the acquisitions of Peters and Suvius. Organic growth of 29% was primarily due to the
recovery of Alberta’s oil and gas sector.

Altus UK
For the year ended December 31, 2010, revenues were $23.5 million, a decrease of 13% over 2009. A
stronger average Canadian Dollar, compared to the prior year reduced revenues in 2010 by
approximately 10%. Excluding foreign exchange translations, Realty Tax revenues increased by 3%.
Despite a weakened economic landscape, Realty Tax revenues increased as 2010 was the beginning of a
new five‐year re‐valuation cycle. As the UK economy was slow to recover, Valuations, Landlord and
Tenant and Agency, as well as Cost services were all negatively impacted by the lack of market activity
and depressed real estate asset values. Revenue per person for the year was approximately $183,800 (2009
‐ $206,900). The foreign exchange impact caused revenue per person to decline by approximately $22,200.




UK RVA revenue was $6.1 million for the year ended December 31, 2010, a 21% decrease over
2009.
UK Cost revenue was $2.4 million for the year ended December 31, 2010, a 20% decrease over
2009.
UK Realty Tax revenue was $15.0 million for the year ended December 31, 2010, an 8% decrease
over 2009.

Altus Asia Pacific (Cost)
Revenues for the Asia Pacific region were generated from the acquisition of Page Kirkland, which
occurred on July 31, 2009. Revenues for the year ended December 31, 2010 totaled $30.1 million, an
increase of 107% over 2009, which was earned in a five month period. Revenue per person for the year
was approximately $99,100 (revenue per person for the five month period in 2009 was $48,300).
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Revenues and expenses for the year ended December 31, 2010, compared to 2009, are illustrated by the
following charts:
Revenue by Practice Area
In thousands of dollars
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Revenue by Geography
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Expenses
In thousands of dollars
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Interest
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Administrative
Disbursements
Salaries

2009

2010

Disbursements, including subcontractor costs, represent expenses directly related to the provision of
services to a client. Consistent with most professional services firms, these costs are billed back to the
client. Disbursements for the year ended December 31, 2010 decreased 3% over 2009 and the ratio to
revenues was 10% (2009 – 12%). The decrease is due mainly to reduced appeal filing fees in Ontario,
reduced payments to Deloitte for files in progress at time of acquisition, and lower subcontractor fees in
Canada Cost, offset by higher disbursement costs in North America RVA, Geomatics and Asia Pacific.
Without acquisitions, disbursements would have decreased 11% and would have represented 10% of
organic revenues.
Salaries and benefits for the year ended December 31, 2010 were $155.8 million, an increase of 22% over
2009, and increased as a percentage of revenues to 62% (2009 – 58%). Without acquisitions, salaries and
benefits would have increased by 7% and would have represented 61% of organic revenues. The increase
in salaries and benefits was due to additional headcount from acquisitions, higher hourly pay due to
increased activity in Geomatics, general pay increases and an increase in the Deferred Performance Plan
and Unit Option Plan expense.
General and administrative costs for the year ended December 31, 2010 increased 18% over 2009 and as a
percentage of revenues was 15% of revenue, consistent with the prior period. Incremental costs from
acquired businesses represented 12% of the increase over 2009. Other increases included costs related to
IFRS compliance and conversion to a corporate structure.
EBITDA for the year ended December 31, 2010 decreased 2% over 2009 and EBITDA margin was 13% for
the year compared to 15% in 2009. The EBITDA increase was mainly the result of higher earnings in
Geomatics offset by lower earnings in the UK and Asia Pacific.
Amortization decreased 9% for the year ended December 31, 2010 over 2009.
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Interest expense for the year ended December 31, 2010 increased 18% over 2009. Interest expense on
long‐term debt was higher in 2010 as the average loan outstanding was $78.6 million compared to $53.6
million in 2009. The effective interest rate increased to 3.89% in 2010 from 3.65% in 2009. Interest expense
was also higher in 2010 due to the issuance of the convertible debentures which contributed $0.3 million.
The higher interest expense was offset by lower interest accretion on vendor holdbacks relating to
acquisitions. As a result of the reversal of the Page Kirkland vendor holdback, total interest accretion for
2010 was $(0.4) million compared to $1.0 million in 2009. Interest expense also includes interest on the
revolving operating facility, capital leases for office equipment and amortization of deferred financing
costs.
Equity accounted earnings (loss) for the year ended December 31, 2010 was $(1.0) million (2009 ‐ $(0.6)
million). This represents the Fund’s proportionate share of Real Matters’ loss for the period. The Fund’s
share of loss increased, despite Real Matters’ loss for the year being lower compared to the prior year.
This is a result of the Fund’s interest in Real Matters increasing to 23.6% from 19.55% during the year and
the fact that the Fund began equity accounting for its interest in Real Matters from May 2009 onwards.
Income taxes for the year ended December 31, 2010 was a recovery of $2.3 million (2009 – recovery of $3.6
million). Altus Limited, Altus Advisory, Altus Residential, Altus Geomatics BC, Altus Paralegal, Altus
Group UK, Altus Group US, PPTL, Altus Hawaii, Altus Group Asia Pacific, Altus Vietnam, Altus Hong
Kong, Altus Shanghai, Altus Singapore, Altus India, Altus Australia, Altus Australia Consulting, Altus
ACT, PK Queensland, Altus Australia Cost, Altus Thailand, Altus Holdings Thailand, Altus Construction
Thailand, Altus Services Thailand, Altus Egypt, Altus Group LLC and Altus Group ULC are subject to
corporate income taxes, which are reflected in the consolidated financial statements.
Earnings (loss) before non‐controlling interest of the Fund for the year ended December 31, 2010 was
$4.1 million, a decrease of 10% over 2009.
Non‐controlling interest in the Fund’s operations for the year ended December 31, 2010 was $0.9 million
(2009 ‐ $1.2 million).
The Altus Group LP Series 2 Class B limited partnership units and the Altus UK LLP units are reflected as
non‐controlling interest. As discussed in the section headed “Overview of the Fund”, non‐controlling
interest of Altus UK LLP related to the Class B and Class D limited liability partnership units is limited to
the distributions declared and paid on those units. Included in non‐controlling interest is $0.57 million
paid to the Altus UK LLP Class B and Class D unitholders in 2010 (2009 ‐ $0.75 million).
Net earnings (loss) during the year ended December 31, 2010 were $3.1 million, and $0.16 per unit, basic
and diluted (2009 ‐ $3.4 million, and $0.18 per unit, basic and diluted).

21

Altus Group Income Fund
Management Discussion & Analysis
December 31, 2010
Summary of Quarterly Results
2010
Dec 31

Sep 30

Jun 30

Mar 31

Dec 31

Sep 30

Jun 30

Mar 31

(unaudited)

(unaudited)

(unaudited)

(unaudited)

(unaudited)

(unaudited)

(unaudited)

(unaudited)

$

$

$

$

$

$

$

$

In thousands of dollars,
except for per unit amounts

2009

Results of Operations
Revenues

68,069

61,246

62,452

60,753

64,511

54,062

50,632

50,561

EBITDA

5,219

8,555

10,535

8,373

9,669

8,374

8,952

6,239

Net earnings (loss)
Earnings (loss) per unit:
Basic
Diluted
Weighted average number
units (‘000s):
Basic
Diluted

1,568

254

1,415

(89)

920

1,303

1,090

75

$0.08
$0.08

$0.01
$0.01

$0.07
$0.07

$0.00
$0.00

$0.05
$0.05

$0.07
$0.07

$0.06
$0.06

$0.00
$0.00

20,205
22,808

20,077
22,694

19,821
22,450

19,664
22,023

19,668
22,309

19,388
21,920

18,760
21,185

18,670
21,029

Distributable Cash (1)
Distributable cash:
Standardized
Adjusted

$

7,128
4,979

$

378
7,643

$

4,080
9,082

$

(128)
6,703

$

10,710
9,238

$

4,460
8,012

$

5,272
8,228

$

3,563
5,086

Distributions declared
6,771
6,735
6,663
6,607
6,607
6,533
6,346
6,309
Distributions declared, per
unit
$0.30
$0.30
$0.30
$0.30
$0.30
$0.30
$0.30
$0.30
Weighted average number
units (‘000s):
Fund Units & Altus LP
19,664
Series 1 B units
20,210
20,090
19,850
18,793
18,670
19,666
19,416
2,359
Altus LP Series 2 B units
2,359
2,359
2,359
2,359
2,359
2,359
2,359
Payout ratio:
Standardized
95.0%
1,781.7%
163.3% (5,161.7)%
61.7%
146.5%
120.4%
177.1%
Adjusted
136.0%
88.1%
73.4%
98.6%
71.5%
81.5%
77.1%
124.0%
(1) Distributable cash is calculated for the combined interest of the Fund’s Units and the Altus LP Class B limited partnership
units in accordance with the interpretive release “Standardized Distributable Cash in Income Trusts and Other Flow‐through
Entities” issued by the CICA.
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The Fund’s performance reflects seasonality. Each business unit has different seasonal patterns associated
with its particular operations. While the core Cost practice does not experience significant seasonality in
its operations, Altus Capital Planning, acquired in 2008, has a revenue stream that includes contract sales
that do not occur consistently throughout the year. RVA typically experiences increased demand for
annual valuations in the third and fourth quarters. The UK Realty Tax practice has a higher proportion of
property tax appeals resolved and revenue recognized, in the first and fourth quarters of the year, due to
the March 31 fiscal year end for UK municipalities. Geomatics has weather‐related revenue seasonality
and its peak activity is in the autumn and winter months. Some of Geomatics’ projects tend to be on
remote undeveloped land which is most accessible in the winter and summer months and least accessible
in the spring months when ground conditions are soft and wet. In addition, as a result of the contingency
fee‐based projects in the Canadian Realty Tax practice, the Fund experiences fluctuations in revenue
during the year depending on when appeal cases are settled.

2010
(Full yea r revenue of a cquisitions used for compa rison purposes)
40.0%
35.0%

RVA

30.0%

Realty Tax

25.0%
20.0%

Cost

15.0%

Geomatics

10.0%
5.0%

Total

0.0%
2010Q1

2010Q2

2010Q3

2010Q4

2009
(Full yea r revenue of a cquisitions used for compa rison purposes)
40.0%
35.0%

RVA

30.0%
Realty Tax

25.0%
20.0%

Cost

15.0%

Geomatics

10.0%
Total

5.0%
0.0%
2009Q1

2009Q2

2009Q3

2009Q4
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Compound revenue growth for the last eight quarters is approximately 2.93% per quarter. Altus’ strategic
plan of steady organic growth complemented by growth through acquisition is reflected by the following
charts, showing the timing of the 5 acquisitions during the last eight quarters:
Revenue Growth by Segment
In thousands of dollars
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Revenue Growth by Region
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▪ Page Kirkland
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Fourth Quarter
Revenues for the quarter ended December 31, 2010, were $68.1 million, an increase of 6% over the same
period in 2009. The 2010 acquisitions of Brazos, PwC Appraisal Management Practice and Peters
provided a 7% increase, offset by a 1% reduction from the existing businesses.
Altus North America
The operations of Altus US have been combined with Altus Canada for reporting in this MD&A.
For the quarter ended December 31, 2010, revenues were $54.1 million, an increase of 11% over the same
period in 2009. Acquisitions provided 9% in incremental revenues in 2010. Revenue per person for the
quarter was approximately $46,800 (2009Q4 – $47,100).








North America RVA revenue was $16.5 million, an increase of 30% over the same period in 2009.
The acquisition of PwC Appraisal Management Practice provided 29% of incremental revenues.
Excluding acquisitions, revenue was 1% above prior year as improved market conditions
resulted in an increased number of valuations and higher revenues from subscription services.
North America Cost revenue was $9.8 million, a decrease of 8% over the same period in 2009.
Revenue growth from servicing infrastructure clients was outweighed by lower consulting and
software license revenues.
North America Realty Tax revenue was $12.8 million, a decrease of 4% over 2009,
notwithstanding a 3% increase from the acquisition of Brazos. The decrease was largely due to
contingency‐related work in British Columbia and Manitoba that began to ramp up in the fourth
quarter of 2009 and slowed down in the third quarter of 2010.
North America Geomatics revenue was $15.0 million, an increase of 23% over the same period in
2009, of which 4% is attributable to the acquisition of Peters. Higher oil and gas drilling activity
continued to drive demand for Geomatics services.

Altus UK
For the quarter ended December 31, 2010, revenues were $6.5 million, a decrease of 12% over 2009. A
stronger Canadian dollar during the quarter compared to the same period in 2009 reduced revenues by
approximately 7%. The weak UK economy continued to adversely impact RVA and Cost revenues.
Excluding foreign exchange translations, Realty Tax revenues increased by 4% as the ramp up to the new
five‐year re‐valuation cycle continued in the quarter. Revenue per person for the quarter was
approximately $52,000 (2009Q4 ‐ $56,500).




UK RVA revenue was $1.7 million for the quarter ended December 31, 2010, a 22% decrease from
the same period in 2009.
UK Cost revenue was $0.6 million for the quarter ended December 31, 2010, a 29% decrease over
the same period in 2009.
UK Realty Tax revenue was $4.2 million for the quarter ended December 31, 2010, a 4% decrease
over the same period in 2009. The decline was the result of the stronger Canadian Dollar.
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Altus Asia Pacific (Cost)
Revenues for the Asia Pacific region were generated from the 2009 acquisition of Page Kirkland.
Revenues for the quarter ended December 31, 2010 totaled $7.5 million, an 11% decrease over the same
period in 2009. Revenue per person for the quarter ended December 31, 2010 was approximately $23,900
(2009Q4 ‐ $25,800).
EBITDA for the quarter ended December 31, 2010 decreased 46% over the same period in 2009 and
EBITDA margin was 8% for the quarter compared to 15% over the same period in 2009. The EBITDA
decrease was mainly the result of lower earnings in Cost partially offset by EBITDA contribution from
Geomatics and acquired businesses.
Interest expense for the quarter ended December 31, 2010 was $(0.4) million compared to $1.4 million
over the same period in 2009. Higher interest from long‐term debt was outweighed by a credit in interest
accretion due to the reversal of the Page Kirkland vendor holdback. Interest expense on long‐term debt
was higher in the fourth quarter of 2010 as the average loan outstanding was $87.5 million compared to
$70.3 million in the fourth quarter of 2009. The effective interest rate increased to 3.88% in the fourth
quarter of 2010 from 3.65% in the same period in 2009. Interest expense was also higher in the quarter due
to the issuance of the convertible debentures which contributed $0.3 million. Interest accretion on vendor
holdbacks relating to acquisitions was $(1.8) million compared to $0.5 million in 2009. Interest expense
also includes interest on the revolving operating facility, capital leases for office equipment and
amortization of deferred financing costs.
Earnings before non‐controlling interest of the Fund for the quarter ended December 31, 2010 was $1.9
million, an increase of 58% over the same period in 2009.
Net earnings (loss) during the quarter ended December 31, 2010 were $1.6 million, and $0.08 per unit,
basic and diluted (2009Q4 ‐ $0.9 million, and $0.05 per unit, basic and diluted).

Liquidity and Capital Resources
Cash Flow

Year ended December 31,

In thousands of dollars
Cash from operating activities

$

2010

2009

(audited)

(audited)

17,880

$

27,427

Cash from financing activities

35,910

569

Cash from investing activities

(19,676)

(26,926)

(482)

129

33,632

1,199

Effect of foreign currency translation
Change in cash position during the period
Distributions paid

$

30,317

$

26,464

The Fund expects to fund operations and distributions from cash from operating activities. Deficiencies
arising from short‐term working capital requirements and capital expenditures may be financed on a
short‐term basis with bank indebtedness or on a permanent basis with new equity issuances. Significant
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erosion in the general state of the economy could affect the Fund’s liquidity by reducing cash generated
from operating activities or by limiting access to short‐term financing as a result of tightening credit
markets.
Cash from operating activities
Working Capital
In thousands of dollars
Current assets

December 31, 2009

(audited)

(audited)

$

137,962

$

101,155

Current liabilities
Working capital

December 31, 2010
$

88,554

$

52,659

36,807

35,895

Current assets are composed primarily of work‐in‐process and accounts receivable. Current liabilities
include accounts payable, distributions payable and amounts payable to vendors of acquired businesses.
Accounts receivable and work‐in‐process increased 16.9% from December 31, 2009 to December 31, 2010.
As a percentage of trailing 12 months revenues, combined accounts receivable and work‐in‐process were
34.0% as at December 31, 2010 compared to 33.4% as at December 31, 2009, a two day increase in the
number of days revenue outstanding.
Current and long‐term liabilities include amounts owing to the vendors of the acquired businesses on
account of excess working capital, deferred purchase price payments and other closing adjustments. At
December 31, 2010, the amounts owing to the vendors of the acquired businesses were approximately
$7.6 million (December 31, 2009 ‐ $12.2 million). The Fund requires acquired businesses to have sufficient
working capital to fund operating cash flow on an uninterrupted basis. The purchase and sale
agreements for the acquired businesses require that excess working capital be paid back to the sellers
once it is monetized. Any working capital deficiency is withheld from the deferred purchase payment.
Additionally, the purchase and sale agreements generally provide that liabilities incurred prior to closing
are obligations of the vendors and any liabilities identified post closing are withheld from the deferred
purchase payment, with settlement ranging from one to three years from the acquisition date.
The Fund intends to fund the deferred purchase price payments through its revolving term facility or
cash on hand. The Fund is able to satisfy the balance of its current liabilities through the realization of its
current assets.
Cash from financing activities
On December 1, 2010, the Fund completed the issuance of $50.0 million convertible debentures with a
maturity date of December 31, 2017. The convertible debentures bear interest at a rate of 5.75% per
annum, and are payable semi‐annually on June 30 and December 31 each year. The effective interest rate
is 8.44%.
Each convertible debenture is convertible into Fund Units at the option of the holder at a conversion price
of $18.60 per Fund Unit at any time after January 3, 2011 and prior to the close of business on the earlier
of December 31, 2017 and the business day immediately preceding the date fixed for redemption. On or

27

Altus Group Income Fund
Management Discussion & Analysis
December 31, 2010
after December 31, 2013 and prior to December 31, 2015, the convertible debentures may be redeemed at
the option of the Fund, in whole or in part, at a redemption price equal to the principal amount plus
accrued and unpaid interest, provided that the current market price on the date of notice is at least 125%
of the conversion price. On or after December 31, 2015 and prior to the maturity date, the Fund may at its
option redeem the convertible debentures, in whole or in part, at a price equal to the principal amount
plus accrued and unpaid interest. On redemption or at the December 31, 2017 maturity date, the Fund
may, at its option and subject to regulatory approval, elect to satisfy its obligation to pay all or a portion
of the principal amount and the accrued and unpaid interest by the issuance of Fund Units. The number
of Fund Units to be issued will be determined by dividing the principal amount of the convertible
debentures to be redeemed or repaid at maturity plus accrued and unpaid interest by 95% of the current
market price as at the date of redemption or maturity.
Upon the occurrence of a change in control involving the acquisition of voting control or direction over of
66.67% or more of the Units of the Fund, the Fund will be required to make an offer to purchase, within
30 days, all of the outstanding convertible debentures at a price equal to 101% of the principal amount
plus accrued and unpaid interest.
The Fund’s other credit facilities are summarized below:

In thousands of dollars
Revolving Operating Facility: Senior secured revolving operating
facility for general corporate purposes, including letters of credit due
on demand, which will mature October 1, 2012.

$

Revolving Term Facility: Senior secured term facility to finance
investments as permitted by the credit agreement. The Revolving
Term Facility requires repayment of principal at such time as certain
thresholds are exceeded and will mature October 1, 2012.

December 31, 2010

December 31, 2009

(audited)

(audited)

12,500

$

97,931
$

110,431

12,500

87,931
$

100,431

At December 31, 2010, the Fund had total borrowings on its credit facilities of $89.7 million, drawn on the
term facility, an increase of $18.4 million from December 31, 2009. During the year, funds were borrowed
on the term facility for the acquisitions of Peters, Brazos and PwC Appraisal Management Practice, the
investment in Real Matters and the payment of holdbacks for 2009 acquisitions. Altus also has
outstanding letters of credit under its credit facilities in the total amount of $0.3 million to secure a credit
facility for operating leases and as performance guarantees to customers.
The cost of the Fund’s facilities is tied to Prime Rate, Bankers’ Acceptance, US base rates or LIBOR rates.
The prime rate of interest in Canada averaged 2.60% during the year ended December 31, 2010. As at
December 31, 2010, $87.5 million of the credit facilities were subject to various interest rate swap
agreements to fix the interest rate. The effective rate of interest for the year ended December 31, 2010 was
3.89% (2009 – 3.65%).
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At December 31, 2010, the Fund is in compliance with the financial covenants of its bank credit facilities,
which are:
December 31, 2010

December 31, 2009

Funded debt to EBITDA (maximum 2.50:1)

1.34:1

1.68:1

EBITDA to interest expense (minimum 4.50:1)

9.62:1

10.55:1

Working capital ratio (minimum 1.25:1)

3.75:1

2.47:1

The credit facility agreement requires that certain subsidiaries of the Fund must account for at least 85%
of EBITDA at the end of each fiscal quarter. As at December 31, 2010, the Fund has met this requirement.
Under the terms of the credit facilities, the Fund may elect to have the funded debt to EBITDA ratio
maximum raised from 2.0:1 to 2.5:1 for the next four consecutive quarters after completing an approved
acquisition funded with debt. Further, the election provides that the ratio shall not be greater than 2.0:1 at
the end of the election period. During the third quarter of 2010 and as a result of the PwC Appraisal
Management Practice acquisition, the Fund gave notice to its lenders to apply this election.
In 2009, the Fund received a loan to finance leasehold improvements made to leased premises. The loan,
payable in installments up to March 2019, is with the landlord and bears interest at Canadian Dollar
prime rate plus 2%. In 2010, the Fund received a loan to finance leasehold improvements for another
leased premise. The loan, payable in installments up to August 2014, is with the landlord and bears
interest at 7%. The loans are not secured. The effective rate of interest on the leasehold improvement
loans for the year ended December 31, 2010 was 4.43% (2009 – 4.25%).
In 2009, Altus financed the purchase of a custom software application and a customer list. The amount is
payable in monthly installments until September 2012. The implicit interest rate is 9.34% (2009 – 9.34%).
The amount is not secured.
Other than long‐term debt and letters of credit, the Fund has contractual obligations for operating leases
for office facilities and office equipment and capital leases for office equipment.
Contractual Obligations
In thousands of dollars

Payments Due by Period (undiscounted)
Less than
Total
1 year
1 to 3 years

4 to 5 years

After 5 years

Long‐term debt

$

90,462

227

89,921

122

192

Operating lease obligations

$

44,197

7,104

11,092

7,062

18,939

Capital lease obligations

$

426

264

162

‐

‐

Payables to vendors

$

9,135

1,731

7,404

‐

‐

Convertible debentures

$

50,000

‐

‐

‐

50,000

Other current and long‐term liabilities

$

1,440

1,165

146

49

80
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Cash from investing activities
The Fund invests in property, plant and equipment and intangible assets to support the activities of the
business, such as computer equipment and software, trucks and field equipment, and office equipment
and furnishings. Capital expenditures for accounting purposes include property, plant and equipment in
substance as well as form, including assets under capital lease and intangible assets comprising of
computer application software. For purposes of calculating distributable cash, capital expenditures
exclude assets funded by financing activities. Capital leases are treated as interest and loan payments,
consistent with the treatment on the Statement of Cash Flows.
Capital expenditures are reconciled as follows:
Capital Expenditures

Year ended December 31,

In thousands of dollars
Property, plant and equipment additions on Statement of Cash Flows

$

Intangible asset additions on Statement of Cash Flows
Proceeds on disposal of operational property, plant and equipment,
reinvested
Capital expenditures funded by cash from investing activities

$

2010

2009

(audited)

(audited)

4,843

$

1,417

1,455

2,010

(123)

(368)

6,175

$

3,059

Fund Units
As at December 31, 2010, the following Fund Units and Altus LP Class B limited partnership units
(exchangeable on a one‐for‐one basis into Fund Units) were outstanding:
Issued and
Units
Altus Group Income Fund Units
Altus LP Series 1 Class B limited partnership units
Total Units
Altus LP Series 2 Class B limited partnership units
Total Diluted Units

Outstanding

% of Total

17,792,646

78.7%

2,464,161

10.9%

20,256,807

89.6%

2,359,427

10.4%

22,616,234

100.0%

The Altus LP Class B limited partnership units are held by the vendors of acquired businesses, certain
employees and the Altus Investors Management Partnership (“AIMP”). They are exchangeable into Units
of the Fund on a one‐for‐one basis, subject to adjustment, in accordance with the terms of the Exchange
Agreement. In addition, the holders of the Class B limited partnership units hold Special Voting Units of
the Fund, one for each Class B limited partnership unit of Altus LP. These Special Voting Units are the
only special voting units of the Fund currently outstanding.
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At December 31, 2010, the Altus LP Series 1 Class B limited partnership units are exchangeable. The Altus
LP Series 2 Class B limited partnership units may be exchangeable after December 31, 2010. Each Special
Voting Unit of the Fund is cancelled upon the exchange of an Altus LP Class B limited partnership unit.
During the year ended December 31, 2010, 567,445 Altus LP Series 1 Class B limited partnership units
were exchanged for an equivalent number of Fund Units. An equivalent number of Special Voting Units
were cancelled.
During the year ended December 31, 2010, the Fund issued 16,154 Fund Units and 95,426 Altus LP Series
1 Class B limited partnership units to the Altus Group Income Fund Employee Benefit Plan Trust with
respect to the 2009 Deferred Performance Plan.
During the year ended December 31, 2010, the Fund issued 9,868 Altus LP Series 1 Class B limited
partnership units to the vendors of Peters, 20,886 Fund Units to the vendors of Brazos and 236,204 Fund
Units to certain of the vendors involved in the acquisition of the PwC Appraisal Management Practice. In
addition, the Fund issued 207,012 Fund Units with respect to Fund Unit options that were exercised and
5,172 Fund Units to the Trustees of the Fund as a component of their 2010 compensation. Further, 4,193
Altus LP Series 1 Class B limited partnership units were issued during the year to a supplier for its
compensation.
During the year ended December 31, 2010, fractional units totalling 127 Altus LP Series 1 Class B limited
partnership units and 1 Altus LP Series 2 Class B limited partnership unit were redeemed.
For the year ended December 31, 2010, an amount of $2.7 million (2009 ‐ $1.6 million) was accrued in
relation to the Fund’s Deferred Performance Plan as the actual adjusted pay‐out ratio fell within the
established range set by the administrators of this plan. During the fourth quarter of 2009, the Trustees of
the Altus Group Income Fund Employee Benefit Plan Trust approved a variation to the vesting period
that permitted units issued for the 2008 Deferred Performance Plan to vest in January 2010 and the units
issued for the 2009 Deferred Performance Plan to vest in April 2010.
On May 7, 2010, the Fund granted 730,000 Fund Unit options which vest over a period from 12 to 36
months. The weighted average estimated fair value at the date of grant for the 730,000 Fund Unit options
was $1.82 per unit option. This fair value was estimated using the Black‐Scholes option pricing model.
At December 31, 2010, there are 1,194,747 Fund Unit options outstanding (December 31, 2009 – 707,409) at
a weighted average exercise price of $11.19 per unit (December 31, 2009 ‐ $7.28 per unit) and 28,788
options are exercisable (December 31, 2009 – Nil). At December 31, 2010, the weighted average remaining
contractual life of these options is 2.11 years (December 31, 2009 – 2.34 years). For the year ended
December 31, 2010, the Fund recorded compensation expense of $0.8 million (2009 ‐ $0.3 million) related
to Fund Unit options granted to employees with a corresponding adjustment to contributed surplus.
During the year, 207,012 Fund Unit options were exercised and 35,650 Fund Unit options were forfeited.
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On January 1, 2011, the Fund converted from an income trust structure to a corporation. All the Fund
Units, Altus LP Series 1 and Series 2 Class B limited partnership units were exchanged into common
shares of Altus Group Limited on a one‐for‐one basis. All the special voting units were cancelled. As a
result, on January 1, 2011, there were 22,616,234 common shares of Altus Group Limited outstanding.
From January 1, 2011 to March 11, 2011, Altus Group Limited issued 1,352 common shares to the
Directors of Altus Limited as a component of their 2010 compensation and 397 common shares to a
supplier for its compensation. As at March 14, 2011, there were 22,617,983 common shares outstanding.

32

Altus Group Income Fund
Management Discussion & Analysis
December 31, 2010
Distributable Cash (1)
Year ended December 31,
In thousands of dollars, except for per unit amounts
Cash from operating activities
Adjustments:
Capital expenditures (2)
Principal payments of capital leases (2)

$

Standardized Distributable Cash
Adjustments:
Change in non‐cash operating working capital
Altus UK LLP non‐controlling interest
Property, plant and equipment funded by long‐term debt (3)
Discount accretion on vendor holdbacks (4)
Net proceeds from sale of intangible assets (5)
Adjusted Distributable Cash
Distributable Cash, per unit:
Standardized
Adjusted

$

Distributions declared

$

Distributions declared, per unit
Weighted average number units (‘000s):
Fund Units & Series 1 Class B units
Altus LP Series 2 Class B units
Payout ratio:
Standardized
Adjusted
(1)

(2)
(3)
(4)
(5)

2010

2009

(audited)

(audited)

17,880

$

27,427

(6,175)
(247)

(3,059)
(363)

11,458

24,005

13,656
(568)
4,213
(352)
‐

4,044
(753)
1,759
1,019
490

28,407

$

$0.51
$1.27
26,776

30,564
$1.12
$1.42

$

25,795

$1.20

$1.20

19,954
2,359

19,136
2,359

233.7%
94.3%

107.5%
84.4%

Distributable cash is calculated for the combined interest of the Fund’s Units and the Altus LP Class B limited partnership
units in accordance with the interpretive release “Standardized Distributable Cash in Income Trusts and Other Flow‐through
Entities” issued by the CICA.
Capital expenditures exclude capital leases, which are treated as interest and loan payments for purposes of calculating
distributable cash, consistent with the treatment on the Statement of Cash Flows. See reconciliation.
Included in property, plant and equipment funded by long‐term debt are expenditures incurred with respect to an Enterprise
Resource Planning platform for which funding has been committed as part of the Fund’s credit facility.
Included in net earnings is the accretion of the discount on vendor holdbacks. As this is an acquisition related expenditure,
which is funded with long term debt and/or equity, it has been added back to determine Adjusted Distributable Cash.
Proceeds from sale of intangible assets relates to a one time sale of software that was acquired during the purchase of certain
business assets of Harfan, net of legal costs.

Management believes that distributable cash is a useful measure of performance, as it provides investors
with an indication of the amount of cash available for distribution to unitholders. Investors are cautioned,
however, that distributable cash should not be construed as an alternative to using the statement of cash
flows. Furthermore, the Fund’s method of calculating distributable cash may not be comparable to
similarly named calculations prepared by other entities.
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With the exception of monthly and quarterly distributions paid in December 2010, which had a record
date of December 21, 2010 and were paid on December 31, 2010 in order to facilitate the conversion of the
Fund’s income trust structure into a corporation, the timing of distributions was unchanged from
previous years as outlined below.
The Fund makes monthly distributions to unitholders of record on the last day of each month, payable on
or about the 15th day of the following month.
Distributions on the Altus LP Series 1 Class B limited partnership units may be paid monthly.
Distributions on the Altus LP Series 2 Class B limited partnership units continued to be paid quarterly
until December 31, 2010.
Altus LP makes distributions to unitholders of record of the Altus LP Series 1 Class B limited partnership
units held outside AIMP on the last day of each month, payable on or about the 15th day of the following
month. Altus Group LP makes distributions to unitholders of record of the Altus LP Series 1 and Series 2
Class B limited partnership units held inside AIMP on the last day of the month, paid quarterly.
The current distribution rate is $0.10 per unit per month. Distributions for the quarter ended December
31, 2010 were $0.30 per unit (2009Q4 ‐ $0.30) and $1.20 per unit for the year ended December 31, 2010
(2009 ‐ $1.20).
The Fund’s primary source of cash for distributions is cash flow from operating activities. Deficiencies
arising from short‐term working capital requirements and capital expenditures may be financed with
bank indebtedness.
Whenever there is an excess of cash available for distribution over actual distributions, the excess has
been retained in the operating entities to allow for seasonal fluctuations in cash from operations, to fund
acquisitions and to fund capital expenditures.
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Excess (shortfall) of cash flow and net earnings (loss) on distributions declared
The following table presents excess (shortfall) cash flows from operating activities and net earnings (loss)
on distributions declared for the year ended December 31:
Year ended December 31,
In thousands of dollars
Cash flow from operating activities (A)
Net earnings (loss) (B)
Distributions declared (C)
Excess (shortfall) of cash flows from operating activities over distributions
declared (A‐C)
Shortfall of net earnings (loss) over distribution declared (B‐C)

$

2010

2009

(audited)

(audited)

17,880

$

27,427

3,148

3,388

26,776

25,795

(8,896)

1,632

(23,628)

(22,407)

Distributions declared exceeded cash flow from operating activities by $8.9 million for the year ended
December 31, 2010 (2009 – cash flow from operating activities exceeded distributions declared by $1.6
million). Cash flow from operating activities includes changes in working capital which are mainly due to
timing of cash receipts and payment of liabilities and do not impact adjusted distributable cash. Such
increases or decreases are financed from available cash or from the Fundʹs Revolving Operating Facility.
If the net change in operating working capital is added back to the cash flow from operating activities for
the year ended December 31, 2010, the total cash funded by operations is $31.5 million (2009 ‐ $31.5
million), which is more than distributions declared.
Distributions declared exceeded net earnings by $23.6 million for the year ended December 31, 2010 (2009
‐ $22.4 million). In any period, the amount of distributions declared will exceed net earnings (loss) of the
Fund as a result of non‐cash charges such as amortization of property, plant and equipment and
intangibles and equity accounted losses that reduce the net earnings (loss) figure. As a result of the
Fund’s acquisitions over the past several years, net earnings (loss) have been affected by the increased
amortization on the intangible assets. The costs of the intangible assets are included as part of the total
consideration paid but there are no future cash flows associated with maintaining these assets. The total
amount of amortization and equity accounted loss for the year ended December 31, 2010 was $26.8
million (2009 ‐ $28.8 million). If these charges are added back to the net earnings (loss) for the year ended
December 31, 2010, adjusted net earnings (loss) is $29.9 million (2009 ‐ $32.2 million), which exceeded
distributions declared.
Cash distributions declared were lower than distributable cash resulting in an adjusted pay‐out ratio of
94.3% in 2010. Cash distributions were lower than distributable cash in 2009 resulting in an adjusted pay‐
out ratio of 84.4%. The level of distributions declared is regularly reviewed by the Board of Trustees to
take into account the current and prospective performance of the Fund and the future sustainability of
distributions.
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Financial Instruments and Other Instruments
Financial instruments held in the normal course of business included in the Fund’s consolidated balance
sheet at December 31, 2010 consist of cash and cash equivalents, accounts receivable, accounts payable
and accrued liabilities, payables to vendors, capital lease obligations, redemption proceeds payable,
convertible debentures, long‐term debt, current and long‐term other obligations and cash flow hedges.
The Fund does not enter into financial instrument arrangements for speculative purposes.
The fair values of the short‐term financial instruments approximate their carrying values. The fair values
of the long‐term debt and capital lease obligations are not significantly different than their carrying
values, as these instruments bear interest at rates comparable to current market rates. The fair value of
other long‐term liabilities and payables to vendors is estimated by discounting the future contractual cash
flows at the cost of money to the Fund, which is equal to their carrying value.
The fair value of the convertible debentures as at December 31, 2010 was approximately $48.7 million,
based on market quotes.
The Fund is exposed to interest rate risk in the event of fluctuations in the bank’s prime rate or bankers’
acceptance rate, US base rate and LIBOR rate as the interest rates on the Revolving Operating Facility and
Revolving Term Facility fluctuate with changes in the bank’s prime rate, bankers’ acceptance rate, US
base rate or LIBOR rate.
To mitigate the interest rate risk on long‐term debt, the Fund has entered into interest rate swap
agreements associated with its credit facilities. In 2006, the Fund entered into an interest rate swap
agreement with a notional amount of $12.5 million and a fixed interest rate at 4.46% plus a stamping fee
of 2.75%. This interest rate swap matures on May 13, 2011. At December 31, 2010, the fair value of the
swap was $0.1 million in favor of the counterparty.
In 2010, the Fund entered into two additional interest rate swap agreements. One swap agreement,
effective August 20, 2010, has a notional amount of $75.0 million and a fixed interest rate of 0.98% plus a
stamping fee of 2.75%. This interest rate swap expires on August 31, 2011. The other interest rate swap is
a forward swap, effective August 31, 2011, on expiry of the previous swap, for a notional amount of $75.0
million and a fixed interest rate of 2.77% plus the applicable stamping fee at that time. At December 31,
2010, the fair value of these swaps was $0.2 million in favor of the Fund and $0.6 million in favor of the
counterparty, respectively.
The Fund is exposed to credit risk with respect to accounts receivable. Credit risk is not concentrated in
any particular client or geographic sector but there is exposure to the real estate and oil and gas sectors.
Accounts receivable are monitored on an ongoing basis with respect to their collectability and, where
appropriate, a specific reserve is recorded. In addition, a general reserve is set up on accounts receivable
in accordance with the Fund’s accounting policies.
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Liquidity risk is the risk that the Fund will not be able to meet its financial obligations as they fall due.
The Fund manages liquidity risk through the management of its capital structure and financial leverage.
It also manages liquidity risk by continuously monitoring actual and projected cash flows, taking into
account the seasonality of the Fund’s revenues and receipts and maturity profile of financial assets and
liabilities. The Board of Trustees reviews and approves the Fund’s operating and capital budgets, as well
as any material transactions out of the ordinary course of business, including proposals on mergers,
acquisitions or other major investments.

Related Party Transactions
The Fund had the following transactions with related parties during the year, which were in the normal
course of operations and measured at the exchange amount.
The St. John’s, Newfoundland office leases premises in a building partially owned by two employees who
are holders of Altus LP Class B limited partnership units. The original lease commenced in September
1999 for a term of ten years at a rent deemed by the owners, including the non‐related owner, to reflect
market for comparable office space. In March 2008, Altus subleased adjacent office space for a term to
coincide with the original lease. A lease for the combined office space was renewed during the third
quarter of 2009 and commenced on September 1, 2009, with a lease term of five years. Rent was set at
rates deemed by the owners and Altus to reflect market for comparable office space. Rent paid was $0.035
million for the year ended December 31, 2010 (2009 ‐ $0.032 million).
One of the offices in Edmonton, Alberta leases premises in a building owned by three employees who are
holders of Altus LP Class B limited partnership units. The lease commenced February 1, 2007 for a term
of five years. At inception of the lease, rent was set at rates deemed by the owners and Altus to reflect
market for comparable office space, based on a study of comparable properties in the Edmonton market
by an independent appraiser. Rent paid was $0.096 million for the year ended December 31, 2010 (2009 ‐
$0.096 million).
The office in Virden, Manitoba leases premises in a building owned by five employees who are holders of
Altus LP Class B limited partnership units. The lease commenced on May 1, 2009 for a term of five years.
At inception of the lease, rent was set at rates deemed by the owners and Altus to reflect market for
comparable office space. Rent expense was $0.010 million for the year ended December 31, 2010 (2009 ‐
$0.007 million).
The office in Weyburn, Saskatchewan is a tenant in a building owned by two employees who are holders
of Altus LP Class B limited partnership units. Occupancy is on a month‐to‐month basis. Rent was deemed
by Altus management to reflect market for comparable office space. The office in Regina, Saskatchewan
was formerly a tenant in a building owned by two employees who are owners of Altus LP Class B limited
partnership units. This office was occupied until June 2009, at which time a separate building was leased
from a third party. Rent paid was $0.036 million for the year ended December 31, 2010 (2009 ‐ $0.054
million).
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Altus UK LLP leases premises in Dartford, Kent, from a trust, the beneficiaries of which are holders of
units of Altus UK LLP. The lease expires on January 31, 2011. Rent was deemed by Altus management to
reflect market for comparable office space. Rent paid was $0.070 million for the year ended December 31,
2010 (2009 ‐ $0.080 million).
Altus Hong Kong leases premises in Stanley, Island South, Hong Kong, from a company whose director
is an employee and holder of Fund Units. The lease commenced in November 2009 for a term of three
years. Rent was deemed by Altus management to reflect market for comparable space. Rent paid was
$0.254 million for the year ended December 31, 2010 (2009 ‐ $0.042 million).
The Fund has a consulting agreement with the principals of one of the original entities, Altus Québec,
pursuant to which the principals agreed to provide consulting services for a period of ten years in respect
of certain information technology developed by the principals and acquired by Altus on May 19, 2005. In
consideration for provision of the consulting services, the principals are entitled to a fee, payable to the
extent that earnings exceed certain thresholds. For the year ended December 31, 2010, $0.151 million has
been accrued (2009 – $Nil).
The Fund has a consulting agreement with a company which is the former owner of the business assets of
InSite to provide certain services to Altus related to the business of InSite for a period of six years. The
agreement provides that the company will be reimbursed, with no mark‐up, for all reasonable third party
costs incurred in connection with the provision of the services. In consideration for providing the
services, the company is entitled to a fee in years two through six of the agreement. The fee is payable
only to the extent that earnings exceed certain thresholds. No amount is payable in respect of the year
ended December 31, 2010 (2009 – $Nil).
During the year ended December 31, 2010, the Fund recorded expenses of $0.394 million (2009 ‐ $0.078
million), as per the Referral and Services Agreement between Altus Residential Limited and Real Matters.
Included in accounts payable and accrued liabilities is $0.153 million payable to Real Matters as at
December 31, 2010 (December 31, 2009 ‐ $0.048 million). Included in accounts receivable is $0.123 million
receivable from Real Matters as at December 31, 2010 (December 31, 2009 ‐ $0.075 million).
The Fund provides appraisal services to Real Matters, an entity in which the Fund has significant influence.
During the year ended December 31, 2010, the Fund had revenues of $0.041 million for appraisal services
provided to Real Matters (2009 ‐ $0.026 million).

Contingencies
The Fund is currently in a dispute with the vendors of the business of Capital Planning Solutions Inc.,
who are seeking an adjustment to the purchase price. In addition, there is a Statement of Claim from the
principal vendor for wrongful dismissal. In management’s opinion, both actions are without merit. No
amount has been accrued in the consolidated financial statements.
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Subsequent Events
Corporate Conversion
On December 8, 2010, unitholders and holders of the special voting units of the Fund approved the
reorganization of the Fund’s income trust structure into a corporation, pursuant to a plan of arrangement
under the Business Corporations Act (Ontario) (the “Arrangement”). The effective date of the Arrangement
was January 1, 2011. The reorganization was undertaken as a result of legislative changes to the tax
treatment of business income trusts.
Pursuant to the Arrangement, unitholders of the Fund and holders of Class B limited partnership units of
Altus LP exchanged their units for common shares of the newly formed, wholly owned subsidiary of the
Fund on a one‐for‐one basis. The new amalgamated corporation, Altus Group Limited, will continue to
operate the business of the Fund. Altus LP, Altus Operating Trust and the Fund were liquidated and
dissolved.
Altus Group Limited assumed the obligation of the Fund in respect of outstanding Fund Unit options.
Upon exercise of the outstanding Fund Unit options, holders will receive the number of common shares
equal to the number of Fund Units they would have been entitled to receive in accordance with the
Fund’s Unit Option Plan.
In connection with the Arrangement, Altus Group Limited assumed all of the obligations of the Fund
relating to the outstanding convertible debentures. The convertible debentures have become convertible
unsecured subordinated debentures of Altus Group Limited and holders are entitled to receive common
shares, rather than Fund Units, at the same conversion price at which the Units were previously issuable
upon conversion.
The Trustees of the Fund have become the Board of Directors of Altus Group Limited and the officers and
management of the Fund have become officers and management of Altus Group Limited.
It is anticipated that Altus Group Limited will adopt a quarterly dividend policy. While the Board of
Directors currently anticipates a quarterly dividend of $0.30 per common share payable on or about April
15, 2011 to shareholders of record on March 31, 2011, the Board of Directors will assess any dividend to be
declared in light of the corporation’s financial performance and its current and anticipated business needs
at that time.
Benefits of Conversion
The Board of Directors and management of Altus believe that the conversion to a corporation was in the
best interests of Altus and its stakeholders. It is expected that the conversion may provide the following
benefits:
 commencing in 2011, the tax savings to the Fund from distributions to unitholders will be
reduced as a consequence of the application of Specified Investment Flow‐Through Tax Rules to
the Fund, thereby diminishing the primary benefit of the income trust structure;
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it is anticipated that the reorganized structure of the Fund as a corporation may attract new
investors, including non‐resident investors, and provide, in the aggregate, a more active,
attractive and liquid market for the common shares than currently exists for the Units;
it is anticipated that the Funds’ financial and operational performance will be more easily valued
relative to other publicly held companies; and
the Board of Directors believe a corporate structure may enhance access to capital.

Amendment to Credit Facilities
As a result of the corporate conversion, amendments were required to the Credit Facilities. The amended
Credit Facilities are effective January 1, 2011 and have a revised maturity date of December 31, 2015. The
Revolving Operating Facility limit has increased from $12.5 million to $20.0 million. The Revolving Term
Facility limit has increased from $97.9 million to $110.0 million, with an accordion feature which allows
Altus Group Limited to increase the limit further to $150.0 million. Interest rates continue to be based on
the Canadian Dollar prime rate, bankers’ acceptance rates, US base rates or LIBOR rates plus, in each
case, an applicable margin to those rates. The margin ranges from 1.0% to 3.5% depending on the
calculation of the funded debt to EBITDA ratio and the facility used.
Under the amended Credit Facilities, certain subsidiaries of the Fund must account for a minimum of
80% of EBITDA at the end of each fiscal quarter, as compared to 85% of EBITDA previously. Further,
certain subsidiaries of the Fund must now also provide a minimum of 80% of total consolidated assets at
the end of each fiscal quarter.
The amended agreement also resulted in new and revised financial covenants. These have been
summarized below:
Funded debt to EBITDA ratio: maximum of 2.50:1
Minimum fixed charge coverage ratio: minimum of 1.25:1
Maximum funded debt to capitalization ratio: maximum of 0.5:1
The agreement provides for an election to have the funded debt to EBTIDA ratio maximum raised from
2.50:1 to 3.00:1 for the next two consecutive quarters after completing an approved acquisition funded
with debt.
Repayment of Revolving Operating Facility and Cancellation of $12.5 million Interest Rate Swap
On January 5, 2011, Altus Group Limited repaid $12.5 million on the Revolving Operating Facility and
cancelled its $12.5 million interest rate swap agreement, incurring a penalty of $0.1 million.
Convertible Note Receivable to Real Matters
On February 25, 2011, Altus Group Limited issued a convertible note receivable to Real Matters in the
amount of $1.0 million. The convertible note receivable has a maturity date of February 20, 2012 and bears
interest at 7% per annum, compounded annually, payable at maturity. During the period up to May 31,
2011, Altus Group Limited may, at its option, convert the receivable into shares using a conversion price
of $1.7848 per share.
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Non‐binding Letter of Intent
On March 7, 2011, Altus Group Limited entered into a non‐binding letter of intent to acquire 100% of the
shares of a third party. Altus Group Limited may be required to pay $3.0 million US Dollars in certain
circumstances if the acquisition is not completed. At this time, there can be no assurance that any
transaction will occur, or assurance as to the timing, structure or terms of any such transaction. The full
impact of the acquisition on future financial results cannot be determined at this time.

Critical Accounting Estimates
The preparation of the Fund’s consolidated financial statements requires management to make certain
estimates and assumptions. The estimates and assumptions are based on the Fund’s experience combined
with management’s understanding of current facts and circumstances. These estimates may differ from
actual results and certain estimates are considered critical as they are both important to reflect the Fund’s
financial position and results of operations and require significant or complex judgment on the part of
management. The following is a summary of certain accounting estimates or policies considered critical
by the management of the Fund:
Work‐in‐process
The Fund values its work‐in‐process based on the time and materials charged into each particular project.
The work‐in‐process for each project is reviewed on a monthly basis by the controller responsible for the
business unit and the consultant responsible for the project to determine whether the amount is a true
reflection of the amount that will be invoiced on the project. Where the review determines that the value
of work‐in‐process exceeds the amount that can be invoiced, adjustments are made to the work‐in‐
process. The valuation of the work‐in‐process involves estimates of the amount of work required to
complete the project. Errors in estimating work required to complete the projects could lead to the under
or overvaluation of work‐in‐process. Significant erosion in the general state of the economy could result
in increased provisions to work‐in‐process.
Provision for doubtful accounts
Estimates are used in determining the allowance for doubtful accounts related to trade receivables. The
estimates are based on management’s best assessment of the collectability of the related receivable
balance based, in part, on the age of the specific receivable balance. A provision is established when the
likelihood of collecting the account has significantly diminished. Future collections of receivables that
differ from management’s current estimates would affect the results of operations in future periods as
well as accounts receivable and other operating expenses. Significant erosion in the general state of the
economy could result in increased provisions for doubtful accounts.
Goodwill
Goodwill is not amortized and is subject to an annual impairment test. Goodwill impairment is evaluated
between annual tests upon the occurrence of certain events or circumstances. Goodwill impairment is
assessed based on a comparison of the reporting unit’s carrying amount to its fair value. When the
carrying amount of the reporting unit exceeds its fair value, the fair value of the reporting unit’s goodwill
is compared with its carrying amount to measure the amount of impairment loss, if any. Management
tested goodwill for impairment as at December 31, 2010 and determined that no impairment exists.
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Intangible assets
Intangible assets are assets acquired that lack physical substance and that meet the specified criteria for
recognition apart from goodwill. Intangible assets with a finite life, including databases, custom software
applications, employment contracts and non‐compete agreements, customer backlog, customer lists, and
computer application software are recorded at cost and are amortized over the period of expected future
benefit on the straight‐line method from two to five years or on the declining balance method. Intangible
assets with an indefinite life, which include the Altus Group brand, are recorded at cost. On an annual
basis, management reviews the carrying amount of intangible assets which have an indefinite life for
possible impairment by evaluating discounted cash flows. Intangible assets are written down to their
estimated fair value, as determined by discounted cash flows when a decline is identified. Significant
erosion in the general state of the economy could result in increased impairment losses.
Purchase price allocations and contingent consideration
Estimates are made in determining the fair value of assets and liabilities, including the valuation of
separately identifiable intangible assets acquired as part of an acquisition. Further, estimates are made in
determining whether contingent consideration payments should be recorded as part of the cost of
purchase on the date of acquisition or whether the amount should be recorded when the contingency is
resolved. Contingent consideration payments are generally based on acquired companies achieving
certain performance targets. The estimates are based on management’s best assessment of the related
inputs used in the valuation models, such as future cash flows and discount rates. Future performance
results that differ from management’s estimates could result in changes to goodwill. Significant erosion in
the general state of the economy could negatively impact future performance results of acquired
companies.

Changes in Accounting Policies Including Initial Adoption of New Accounting
Pronouncements
Goodwill and Intangible Assets
Effective January 1, 2009, the Fund adopted the Canadian Institute of Chartered Accountants (“CICA”)
Handbook Section 3064, Goodwill and Intangible Assets, which establishes standards for recognition,
measurement, presentation and disclosure of goodwill and intangible assets. As a result of adopting the
new standard retroactively, on January 1, 2009, the Fund has reclassified application software costs from
property, plant and equipment to intangible assets. There was no impact on the Fund’s consolidated net
earnings.
Financial Instruments – Recognition and Measurement
Effective for the annual financial statements ended December 31, 2009, the Fund adopted amendments
made to CICA Handbook Section 3855, Financial Instruments – Recognition and Measurement. Section
3855 has been amended to change the categories into which a debt instrument is required or permitted to
be classified, to change the impairment model for held‐to‐maturity financial assets to the incurred credit
loss model in Section 3025, Impaired Loans, and requires the reversal of previously recognized
impairment losses on available‐for‐sale financial assets in specified circumstances. The adoption of these
amendments had no significant impact on the consolidated financial statements.

42

Altus Group Income Fund
Management Discussion & Analysis
December 31, 2010
Financial Instruments − Disclosures
Effective for the annual financial statements ended December 31, 2009, the Fund adopted amendments
made to CICA Handbook Section 3862, Financial Instruments – Disclosures. Section 3862 has been
amended to include additional disclosure requirements about fair value measurement of financial
instruments and to enhance liquidity risk disclosure requirements for publicly accountable enterprises.
The adoption of these amendments resulted in additional disclosures in the notes to the consolidated
financial statements.
Credit Risk and the Fair Value of Financial Assets and Financial Liabilities
Effective January 1, 2009, the Fund adopted CICA Emerging Issues Committee (“EIC”)‐173, Credit Risk
and the Fair Value of Financial Assets and Financial Liabilities, which requires that an entity’s own credit
risk and the credit risk of the counterparty should be taken into account in determining the fair value of
financial assets and financial liabilities, including derivative instruments. EIC‐173 is to be applied
retrospectively without restatement of prior periods. The adoption of this recommendation had no
significant impact on the consolidated financial statements.
Recent accounting pronouncements issued and not yet effective:
International Financial Reporting Standards
In February 2008, the CICA confirmed that it will converge GAAP with International Financial Reporting
Standards (“IFRS”), as issued by the International Accounting Standards Board, effective January 1, 2011.
IFRS uses a conceptual framework similar to GAAP, but there are significant differences in recognition,
measurement and disclosures. For the Fund, the changeover to IFRS will be required for interim and
annual consolidated financial statements beginning on January 1, 2011. It will also require the restatement
for comparative purposes of amounts reported by the Fund for its interim and annual consolidated
financial statements in 2010.
In order to meet the requirement to transition to IFRS, the Fund has developed a changeover plan to
convert its consolidated financial statements to IFRS. The Fund has established a working and steering
committee to oversee the plan. Further, the Fund has established regular progress reporting to the Audit
Committee with respect to the status of the IFRS changeover plan.
The transition plan is comprised of four phases: an assessment phase; planning phase; implementation
and testing phase; and, closure phase. The assessment phase included in‐depth employee training,
identification of key differences between IFRS and GAAP, and an assessment of the impact of IFRS on
accounting policies, processes and systems. The planning phase included the identification, evaluation
and selection of accounting policies and the impact on other operational elements such as information
technology, internal controls over financial reporting, debt agreements and the respective debt covenants,
and other training requirements. This phase also assessed the exemptions and elections that are available
on transition under IFRS 1, First‐time Adoption of International Financial Reporting Standards. The
implementation and testing phase included preparing parallel consolidated financial statements in order
to obtain comparative information under IFRS. The closure phase will consist of ensuring that all interim
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and year end results for fiscal 2011 are compliant with existing IFRS at that time, and that all required
information is successfully published and reported.
The following is a summary of the status of the changeover plan:

Financial
statement
presentation

Financial
reporting
expertise,
training and
communication

Key Activity
 Identification of differences
between GAAP and IFRS that
are applicable to the Fund
 Evaluation and selection of
IFRS accounting policies
 Evaluation and selection of
elections under IFRS 1
 Preparation of IFRS opening
balance sheet and
quantification of effects of the
IFRS conversion
 Preparation of financial
statement templates,
including note disclosures,
under IFRS

Milestones
 Complete the identification of
key differences between
GAAP and IFRS by the end of
2008
 Evaluate accounting policy
alternatives and select
accounting policies under
IFRS during 2009
 Evaluate and select IFRS 1
elections applicable to the
Fund during 2009
 Quantify differences and
prepare opening balance
sheet during 2010
 Draft IFRS financial
statement template during
2010
 Gather comparative
information required under
IFRS during 2010

Status Update
 IFRS diagnostic completed
during 2008
 Evaluation and selection of
accounting policy alternatives
completed during 2009 but
continue to be assessed
 Evaluation and selection of
elections under IFRS 1
completed during 2009
 Quantification of differences
and preparation of opening
balance sheet is substantively
complete using the current
standards
 Drafting the preliminary IFRS
financial statement template
has been completed; the
review is ongoing
 Gathering of comparative
information commenced in
Q42010 and is ongoing

 Establishment of working
committee and steering
committee
 Provide adequate training to
the working and steering
committee members and to
the other affected employees
 Engagement of external
consultants
 Provide communication of
changeover plan and status
updates to internal and
external stakeholders

 In‐depth IFRS training course  Working and steering
to be provided to key affected
committees established in Q1
employees during 2008
2009
 Ongoing training to be
 In depth IFRS training course
provided throughout the
held in Q4 2008
conversion period as required  Ongoing training courses
 Communicate with steering
attended by key working
committee and Audit
committee members
Committee on a timely basis
throughout 2009 and 2010
regarding status of
and additional courses will
conversion plan and key
be attended as necessary
decisions being made
throughout 2011
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Key Activity
Financial
reporting
expertise,
training and
communication,
cont’d

Information
technology and
data systems







Business
activities







Milestones
 Update external stakeholders
on status of conversion plan
on a quarterly basis

Status Update
 Professional service firm
engaged to assist with IFRS
conversion project in 2008.
External consultants have
been involved in performing
a technical review of analysis
and conclusions reached in
2009 and have been involved
throughout 2010
 Meetings have been held
with the steering committee
on an ongoing basis based on
project outputs
 Audit Committee updates
have been provided on a
quarterly basis and during
other meetings, as required
 Communication of the IFRS
changeover plan and status
updates has been included in
the quarterly and annual
MDA and continued
throughout 2010
Identification of IFRS
 Complete identification of
 Identification of changes
differences that will require
changes required to the
required to the financial
changes to the financial
financial system as a result of
systems has been completed
system
IFRS differences by the end of
and was determined to be
Ensure systems and processes
2009
minimal
 Processes and procedures
are in place to capture
 Process to capture data and
required information under
required to address dual
address dual reporting was
IFRS
reporting in 2010 and
implemented in Q1 2010
Ensure process is in place to
appropriate data capture to
address the requirement for
be finalized by Q1 2010
dual record keeping in 2010
Identification of impact of
 Communication with the
 Complete required changes
differences under IFRS on
lender commenced in 2009
to debt agreements and bank
with respect to required
bank covenants,
covenants by Q4 2010
compensation plans and
changes to bank covenants
 Complete required changes
hedging activities
and continued in Q32010 and
to compensation plans by Q4
Identification of impact of
2010
Q42010. As part of the
differences under IFRS on the  Complete required changes
amendments made to the
2011 budgeting process
to the 2011 budget process by
credit facility agreement,
Make amendments to
the end of Q3 2010
effective January 1, 2011, the
contracts and/or plans as
bank covenants have been
renegotiated to reflect the
required
impact of the transition to
IFRS
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Key Activity

Milestones
 Evaluate whether the
interest rate swap qualifies
for hedge accounting under
IFRS as at January 1, 2010
and maintain required
documentation and testing
of hedge effectiveness
throughout 2010

 Assessment of required
changes to current internal
controls over financial
reporting due to changes in
accounting policies under
IFRS and with respect to
one‐time changeover
adjustments
 Revise internal controls to
address the requirement for
dual record keeping in 2010
 For any changes required to
internal controls, assessment
of the impact on DC&P
design and effectiveness

 Complete assessment of
required changes to internal
controls as a result of
adopting IFRS standards
and accounting policies by
Q2 2010
 Design and implement
control and process changes
during 2010
 Consider impact of changes
on certification of internal
control processes by CEO
and CFO

Business
activities,
cont’d

Internal control
over financial
reporting and
disclosure
controls and
procedures
(DC&P)

Status Update
 Impact on compensation
plans was assessed and the
impact was determined to be
minimal
 Impact on the 2011 budget
process was assessed in Q3
2010 and any changes have
been appropriately
incorporated
 Interest rate swap analysis
as at January 1, 2010 has
been completed.
Effectiveness testing was
performed throughout 2010
and will continue on a go
forward basis
 Consideration of changes to
internal controls and DC&P
commenced in 2009 and
continued in 2010
 Based on management’s
analysis, no significant
changes are expected as a
result of the transition to
IFRS

Throughout the planning phase, the Fund identified a number of key accounting areas where there are
differences between GAAP and IFRS that are likely to have an impact on the financial results. These have
been summarized below based on the standards currently issued and applicable to the Fund. The
estimated impact of conversion to IFRS as at the transition date, January 1, 2010, has been included,
where applicable, to provide additional information to investors and others. This is not a complete list of
differences between IFRS and GAAP and does not include all IFRS standards that may require changes
for the transition to IFRS. Further, several IFRS standards are in the process of being amended by the
International Accounting Standards Board (“IASB”) and amendments are expected to continue until
December 31, 2011, the date of the Fund’s first audited annual consolidated financial statements prepared
in accordance with IFRS. These amendments may also have an impact on future financial results.
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IFRS 3: Business Combinations
Both IFRS and GAAP follow the acquisition method of accounting for all business combinations,
however, significant differences exist between the two frameworks in other areas. The most significant
differences as they relate to the Fund are as follows:
(i)
Under IFRS transaction costs (including legal fees, tax advisor fees and third party intangibles
valuation fees) are expensed immediately whereas under GAAP, such amounts are included as
part of the purchase price. This will reduce net earnings and EBITDA in the year of acquisition
and result in lower goodwill values.
(ii)
Contingent consideration under IFRS is recognized at fair value on the date of acquisition, with
subsequent changes generally recognized in net earnings. Under GAAP, contingent consideration
can be recognized initially as part of the purchase price to the extent such amounts can be
reasonably estimated beyond a reasonable doubt. If not, the contingent consideration is recorded
when the contingency is resolved and the consideration is issued or becomes issuable. Any
subsequent changes are recorded as an adjustment to goodwill. This will increase volatility in the
income statement throughout the period of the contingency, especially when the outcome of the
contingency is significantly different from what was originally anticipated and recorded.
(iii)
The fair value of securities issued is determined on the date of acquisition under IFRS, unlike
GAAP, which requires the securities to be fair valued using an average of the trading price over
certain days close to the date of acquisition.
(iv)
IFRS requires the purchaser to measure any non‐controlling interest in the acquiree at either fair
value or at the non‐controlling interest’s proportionate share of the fair value of the acquiree’s
identifiable net assets, whereas GAAP requires non‐controlling interest to be measured at the
historical carrying value of the acquiree’s identifiable net assets.
Transition impact: While there is no expected impact on transition, it is expected that there will be an
impact relating to acquisitions in the 2010 comparative year and on a go forward basis.
IAS 36: Impairment of Assets
Under IFRS, an entity is required to recognize an impairment charge if the recoverable amount,
determined as the higher of the estimated fair value less costs to sell or value‐in‐use, is less than its
carrying value. Value‐in‐use is the discounted present value of estimated future cash flows. Under
GAAP, impairment is recognized based on estimated fair value when the undiscounted future cash flows
from an asset, or group of assets, is less than the carrying value.
Under IFRS, all assets, including goodwill, are allocated to Cash Generating Units (“CGU”) for
impairment testing purposes. A CGU is the smallest group of assets that generate cash flows
independently from each other. Testing for impairment at the CGU level under IFRS is at a more granular
level of testing than under GAAP. As a result, impairment losses under IFRS may be recognized earlier,
or may be recorded when they may not have been recognized at all under existing GAAP.
IFRS also requires the reversal of an impairment loss (for all assets other than goodwill) when the
recoverable amount is higher than the carrying value, but by no more than what the depreciated amount
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of the asset would have been had the impairment not occurred, whereas GAAP does not permit such
reversals.
Transition impact: As a result of the impairment testing being performed at the CGU level, there is an
expected goodwill impairment charge of $2.0 million, with the offset to opening deficit.
IAS 32: Financial Instruments: Presentation
Under IFRS, a financial instrument which gives the holder the right to put the instrument back to the
issuer for cash should be classified as a financial liability, unless certain criteria are met to allow for
classification as equity. Given that the Fund Units are redeemable at the option of the holder and that
there is a mandatory requirement to distribute taxable income under the Declaration of Trust, the Fund
may be required to present its equity as a liability under IFRS. Based on the analysis performed, it was
determined that the Fund Units and Altus LP Series 1 Class B limited partnership units can be classified
as equity as they met certain exception requirements under the IFRS standard. This exception, however,
only applies to the presentation of the units, but that in all other respects of IFRS, these units are
considered liabilities.
The Altus UK LLP Class B and D limited liability partnership units and the Altus LP Series 2 Class B
limited partnership units did not meet the exception requirements and thus are treated as liabilities under
IFRS, which are re‐measured at fair value at each reporting date. Under GAAP, these units were recorded
as non‐controlling interest.
Transition impact: No expected impact for Fund Units and Altus LP Series 1 Class B limited partnership
units. This will, however, impact the Deferred Performance Plan and Unit Option Plan, discussed further
below. With respect to the Altus UK LLP Class B and D limited liability partnership units and the Altus
LP Series 2 Class B limited partnership units, the fair value of these units as at January 1, 2010 was $34.7
million, which is expected to result in an adjustment of $11.5 million to opening deficit.
IAS 39: Financial Instruments: Recognition and Measurement
Unlike GAAP, IFRS does not allow general reserves on financial assets.
Under IFRS, there are more specific rules relating to hedge accounting that could lead to a different
conclusion, however, the cash flow hedge that exists on transition has been assessed and is considered to
still qualify for hedge accounting.
IAS 39 is currently being replaced by the IASB in its entirety. IFRS 9, Financial Instruments, was issued by
IASB in November 2009 replacing certain relevant portions of IAS 39. The Fund will continue to monitor
the status of changes to this standard and the impact to the Fund.
Transition impact: No expected impact.
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IAS 19: Employee Benefits
The Fund has concluded that the Fund Units and Altus LP Series 1 Class B limited partnership units can
be classified as equity as they meet certain exception rules, but that this exception applies only to the
presentation of units. In all other respects, these units are considered liabilities. As a result, the Deferred
Performance Plan and Unit Option Plan, where employees are remunerated in units, are required to be
treated as long term incentive plans accounted for using this standard. Therefore, existing obligations to
deliver units are now recorded as liabilities and are required to be recorded over the service period to
which the award relates. In addition, any changes in the value of the awards due to changes in unit price
are recognized immediately as a compensation expense.
Transition impact: At January 1, 2010, the value of the liability to be accrued for obligations relating to the
Deferred Performance Plan is estimated to be $1.7 million, with a corresponding adjustment of $2.3
million to contributed surplus and a $0.6 million credit to opening deficit. At January 1, 2010, the value of
the liability to be accrued for obligations relating to the Unit Option Plan is estimated to be $1.1 million,
with a corresponding adjustment of $0.3 million to contributed surplus and $0.8 million to opening
deficit.
IAS 12: Income Taxes
IAS 12 is largely similar to the Canadian standard, however, IFRS requires that deferred tax be
determined using the highest tax rate applicable on undistributed profits, on the appropriate timing
differences. This will apply to certain subsidiaries of the Fund that are limited partnerships.
Other impacts to the Fund will also depend on other material adjustments made upon transition to IFRS
which will likely have a corresponding effect on income tax balances.
Transition impact: The overall expected net impact on transition is expected to be a decrease in deferred
tax assets of $0.21 million, an increase in future tax liabilities of $0.08 million, a credit of $0.27 million to
other comprehensive income and a corresponding offset to opening deficit of $0.14 million.
IAS 16: Property, Plant and Equipment
Under IFRS, there is an option to choose either the cost method or the revaluation method to measure
property, plant and equipment, whereas GAAP follows the cost method only. The Fund has elected to
continue using the cost method for all asset classes.
Transition impact: No expected impact.
IAS 17: Leases
While the criteria for determining whether a lease is considered to be a finance (capital) or operating lease
is similar under both standards, IFRS does not provide numerical thresholds. This IFRS standard is not
expected to have any significant impact on the Fund’s leases in its current form. An exposure draft has
been issued by IASB which proposes significant change. However, this change is not expected to impact
the Fund in the year of transition. The Fund will continue to monitor the status of changes to this
standard and the impact to the Fund.
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Transition impact: No expected impact.
IAS 18: Revenue
Current revenue recognition guidance under IFRS follows the same principles as GAAP, and thus there is
minimal impact expected on transition. An exposure draft has been issued by IASB which proposes
significant change. However, this change is not expected to impact the Fund in the year of transition. The
Fund will continue to monitor the status of changes to this standard and the impact to the Fund.
Transition impact: No expected impact.
IAS 27: Consolidated and Separate Financial Statements
IAS 27 is largely similar to the Canadian standard, as it applies to the Fund, except for the following
significant differences: unlike GAAP, IFRS requires that non‐controlling interest (“NCI”) be classified as a
separate component of equity on the balance sheet; under IFRS, in addition to attributing net earnings to
NCI, total comprehensive income also needs to be attributed to NCI. Total comprehensive income is not
attributed to NCI under GAAP. Further, an exposure draft was issued by IASB in December 2008 which
defines the “control” relationship differently from the current IFRS standard. The changes are expected to
be finalized in 2011. The Fund will continue to monitor the status of changes to this standard and the
impact to the Fund.
Transition impact: The Fund has performed an analysis and concluded that the Altus Group Income
Fund Employee Benefit Plan Trust (“Altus EBT”) is a special purpose entity under IFRS and should be
consolidated. The Altus EBT hold units for the purposes of the Deferred Performance Plan, and thus on
consolidation, these units are shown as treasury units. As at the transition date, it is expected that cash
and cash equivalents and distributions payable will increase by $0.05 million. Further, it is expected that
the units held by the Altus EBT, amounting to $0.65 million, will be adjusted with an offset to contributed
surplus.
IAS 28: Investments in Associates
Under GAAP and IFRS, the equity method is used where significant influence exists and the accounting
is substantially the same under both standards. However, some of the key differences include the fact that
IFRS explicitly requires that the equity pick‐up of the associate be determined using consistent accounting
policies as the investor. The Fund needs to ensure that the financial results of Real Matters are reconciled
to an IFRS basis for its equity pick‐up calculation.
Transition impact: No expected impact.
IAS 37: Provisions, Contingent Liabilities and Contingent Assets
Under GAAP, provisions and contingent liabilities are recorded if they are “more likely than not” to
occur, compared to IFRS, which follows a “probable” criterion. For the Fund, some provisions and
contingent liabilities may be recorded earlier, or recorded when they may not have been recorded at all
under existing GAAP.

50

Altus Group Income Fund
Management Discussion & Analysis
December 31, 2010
Transition impact: It is expected that an adjustment of $0.23 million in provisions will be recorded related
to an onerous lease, with a corresponding adjustment to opening deficit.
IAS 1: Presentation of Financial Statements
IFRS requires significantly more disclosure than existing GAAP. In addition, classification and
presentation may be different for some balance sheet and income statement items. The Fund is analyzing
the overall impact of the classification and presentation changes on its financial statements.
In addition to differences in accounting policies discussed above, IFRS generally requires enhanced
disclosure as compared to GAAP.
IFRS 1: First‐time Adoption of International Financial Reporting Standards
The adoption of IFRS requires the application of IFRS 1, which provides guidance for an entity’s initial
adoption. IFRS generally requires an entity to apply all standards on a retrospective basis, however, IFRS
1 provides both mandatory exceptions and optional exemptions from this general requirement. First time
adoption exemptions that are relevant to the Fund are discussed below:
Business Combinations
An entity may keep original GAAP treatment for all acquisitions that occurred prior to the
transition date or may go back to a point in time and apply IFRS to all acquisitions from that date.
The Fund will elect to apply this exemption and will not restate any business combinations prior
to January 1, 2010.
Transition impact: While there is no expected impact on transition, it is expected that there will
be an impact relating to acquisitions in the 2010 comparative year and on a go forward basis.
Cumulative Translation Differences (included in Other Comprehensive Income)
An entity may elect to deem the cumulative translation differences for all foreign operations to be
$Nil at the transition date. This will result in the exclusion of translation differences that arose
prior to the transition date from gains or losses on a subsequent disposal of a foreign operation.
The Fund will elect to apply this exemption.
Transition impact: It is expected that $8.6 million will be adjusted to reset cumulative translation
differences to $Nil, with a corresponding adjustment to opening deficit.
First time adoption exceptions that are relevant to the Fund are discussed below:
Hedge accounting – hedge accounting under IFRS cannot be retrospectively applied, therefore,
the Fund must ensure that all hedging tests are done as at January 1, 2010.
Estimates – an entity cannot change estimates made in previous financial statements, however, if
new estimates are required at transition, the Fund will use the facts available at that date.
Non‐controlling interest – total comprehensive income needs to be allocated to NCI on a pro‐rata
basis.
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At this time and due to anticipated changes in IFRS standards, the Fund is unable to make a final
determination of the full impact of the change to IFRS on the Fund’s consolidated financial statements.
However, the Fund anticipates that there will be changes in accounting policies and that these changes
may materially impact the consolidated financial statements. The above discussion detailed the Fund’s
preliminary quantitative impact on its January 1, 2010 opening balance for the transition to IFRS based on
current information.
As a result of the adoption of IFRS, future accounting changes relating to GAAP are not applicable as
they will never be applied by the Fund.

Key Factors Affecting the Business
The risks and uncertainties that could significantly affect the Fund’s financial condition and future results
of operations are summarized below:
General state of the economy
The businesses operated by the Fund are affected by general economic conditions, including
international, national, regional and local economic conditions, all of which are outside of the Fundʹs
control. Economic slowdowns or downturns, adverse economic conditions, cyclical trends, increases in
interest rates, variations in currency exchange rates, reduced client spending and other factors could have
a material adverse effect on the Fundʹs business, financial condition and results of operations. Although
the Fundʹs operations are functionally and geographically diversified, significant erosion in levels of
activity in any segment that the Fund services could have a negative impact on the Fundʹs business,
financial condition and results of operations.
Dependence on oil and gas sector
The land survey practice of Geomatics operates primarily in the oil and gas industry in Alberta. The risks
to the outlook for the land survey practice in Alberta arise from world markets for oil and gas.
Historically, the prices for oil and gas have been volatile and subject to wide fluctuations in response to
changes in the supply of and demand for oil and gas, market uncertainty and a variety of additional
factors beyond the Fund’s control. The Fund cannot predict future oil and gas price movements. If oil and
gas prices decline significantly, there could be a material adverse effect on the Fund’s business, financial
condition, liquidity and operating results.
Competition in the industry
The Fund faces competition from other service providers in each of the main services it offers.
Competition includes a broad mix of competitors, ranging from smaller, locally based professional
service firms and national, multi‐regional professional service providers, to large engineering and
accounting firms. These competitive forces could result in a material adverse effect on the Fundʹs
business, financial condition and results of operations by reducing the Fund’s relative share in the
markets it serves.
The Fund believes that it offers the most comprehensive range of services, has the broadest geographic
reach and employs the deepest pool of “local” expertise within each of its major markets. Management

52

Altus Group Income Fund
Management Discussion & Analysis
December 31, 2010
further believes that any attempt to duplicate the Altus “platform” would be difficult and very expensive
for any competitor.
Ability to attract and retain professionals
The Fundʹs success and ability to grow are dependent on the expertise, experience and efforts of its
professionals. Competition for employees with the qualifications desired by the Fund is intense, which
puts upward pressure on compensation costs. The Fund expects that competition for qualified
professionals will continue to increase, thereby causing compensation costs to escalate. Should the Fund
be unable to attract and retain professionals that meet the desired level of skills and ability, its business
may be jeopardized.
Interest rate risk
The Fund is exposed to fluctuations in interest rates under its borrowings. Increases in interest rates may
have an adverse effect on the earnings of the Fund and, in turn, the distributable cash of the Fund.
Currency Risk
The Fund’s reporting currency is the Canadian Dollar.
The Fund has operations in Canada, UK, US, Australia and in various countries throughout Asia. The
Fund’s exposure to foreign currency risk is primarily in the following areas:
 Net earnings (loss) generated by operations in foreign countries, which are translated into
Canadian Dollars using the average exchange rate;
 Net assets of self‐sustaining foreign subsidiaries, which are translated into Canadian Dollars
using the period end exchange rate with any gains or losses recorded under Accumulated Other
Comprehensive Income (Loss) within Unitholders’ equity;
 Monetary assets and liabilities of integrated foreign subsidiaries, which are translated into
Canadian Dollars using the period end exchange rate with any gains or losses recorded in the
statement of earnings (loss);
 Non‐Canadian Dollar denominated monetary assets and liabilities, which are translated into
Canadian Dollars using the period end exchange rate with any gains or losses recorded in the
statement of earnings (loss).
The exchange rate between the Canadian Dollar and the British Pound ranged from $1.6708 at December
31, 2009 to $1.5469 at December 31, 2010. The exchange rate between the Canadian Dollar and the US
Dollar ranged from $1.0491 at December 31, 2009 to $0.9980 at December 31, 2010. The exchange rate
between the Canadian Dollar and the Australian Dollar ranged from $0.9368 at December 31, 2009 to
$1.0163 at December 31, 2010. The exchange rate between the Canadian Dollar and the Hong Kong Dollar
ranged from $0.1353 at December 31, 2009 to $0.1283 at December 31, 2010. The exchange rate between
the Canadian Dollar and the United Arab Emirates Dirham ranged from $0.2856 at December 31, 2009 to
$0.2717 at December 31, 2010.
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Credit risk
The Fund may be materially and adversely affected if the collectability of its accounts receivable is
impaired for any reason. The Fund monitors the collectability of its accounts receivable on an ongoing
basis.
Ability to maintain profitability and manage growth
The Fund’s ability to achieve revenue growth and sustain profitability in future periods depends on its
ability to execute its strategic plan and effectively manage its growth. A failure to do so could have a
material adverse effect on the Fundʹs business, financial condition and results of operations.
Revenue and cash flow volatility
Revenues, cash flow, operating results and profitability of the Fund may experience fluctuations from
quarter to quarter, based on project terms and conditions for billing and rendering of services.
Dependence on Canadian multi‐residential market
Approximately 40% of the Canadian cost consulting and project management practice areaʹs annual
revenues are derived from the rental apartment and condominium sectors of the multi‐residential
development market. Any significant decline in the multi‐unit residential development market could
have a material adverse effect on the Fund’s business, financial condition, liquidity and operating results.
However, Altus believes the risk is mitigated because in Canada’s major cities, high rise residential sales
account for approximately 50% of new residential sales, which underscores the increasing market
acceptance of these buildings and Canada Cost’s decision to specialize in this area.
Integration of acquisitions
The Fund intends to make acquisitions from time to time as part of its strategy to grow its business.
Acquisitions may increase the size of the operations, as well as increase the amount of indebtedness that
may have to be serviced by the Fund. There is no assurance that the Fund will be able to acquire
operations on satisfactory terms. The successful integration and management of acquired businesses
involve numerous risks and there is no assurance that the Fund will be able to successfully integrate its
acquisitions. Such failure could adversely affect its business, financial condition and results of operations.
Protection of intellectual property
The Fund continually develops and improves its databases and branding, which have been important
factors in maintaining its competitive position. Despite the Fundʹs efforts to protect its proprietary rights,
unauthorized parties may attempt to obtain and use information that the Fund regards as proprietary.
There can be no assurance that the Fund will be successful in protecting its proprietary rights and, if it is
not, its business, financial condition, liquidity and results of operations could be materially adversely
affected.
Weather
The level of activity in the oilfield services industry and natural resources industry are influenced by
seasonal weather patterns and natural or other disasters, such as floods and forest fires. Spring break‐up
during the second quarter leaves many secondary roads temporarily incapable of supporting the weight
of field equipment, which results in severe restrictions in the provision of field work for Geomatics’
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survey services and land‐use consulting. The timing and duration of spring break‐up are dependent on
regional weather patterns but generally occur in April and May.
The demand for survey services and forestry and land‐use services may also be affected by the severity of
the Canadian winters and excessively rainy periods, thereby adversely affecting operations. The
uncertainty of weather and temperature can therefore create unpredictability in activity and utilization
rates.
Fixed‐price and contingency engagements
A portion of the Fundʹs revenues comes from fixed‐price engagements. A fixed‐price engagement
requires the Fund to either perform all or a specified part of work under the engagement for a specified
lump sum payment. Fixed‐price engagements expose the Fund to a number of risks not inherent in cost‐
plus engagements, including underestimation of costs, ambiguities in specifications, unforeseen or
changed costs or difficulties, problems with new technologies, delays beyond the control of the Fund,
failures of subcontractors to perform and economic or other changes that may occur during the term of
engagement. Increasing reliance on fixed‐price engagements and/or increasing size of such engagements
would increase the exposure to this risk. Economic loss under fixed‐price engagements could have a
material adverse effect on the Fundʹs business.
The Fund is also engaged to provide services on a contingency basis, meaning that it receives its fees only
if certain results are achieved. The Fund may experience adverse financial effects from having devoted
certain professional and other resources to a project, which, due to a failure to meet the contingency
goals, are not recouped through fees.
Performance of obligations / maintenance of client satisfaction
The Fundʹs success depends largely on its ability to fulfill obligations and ensure client satisfaction. If the
Fund fails to satisfactorily perform its obligations, address performance issues or makes professional
errors in the services that it provides, clients could terminate projects, thereby exposing the Fund to legal
liability, loss of professional reputation, enhanced risk of loss or reduced profits.
Appraisal mandates
Some clients rotate their appraisal mandates every one to three years. As a result, Altus may be rotated
out of an appraisal engagement.
Customer concentration
Geomatics’ revenue is derived from multiple contracts for a few clients. For the year ended December 31,
2010, approximately 29% of Geomatics’ revenues are derived from five clients.
Restrictions on potential growth
The payout by the Fund of substantially all of its operating cash flow will make additional capital and
operating expenditures dependent on increased cash flow or additional financing in the future. Lack of
those funds could limit the future growth of the Fund and its cash flow.
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Operating risks
The Fundʹs professionals are sometimes required to attend at worksites of its clients, including
construction worksites in the case of the cost consulting and development cost management practice area.
The activities at these worksites may involve certain operating hazards that can result in personal injury
and loss of life. There can be no assurance that the Fundʹs insurance will be sufficient or effective under
all circumstances or against all claims or hazards to which it may be subject or that it will be able to
continue to obtain adequate insurance protection. A successful claim or damage resulting from a hazard
for which it is not fully insured could adversely affect the Fundʹs results of operations.
Risk of future legal proceedings
The Fund is threatened from time to time with, or is named as a defendant in, or may become subject to
various legal proceedings in the ordinary course of conducting its business, including lawsuits based
upon professional errors and omissions. A significant judgment against the Fund, or the imposition of a
significant fine or penalty as a result of a finding that the Fund has failed to comply with laws,
regulations, contractual or other arrangements or professional standards, could have a significant adverse
impact on the Fundʹs financial performance. In addition, through its cost consulting and development
cost management practice area, the Fund frequently acts as receiver/manager of financially troubled
developments, which are frequently the subject of lawsuits. Should any of the indemnities made in favor
of the Fund in respect of these assignments fail to be respected or enforced, the Fund may suffer material
adverse financial effects.
Legislative and regulatory changes
Changes to any of the laws, rules, regulations or policies affecting the business of the Fund would have
an impact on the Fundʹs business. Certain elements of the Fundʹs business are influenced by the
regulatory environment of its clients, such as the requirement for pension fund managers to obtain
property valuations on an annual basis. In addition, elements of the Fundʹs business, such as its realty tax
management practice, are significantly influenced by the regulatory regime and any changes thereto. Any
change to laws, rules, regulations or policies may significantly and adversely affect the operations and
financial performance of the Fund.
Insurance limits
Management believes that the Fundʹs professional errors and omissions insurance and trustee, director
and officer liability insurance coverage addresses all material insurable risks, provides coverage that is
similar to that which would be maintained by a prudent operator of a similar business and is subject to
deductibles, limits and exclusions, which are customary or reasonable given the cost of procuring
insurance and current operating conditions. However, there can be no assurance that such insurance will
continue to be offered on an economically affordable basis, that all events that could give rise to a loss or
liability are insurable, or that the amounts of insurance will at all times be sufficient to cover each and
every loss or claim that may occur involving the assets or operations of the Fund.
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Overview of Economic Environment
The International Monetary Fund (“IMF”) recently reported that the world economy expanded by an
estimated 5.0% in 2010. Emerging and developing countries experienced 7.1% growth whereas advanced
countries saw approximately 3.0% growth. Overall, the pattern of growth through 2010 reflected peak
activity in the first quarter of 2010 and progressive moderation thereafter. In 2011, rising food prices,
sovereign debt concerns and a transition from stimulus policies to fiscal constraint in many domestic
economies will continue to challenge world growth.
The Canadian economy advanced approximately 2.9% in 2010, which in real terms surpassed the peak
prior to the recession. The economy produced about 230,000 new jobs in 2010. Although Canada’s labour
market has been recently performing at a higher rate, the unemployment rate remains elevated and slack
remains in the economy.
Canada’s commercial real estate sector recovered from 2008/2009 recession levels. Transaction activity
was strong in 2010 and investment capital has been accumulating. According to the REALpac/IPD
Canada Property Index, total returns on commercial real estate exceeded 11% in 2010, a substantial return
compared to the modest decline in 2009.
Investment in new housing and renovations surged in late 2009 and spring of 2010 as a result of
anticipated unfavourable interest rate policy and tax measures. Sales and housing starts fell sharply
subsequently in the summer and fall of 2010. Stronger housing affordability and improved consumer
confidence is anticipated to bring markets back into balance in early 2011.
Government spending on infrastructure related to “stimulus” programs announced in 2009 continued to
provide support to non‐residential construction activity throughout 2010, but is scheduled to wind down
in the first half of 2011.
After three years with a negative contribution to growth, the oil and gas sector advanced at an estimated
rate of 6% on an annualized basis in the fourth quarter of 2010. Unrest in the Middle East and North
Africa has created considerable speculative demand for oil, pushing prices well into the $100 bbl
territory, and is fuelling additional investments in Canada’s energy sector. According to Statistics
Canada, capital construction investment intentions by the oil and gas sector are up 13% for 2011
following a similar rise in 2010.
In the US, GDP advanced 2.8% in 2010. Despite modest growth, the unemployment rate remained at
elevated levels and the housing market remained weak due to high inventory levels. Commercial real
estate markets improved in 2010 as transactions rose in the year. Commercial mortgaged backed
securities lending is reportedly on the rise, adding liquidity to the market. The US economy remains
vulnerable to higher oil prices which represent elevated risk to sustained growth in 2011.
In Asia Pacific, the economic recovery continued. The Chinese economy expanded at an estimated rate of
approximately 10% in the second half of 2010, with growth continuing to rely heavily on domestic
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demand. Chinese authorities have introduced several recent measures to dampen housing demand,
including both higher interest rates and tighter administrative measures. GDP estimates show that other
countries in the region also had significant growth including Indonesia, Vietnam and South Korea, all
with growth in excess of 6% in 2010. Capital Economics estimates that the economy of Singapore
outpaced the growth in all other countries in Asia with a pace of approximately 14%. Taiwan and
Thailand also both accelerated in 2010. Improving conditions in the region are in large part linked to
stronger international trade. Activity in the Australian economy grew over the second half of 2010,
according to the Australian Reserve Bank. Strong demand for Australian commodities underpinned
growth in national income alongside an elevated level of business investment. Heavy flooding in early
2011 is expected to have a negative impact on economic performance in the months ahead.
The performance of the South Asia economy was steady in 2010. India’s economy advanced an estimated
9.2% in 2010. Its challenge ahead continues to be controlling inflation which, although dropping from
15% a year ago, is reported to be advancing at a pace of approximately 10%.
Recent economic activity in the Middle East and Gulf region is recovering slowly. Saudi Arabia’s private
sector economy continues to suffer from the effects of the global slowdown and credit shortages.
Aggressive public sector spending plans in health and education in 2011 may provide an uplift.
Elsewhere, the UAE is starting to show signs of improvement with government spending, tourism and
trade set to lift the economy. The real estate sector, however, remains depressed and credit conditions
remained tight at the end of 2010.
The UK had one of the weaker economic performances among advanced economies in 2010, growing at
an estimated 1.7% in the year. Further government spending cutbacks will likely continue to be a drag on
the economy. The housing market showed mixed performance. The Nationwide House Price Index
dipped into negative territory through the fourth quarter, and showed virtually flat prices for the year as
a whole. The commercial property market continues to emerge from the recession. The latest RICS
commercial market survey shows tenant demand rising in the fourth quarter for retail and stable for
office and industrial properties, but it also indicated that capital values fell in the fourth quarter for the
third consecutive quarter. Investment demand in commercial real estate was reported to be neutral.

Outlook
Altus is well positioned to benefit from continued global recovery in 2011.
Following a strong performance in 2010, the Tax practice in North America is expected to remain vibrant
in 2011. The Brazos acquisition provided Altus with a base on which to grow the business in the US both
organically and through acquisitions. In the UK, the ramp‐up of the 2010 re‐valuation program has been
slower than anticipated due to completions of 2005 appeals and a slower pace in decision turnarounds
from Inland Revenue. In 2011, it is expected that UK revenues will rebound by the second half of the
year.
In 2011, RVA will benefit from a full year of the PwC Appraisal Management Practice acquisition. This
acquisition has surpassed expectations and continues to exceed performance targets as new clients sign
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on. In addition, the Databridge product, a BI software and data tool purchased with the PwC Appraisal
Management Practice acquisition, has been gaining traction in both the US and Canada.
The Cost practice is only now beginning to benefit from the economic rebound as its performance tends
to lag economic cycles. 2011 should see stronger revenue performance as new assignments increase in
both Canada and the US. Altus Capital Planning is expected to outperform its 2010 results due to
significant new contract awards, such as the recently signed contract with the Ontario Board of
Education.
Altus Asia Pacific is expected to see improved results in 2011 resulting from both top line growth and
expense reduction programs. China and India continue to provide attractive growth opportunities.
With supply concerns having crept back into the marketplace, oil has recently seen prices above the $100
a barrel mark. This bodes very well for Geomatics as drilling activity continues to increase in western
Canada and the demand for its services continue to grow.
Altus continues to seek new growth opportunities by leveraging its resources and assets and by making
strategic acquisitions. Altus has a very rich base of data resources that is derived from its core research
and consulting services. In addition, strategic investments in technology are providing Altus with a
distinct competitive advantage. Altus’ technology products such as Databridge, Capital Planning, Insight,
and AVM are examples of a growing trend in the market and exhibit the importance of data, technology
and analytic solutions that help businesses manage assets, enhance value and make strategic decisions.
Data, technology and analytics will be key drivers for future growth and a key differentiator in the
marketplace. Altus is focused and determined to be the industry leader.

Additional Information
Additional information by the Fund, including its Annual Information Form is available on SEDAR at
www.sedar.com.
The common shares of Altus Group Limited trade on the Toronto Stock Exchange under the symbol AIF
and the convertible debentures trade under the symbol AIF.DB.
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Management’s Responsibility for Financial Reporting
The accompanying consolidated financial statements of Altus Group Income Fund are the responsibility
of management and have been reviewed by the Board of Directors of Altus Group Limited. The
consolidated financial statements have been prepared by management in accordance with Canadian
generally accepted accounting principles and, where appropriate, reflect management’s best estimates
and judgments. Management has also prepared financial and all other information in the Annual Report
and has ensured that this information is consistent with the consolidated financial statements.
The Fund maintains appropriate systems of internal control, policies and procedures, which provide
management with reasonable assurance that assets are safeguarded and the financial records are reliable
and form a proper basis for preparation of financial statements.
The Board of Directors of Altus Group Limited ensure that management fulfills its responsibilities for
financial reporting and internal control through an Audit Committee. This committee reviews the
consolidated financial statements and reports to the Board of Directors. The committee meets with the
auditors to discuss the results of the audit, the adequacy of internal accounting controls and financial
reporting matters.
The consolidated financial statements have been independently audited by RSM Richter LLP in
accordance with Canadian generally accepted auditing standards. Their report which follows expresses
their opinion on the consolidated financial statements of the Fund.

“Gary Yeoman”

“Angelo Bartolini”

Gary Yeoman
Chief Executive Officer
March 23, 2011

Angelo Bartolini
Chief Financial Officer
March 23, 2011
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Independent Auditor’s Report
To the Shareholders of
Altus Group Limited
Report on the Consolidated Financial Statements
We have audited the accompanying consolidated financial statements of Altus Group Income Fund
which comprise the consolidated balance sheets as at December 31, 2010 and December 31, 2009 and the
consolidated statements of earnings (loss) and comprehensive income (loss), deficit, accumulated other
comprehensive income (loss) and statements of cash flows for the years then ended, and a summary of
significant accounting policies and other explanatory information.
Managementʹs Responsibility for the Consolidated Financial Statements
Management is responsible for the preparation and fair presentation of these consolidated financial
statements in accordance with Canadian generally accepted accounting principles and for such internal
control as management determines is necessary to enable the preparation of financial statements that are
free from material misstatement, whether due to fraud or error.
Auditorʹs Responsibility
Our responsibility is to express an opinion on these consolidated financial statements based on our
audits. We conducted our audits in accordance with Canadian generally accepted auditing standards.
Those standards require that we comply with ethical requirements and plan and perform the audits to
obtain reasonable assurance about whether the consolidated financial statements are free from material
misstatement.
An audit involves performing procedures to obtain audit evidence about the amounts and disclosures in
the consolidated financial statements. The procedures selected depend on the auditorʹs judgment,
including the assessment of the risks of material misstatement of the consolidated financial statements,
whether due to fraud or error. In making those risk assessments, the auditor considers internal control
relevant to the entityʹs preparation and fair presentation of the financial statements in order to design
audit procedures that are appropriate in the circumstances, but not for the purpose of expressing an
opinion on the effectiveness of the entityʹs internal control. An audit also includes evaluating the
appropriateness of accounting policies used and the reasonableness of accounting estimates made by
management, as well as evaluating the overall presentation of the consolidated financial statements.
We believe that the audit evidence we have obtained in our audits is sufficient and appropriate to
provide a basis for our audit opinions.
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Opinion
In our opinion, the consolidated financial statements present fairly, in all material respects, the financial
position of Altus Group Income Fund as at December 31, 2010 and December 31, 2009 and the results of
its operations and its cash flows for the years then ended in accordance with Canadian generally accepted
accounting principles.

“RSM RICHTER LLP”

Chartered Accountants
Licensed Public Accountants
Toronto, Ontario
March 23, 2011
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December 31, 2010
Assets
Current Assets
Cash and cash equivalents (note 6)
Accounts receivable
Work‐in‐process
Prepaid expenses and sundry assets (note 7)
Income taxes recoverable
Future income tax assets (note 18)
Long‐term Portion of Prepaid Expenses and Sundry Assets (note 7)
Investment (note 8)
Future Income Tax Assets (note 18)
Property, Plant and Equipment (note 9)
Intangible Assets (note 10)
Goodwill (note 2)
Total Assets
Liabilities and Unitholders’ Equity
Current Liabilities
Accounts payable and accrued liabilities
Payables to vendors (note 2)
Distributions payable (note 27)
Current portion of long‐term debt (note 12)
Other current liabilities (note 13)
Income taxes payable
Future income tax liabilities (note 18)

$

$

$

Long‐term Payables to Vendors (note 2)
Convertible Debentures (note 11)
Long‐term Debt (note 12)
Other Long‐term Obligations (note 14)
Future Income Tax Liabilities (note 18)
Non‐controlling Interest (note 21)
Total Liabilities

42,627
60,343
25,449
4,989
368
4,186
137,962
3,211
7,347
8,286
17,460
45,345
160,443
380,054

31,414
1,669
‐
198
1,564
718
1,244
36,807
5,911
43,019
88,417
1,838
9,243
20,014
205,249

December 31, 2009

$

$

$

8,995
52,960
20,408
3,976
179
2,036
88,554
1,833
5,385
8,441
16,640
53,167
165,428
339,448

28,771
1,799
2,974
175
390
802
984
35,895
10,380
‐
69,854
3,368
10,693
23,225
153,415

Commitments and Contingencies (note 15)

Unitholdersʹ Equity
Units (note 20)
Equity Component of Convertible Debentures (note 11)
Contributed Surplus (note 25)
Accumulated Other Comprehensive Income (Loss)
Deficit
Total Unitholders’ Equity
Total Liabilities and Unitholders’ Equity

$

244,508
4,356
4,093
(12,602)
(65,550)
(78,152)
174,805
380,054

$

237,463
‐
2,498
(9,174)
(44,754)
(53,928)
186,033
339,448

See accompanying notes

Approved on Behalf of the Board of Trustees
“Harvey Naglie”

”Eric Slavens”’

Harvey Naglie

Eric Slavens
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For the year ended
December 31, 2010
Balance – Beginning of Year
Net earnings (loss)
Distributions declared to unitholders (note 27)
Balance – End of Year

$

$

(44,754)
3,148
(41,606)
23,944
(65,550)

For the year ended
December 31, 2009
$

$

(25,178)
3,388
(21,790)
22,964
(44,754)

See accompanying notes

Consolidated Statements of Accumulated Other Comprehensive Income (Loss)
For the Years Ended December 31, 2010 and 2009
(Expressed in Thousands of Dollars)
For the year ended
December 31, 2010
Balance – Beginning of Year
Other comprehensive income (loss)
Balance – End of Year (note 22)

$
$

(9,174)
(3,428)
(12,602)

For the year ended
December 31, 2009
$
$

(6,867)
(2,307)
(9,174)

See accompanying notes
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Consolidated Statements of Earnings (Loss) and
Comprehensive Income (Loss)
For the Years Ended December 31, 2010 and 2009
(Expressed in Thousands of Dollars, Except for Units and Per Unit Amounts)
For the year ended
December 31, 2010
Revenues
Revenues
Less: disbursements
Net Revenue

$

Expenses
Salaries and benefits
General and administrative
Amortization of intangible assets
Amortization of property, plant and equipment
Interest
Earnings (Loss) Before Undernoted Items
Equity accounted earnings (loss) (note 8)
Earnings (Loss) Before Income Taxes and Non‐controlling Interest
Current income tax expense (recovery) (note 18)
Future income tax expense (recovery) (note 18)
Earnings (Loss) Before Non‐controlling Interest
Non‐controlling interest (note 21)
Net Earnings (Loss) for the Year
Other Comprehensive Income (Loss), Net of Tax
Gain (loss) on interest rate swaps designated as cash flow hedges
Unrealized gain (loss) on translating financial statements of self‐
sustaining foreign operations
Comprehensive Income (Loss)
Basic earnings (loss) per unit
Weighted average number of units (note 24)
Diluted earnings (loss) per unit
Weighted average number of diluted units (note 24)

$

$

252,520
25,352
227,168

For the year ended
December 31, 2009
$

219,766
26,122
193,644

155,768
38,718
21,522
4,226
4,155
224,389
2,779

127,574
32,836
24,088
4,076
3,514
192,088
1,556

(1,038)
1,741
871
(3,219)
(2,348)
4,089
941
3,148

(615)
941
459
(4,077)
(3,618)
4,559
1,171
3,388

$

144

427

(3,572)
(3,428)
(280)

(2,734)
(2,307)
1,081

$0.16
19,943,823
$0.16
22,579,492

$

$0.18
19,124,931
$0.18
21,649,536

See accompanying notes
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Altus Group Income Fund
Consolidated Statements of Cash Flows
For the Years Ended December 31, 2010 and 2009
(Expressed in Thousands of Dollars)
For the year ended
December 31, 2010
Funds Provided (Used)
Operating Activities
Net earnings (loss) for the year
Non‐controlling interest
Amortization of intangible assets
Amortization of property, plant and equipment
Amortization of lease inducements
Amortization of interest expense
Unrealized foreign exchange (gain) loss
Executive Compensation Plan (notes 25 and 29)
(Gain) loss on disposal of property, plant and equipment
Equity accounted loss (earnings)
Future income tax expense (recovery)

$

Net changes in operating working capital
Financing Activities
Proceeds from issuance of convertible debentures
Proceeds from exercise of options (note 29)
Redemption of Altus UK LLP Class B and D units and Altus LP
Series 1 Class B units
Financing fees paid
Proceeds from long‐term debt
Repayment of long‐term debt
Bank indebtedness, net
Distributions paid
Repayment of obligations under capital leases
Investing Activities
Purchase of investment
Acquisitions (net of cash acquired) (note 2)
Purchase of intangible assets
Proceeds from the disposal of intangible assets
Purchase of property, plant and equipment
Proceeds from the disposal of property, plant and equipment
Effect of foreign currency translation
Increase (Decrease) in Cash and Cash Equivalents
Cash and Cash Equivalents
Beginning of year
End of year
Interest paid
Income taxes paid

$
$

3,148
941
21,522
4,226
195
858
(705)
3,430
102
1,038
(3,219)
31,536
(13,656)
17,880

For the year ended
December 31, 2009

$

3,388
1,171
24,088
4,076
(6)
364
365
1,849
(362)
615
(4,077)
31,471
(4,044)
27,427

50,000
1,506

‐
‐

(709)
(2,482)
18,335
(176)
‐
(30,317)
(247)
35,910

(468)
(1,799)
57,758
(23,095)
(5,000)
(26,464)
(363)
569

(3,000)
(10,501)
(1,455)
‐
(4,843)
123
(19,676)
(482)
33,632

(3,000)
(21,357)
(2,010)
490
(1,417)
368
(26,926)
129
1,199

8,995
42,627
3,646
1,001

$
$

7,796
8,995
2,132
168

See accompanying notes
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Altus Group Income Fund
Notes to Consolidated Financial Statements
December 31, 2010 and 2009
(Expressed in Thousands of Dollars, Except for Units and Per Unit Amounts)
1.

Organization and Nature of the Business
Altus Group Income Fund (“Fund”) is an unincorporated, open‐ended, limited‐purpose trust,
established under the laws of the Province of Ontario that indirectly owns or controls operating
entities located within Canada, the United Kingdom (“UK”), the United States of America (“US”),
Australia and several countries in Asia.
The Fund provides real estate consulting, professional advisory and technical services. Its business is
conducted through four real estate‐related practice areas: Research, Valuation & Advisory; Cost
Consulting & Project Management; Realty Tax Consulting; and Geomatics.
“Altus” refers to the consolidated operations of the Fund.

2.

Acquisitions
Acquisitions are accounted for by the purchase method with the results of operations included in
these consolidated financial statements from the respective acquisition dates.
2010
Purchase Price Adjustment on Acquisition of Page Kirkland Group
Included in the total consideration for the Page Kirkland Group (“Page Kirkland”) acquisition was a
holdback of $9,480, which would only be paid to the vendors if certain performance targets were
achieved over a two to three year period. During the fourth quarter of 2010, the amount was
reversed with a corresponding adjustment to goodwill and intangible assets as it was determined
that the performance targets were not likely to be achieved. Further, the interest accretion and net
foreign exchange losses previously recorded related to this holdback of $2,322 and $951,
respectively, have been reversed. To the extent that there is an additional payment, this will result in
an increase to goodwill.
Acquisition of Brazos Tax Group LLP
Effective June 1, 2010, the Fund indirectly acquired certain business assets of Brazos Tax Group LLP
(“Brazos”) for approximately $2,155, subject to adjustments. As partial consideration for such assets,
the Fund issued 20,886 Fund Units. The value of the Fund Units of $273 was determined based on
the trading value of the Fund Units prior to closing. A holdback of $105 US Dollars and $110 US
Dollars is due on the first and second anniversary of the acquisition, respectively. A holdback of
$508 US Dollars is due on the second anniversary of the acquisition subject to certain performance
targets being achieved. At the acquisition date, the discounted, Canadian Dollar amounts of the
holdbacks were $635. The holdback is not secured. Brazos was a US‐based property tax company
providing services such as business and personal property tax compliance and appeals, real estate
valuation appeals and property tax payment administration and due diligence.

68

Altus Group Income Fund
Notes to Consolidated Financial Statements
December 31, 2010 and 2009
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2.

Acquisitions, cont’d
Acquisition of Peters Surveys Ltd.
Effective July 2, 2010, the Fund indirectly acquired certain business assets of Peters Surveys Ltd.
(“Peters”) for approximately $1,033, subject to adjustments. As partial consideration for such assets,
the Fund issued 9,868 Altus LP Series 1 Class B limited partnership units. The value of these Altus
LP Series 1 Class B limited partnership units of $120 was determined based on the trading value of
the Fund Units prior to closing. A holdback of $1,000 is due on September 30, 2011 subject to certain
performance targets being achieved. At the acquisition date, only $600 of this holdback was included
in the purchase price. The discounted amount of this holdback was $536. Peters was a professional
land surveying and planning firm, providing a broad range of geomatic services within the province
of Saskatchewan, Canada.
Acquisition of PricewaterhouseCoopers’ US‐based Real Estate Appraisal Management Practice
Effective July 30, 2010, the Fund indirectly acquired certain business assets of
PricewaterhouseCoopersʹ US‐based Real Estate Appraisal Management Practice (“PwC Appraisal
Management Practice”) for approximately $17,443, subject to adjustments. As partial consideration
for such assets, the Fund issued 236,204 Fund Units. The value of these Fund Units of $3,236 was
determined based on the trading value of the Fund Units prior to closing. The agreement provides
for an additional purchase payment if average earnings exceed a certain threshold on the three‐year
anniversary. While there is no maximum amount stipulated in the agreement, the Fund has
estimated the contingent consideration to be $5,330, on a discounted basis, which is reflected in the
purchase price. The PwC Appraisal Management Practice provided comprehensive valuation
consulting and analytic services to a roster of global clients through a national practice operated
from offices in Jersey City, Houston, Irvine and Atlanta in the US.
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2.

Acquisitions, cont’d

Page Kirkland
Net assets acquired before
non‐controlling interest:
Net working capital (excluding
cash)

$

‐

Property, plant and equipment

Year ended December 31, 2010
PwC
Appraisal
Management
Total
Peters
Practice

Brazos

$

301

$

150

$

494

$

945
247

‐

28

219

‐

Intangible assets

(1,763)

1,328

360

13,547

13,472

Goodwill

(7,717)

498

304

3,402

(3,513)

Consideration:
Cash consideration, including
transaction costs

$

(9,480)

$

2,155

$

1,033

$

17,443

$

11,151

$

‐

$

1,247

$

377

$

8,877

$

10,501

Holdbacks
Altus LP Class B limited
partnership units (note 20)

(9,480)

Fund Units (note 20)
$

(2,979)

635

536

‐

‐

120

‐

120

‐

273

‐

3,236

3,509

(9,480)

$

2,155

$

1,033

5,330

$

17,443

$

11,151

2009
Acquisition of Page Kirkland Group
Effective July 31, 2009, the Fund indirectly acquired 100% of the shares in certain businesses carried
on by Page Kirkland for approximately $34,611, subject to adjustments. As partial consideration for
such shares, the Fund issued 758,144 Fund Units. The value of these Fund Units was determined
based on the trading value of the Fund Units prior to closing. A holdback of $14,280 Australian
Dollars is due within a two to three year period subject to certain performance targets being
achieved. At the acquisition date, the discounted, Canadian Dollar amount of the holdback was
$9,480. The holdback is not secured. Page Kirkland operated in eight countries across the Asia
Pacific region and Hawaii, US, providing services including cost management, project management,
asset and facilities management and development management.
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2.

Acquisitions, cont’d
Purchase Price Adjustment on Acquisition of the Property Tax Practice of Deloitte Canada
Effective May 30, 2009, the purchase price with respect to the acquisition of the Property Tax
Practice of Deloitte Canada (“Deloitte”) was finalized resulting in an increase to goodwill of $77.
Acquisition of Suvius Inc.
Effective May 1, 2009, the Fund indirectly acquired certain business assets of Suvius Inc. (“Suvius”)
for approximately $5,132, subject to adjustments. As partial consideration for such assets, the Fund
issued 130,909 Altus LP Series 1 Class B limited partnership units. The value of these Altus LP Series
1 Class B limited partnership units of $1,440 was defined in the asset purchase agreement.
Additional Altus LP Series 1 Class B limited partnership units will be issued to the vendors if the
average closing trading price of the Units for any ten consecutive trading days during the first two
years does not achieve a minimum of $11.00 per Unit. Suvius provided administrative and field
services support to Lennon Trilogy Professional Land Surveyors (“Lennon Trilogy”). Altus
Geomatics will continue to provide administrative and field services support to Lennon Trilogy.
Purchase Price Adjustment on Acquisition of Crape Geomatics Corporation
During the three months ended March 31, 2009, the purchase price with respect to the acquisition of
Crape Geomatics Corporation (“Crape”) was finalized. The final purchase price adjustment was
$1,050 of which $617 had been accrued as at December 31, 2008. The additional $433 payable
resulted in an increase to goodwill. The purchase price adjustment was settled in cash of $525, paid
subsequent to the quarter ended March 31, 2009, and 46,791 Altus LP Series 1 Class B limited
partnership units which were effective as of January 1, 2009 (note 20). The value of the Altus LP
Series 1 Class B limited partnership units of $525 was defined in the asset purchase agreement.
Purchase Price Adjustment on Acquisition of Géocom Recherche Inc.
Effective March 1, 2009, the purchase price with respect to the acquisition of Géocom Recherche Inc.
(“Géocom”) was finalized. As Géocom did not meet the predetermined earnings threshold, a
purchase price adjustment of $(163) resulted in a reduction to goodwill.
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2.

Acquisitions, cont’d
Purchase Price Adjustment on Acquisition of Capital Planning Solutions Inc.
During the three months ended March 31, 2009, the Fund incurred additional transaction costs of
$200 in relation to the acquisition of Capital Planning Solutions Inc. (“CPSI”) which resulted in an
increase to goodwill.
Included in the total consideration for the CPSI acquisition was a holdback of $1,672, which would
only be paid to the vendor if certain performance targets were achieved. During the fourth quarter
of 2009, the amount was reversed with a corresponding adjustment to goodwill as the amount of the
holdback payable could not be determined beyond a reasonable doubt. Discussions are currently
underway with the vendors of CPSI regarding achievement of these performance targets, which will
determine what, if any, final contingent consideration will be payable. To the extent that there is an
additional payment, this will result in an increase to goodwill.
Year ended December 31, 2009
Page
Kirkland

Deloitte

Suvius

Crape

Géocom

CPSI

Total

‐

$ 1,392

‐

2,393

Net assets acquired before non‐
controlling interest:
Cash
Net working capital (excluding
cash)
Property, plant and equipment
Intangible assets
Future income tax assets
Future income tax liabilities
Long‐term obligations
Goodwill
Consideration:
Cash consideration, including
transaction costs

$ 1,392

$

‐

2,051

(77)

$

‐

$

419

‐

$

‐

‐

$

‐

1,158

‐

919

‐

‐

‐

2,077

13,857

‐

2,910

‐

‐

‐

16,767

765

‐

‐

‐

‐

‐

765

(1,811)

‐

‐

‐

‐

‐

(1,811)

(460)

‐

‐

‐

‐

‐

(460)

77

884

$ 34,611

17,659
$

‐

$ 5,132

$

$ 19,316

$

$

433

(163)

(1,472)

17,418

433

$ (163)

$ (1,472)

$ 38,541

525

$

$

‐

$ 2,708

200

$ 22,749

‐

‐

‐

(617)

‐

‐

(617)

Holdbacks
Altus LP Class B limited
partnership units (note 20)

9,480

‐

984

‐

(163)

(1,672)

8,629

‐

‐

1,440

525

‐

‐

1,965

Fund Units (note 20)

5,815

‐

‐

‐

‐

‐

5,815

‐

$ 5,132

433

$ (163)

$ (1,472)

$ 38,541

Payable

$ 34,611

$

$

‐
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2.

Acquisitions, cont’d
Intangible assets acquired are as follows:
Year ended
December 31, 2010

Year ended
December 31, 2009

Finite‐life assets
$

Brands of acquired businesses

‐

$

2,430

‐

Computer application software
Custom software applications

1,448

‐

72

3,127

10,574

9,800

Customer backlog
Customer lists

162

1,378

Employment contracts and non‐compete agreements
$

1,248

13,472

$

16,767

Accounting goodwill acquired by segment is as follows:

Year ended
December 31, 2010
Year ended
December 31, 2009

$

RVA

Realty Tax

3,402

$

(163)

498
77

Cost
$

(7,717)
16,187

Geomatics

Corporate

$

$

304
1,317

‐
‐

Total
$

(3,513)
17,418

Certain income tax elections may be filed by the vendors of the acquired companies within one year
from the acquisition date and may result in adjustments to the purchase price equation. To that
extent, the purchase price equation would be affected with a related adjustment to goodwill.
Goodwill acquired and deductible for tax purposes for the year ended December 31, 2010 was
$12,862 (year ended December 31, 2009 – a deduction of $1,472).
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3.

Change in Accounting Policies
Goodwill and Intangible Assets
Effective January 1, 2009, the Fund adopted the Canadian Institute of Chartered Accountants
(“CICA”) Handbook Section 3064, Goodwill and Intangible Assets, which establishes standards for
recognition, measurement, presentation and disclosure of goodwill and intangible assets. As a result
of adopting the new standard retroactively, on January 1, 2009, the Fund has reclassified application
software costs from property, plant and equipment to intangible assets. There was no impact on the
Fund’s consolidated net earnings.
Financial Instruments – Recognition and Measurement
Effective for the annual financial statements ended December 31, 2009, the Fund adopted
amendments made to CICA Handbook Section 3855, Financial Instruments – Recognition and
Measurement. Section 3855 has been amended to change the categories into which a debt instrument
is required or permitted to be classified, to change the impairment model for held‐to‐maturity
financial assets to the incurred credit loss model in Section 3025, Impaired Loans, and requires the
reversal of previously recognized impairment losses on available‐for‐sale financial assets in specified
circumstances. The adoption of these amendments had no significant impact on the consolidated
financial statements.
Financial Instruments − Disclosures
Effective for the annual financial statements ended December 31, 2009, the Fund adopted
amendments made to CICA Handbook Section 3862, Financial Instruments – Disclosures. Section
3862 has been amended to include additional disclosure requirements about fair value measurement
of financial instruments and to enhance liquidity risk disclosure requirements for publicly
accountable enterprises. The adoption of these amendments resulted in additional disclosures in the
notes to the consolidated financial statements.
Credit Risk and the Fair Value of Financial Assets and Financial Liabilities
Effective January 1, 2009, the Fund adopted CICA Emerging Issues Committee (“EIC”)‐173, Credit
Risk and the Fair Value of Financial Assets and Financial Liabilities, which requires that an entity’s
own credit risk and the credit risk of the counterparty should be taken into account in determining
the fair value of financial assets and financial liabilities, including derivative instruments. EIC‐173 is
to be applied retrospectively without restatement of prior periods. The adoption of this
recommendation had no significant impact on the consolidated financial statements.
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4.

Summary of Significant Accounting Policies
These consolidated financial statements have been prepared in accordance with Canadian generally
accepted accounting principles (“GAAP”) and reflect the following significant accounting policies:
Principles of Consolidation
The consolidated financial statements include the accounts of Altus Group Income Fund and its
wholly owned subsidiaries. Altus Group Tax Consulting Paralegal Professional Corporation, Altus
Geomatics Land Surveying BC Limited and Lennon Trilogy Professional Land Surveyors are
variable interest entities and are consolidated in the financial statements of the Fund pursuant to
CICA Handbook Section 1590, Subsidiaries, as clarified by Accounting Guideline 15, Consolidation
of Variable Interest Entities.
All significant intercompany transactions and balances have been eliminated on consolidation.
Revenue Recognition
Revenue is recognized when persuasive evidence of an arrangement exists, services are performed,
the fee to the customer is fixed or determinable, and collection of the resulting receivable is
reasonably assured. Revenue is measured in one of three ways: cost plus contracts record revenue
on an hourly basis as work is performed; fixed price contracts record revenue on a percentage of
completion basis; and contingency arrangements record revenue when the uncertainty is resolved
and the fee becomes determinable. Losses are recognized in the period identified.
Services rendered but not yet billed are recognized in revenue and recorded as work‐in‐process at
the lower of standard rates per hour in effect at the time the services were rendered and net
realizable value.
Customer retainers on work‐in‐process are included in accounts payable and accrued liabilities.
Revenue is recorded on a gross basis when Altus is a principal to the transaction and net of costs
when Altus is acting as an agent between the customer and the vendor. Several factors are
considered in determining whether Altus is a principal or an agent to a transaction, including who is
the primary obligator to the customer, who establishes pricing, whether the amount earned is fixed,
and who bears the credit risk.
Cash and Cash Equivalents
Cash and cash equivalents include cash on hand, bank balances and short‐term, highly liquid
investments which generally have original maturities of three months or less.
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4.

Summary of Significant Accounting Policies, cont’d
Property, Plant and Equipment
Property, plant and equipment are recorded at cost and are amortized over the remaining useful life
of the assets on the declining balance method:
Buildings
Parking lot
Leasehold improvements
Furniture, fixtures and equipment
Computer equipment

4%
8%
20%
20‐35%
30%

Intangible Assets
Intangible assets are assets acquired that lack physical substance and that meet the specified criteria
for recognition apart from goodwill. Intangible assets with a finite life are recorded at cost and are
amortized over the period of expected future benefit on the straight‐line method or declining
balance method:
Brands of acquired businesses
Computer application software
Custom software applications
Customer backlog
Customer lists
Databases
Employment contracts and non‐compete agreements

1 year straight‐line
30% declining balance
2 years straight‐line
2‐3 years straight‐line
5 years straight‐line
2 years straight‐line
3 years straight‐line

Intangible assets which have an indefinite life are recorded at cost and are not amortized.
Management considers the Altus Group brand to be an indefinite life asset. On an annual basis,
management reviews the carrying amount of intangible assets which have an indefinite life, or more
frequently upon the occurrence of certain events or circumstances, for possible impairment by
evaluating discounted cash flows. Intangible assets are written down to their estimated fair value as
determined by discounted cash flows when a decline is identified.
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4.

Summary of Significant Accounting Policies, cont’d
Goodwill
Goodwill is not amortized and is subject to an annual impairment test. Goodwill impairment is
evaluated between annual tests upon the occurrence of certain events or circumstances. Goodwill
impairment is assessed based on a comparison of the reporting unit’s carrying amount to its fair
value. When the carrying amount of the reporting unit exceeds its fair value, the fair value of the
reporting unit’s goodwill is compared with its carrying amount to measure the amount of
impairment loss, if any. Management tested goodwill for impairment as at December 31, 2010 and
determined that no impairment exists.
Long‐lived Assets
Long‐lived assets, which comprise property, plant and equipment and intangible assets with finite
lives, are reviewed for impairment if events or changes in circumstances indicate that the carrying
value may not be recoverable. If the sum of the undiscounted future cash flows expected from use
and residual value is less than the carrying amount, the long‐lived asset is considered impaired. An
impairment loss is measured as the amount by which the carrying value of the long‐lived asset
exceeds its fair value.
Derivative Financial Instruments
The Fund has entered into interest rate swap agreements for the purposes of managing interest rate
exposure and not for trading or speculative purposes. Derivatives are initially recognized at fair
value when a derivative contract is entered into and are subsequently re‐measured at their fair
value. Derivatives that have been designated and function effectively as a hedge are accounted for
using hedge accounting principles.
Derivatives that do not qualify for hedge accounting are recorded on the consolidated balance sheet
at fair value with changes in fair value recorded as interest expense in the consolidated statement of
earnings (loss).
For derivates that are designated as a cash flow hedge, the effective portion of the changes in fair
value are recognized in other comprehensive income (loss) and any ineffective portion in net
earnings (loss) for the period.
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4.

Summary of Significant Accounting Policies, cont’d
Income Taxes
The Fund is subject to taxes computed under the Income Tax Act (Canada). The Fund recognizes
future income tax assets and liabilities with a corresponding adjustment to future tax expense, based
on temporary differences expected to reverse after January 1, 2011 at the substantively enacted tax
rate applicable to the Fund in 2011, as described below.
The Fund follows the asset and liability method of accounting for income taxes. Under this method,
future income tax assets and liabilities are determined based on differences between the financial
reporting and tax basis of assets and liabilities, and are calculated using the substantively enacted
tax rates and laws that will be in effect when the differences are expected to reverse. Future income
tax assets, if any, are recognized only to the extent that, in the opinion of management, it is more
likely than not that the assets will be realized.
Foreign Currency Translation
Assets and liabilities of self‐sustaining foreign operations denominated in foreign currencies are
translated into Canadian dollars, at the exchange rates in effect at each period‐end date. Revenue
and expenses denominated in foreign currencies are translated into Canadian dollars, at the average
foreign currency exchange rate for the year. The resulting exchange gains or losses on translation are
recorded in accumulated other comprehensive income (loss).
For other transactions, accounts in foreign currency have been translated into Canadian dollars as
follows: monetary items at exchange rates in effect at the balance sheet date; non‐monetary items at
exchange rates in effect on the dates of the transactions; and revenue and expenses at average
exchange rates prevailing during the year. Gains and losses arising from these foreign currency
translations are recorded in net earnings (loss) for the period.
Use of Estimates
The preparation of the consolidated financial statements requires management to make estimates
and assumptions which affect the reported amounts of assets and liabilities at the date of the
consolidated financial statements and revenue and expenses recognized for the periods reported. By
their nature, these estimates are subject to measurement uncertainty and are reviewed periodically
and adjustments, if necessary, are made in the period in which they are identified. Actual results
may differ from these estimates. Significant estimates used in the preparation of these consolidated
financial statements include valuation of work‐in‐process, provision for doubtful accounts, valuation
of long‐lived assets and goodwill and determination of purchase price allocations and contingent
consideration for acquisitions.
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4.

Summary of Significant Accounting Policies, cont’d
Financing Costs
Transaction costs incurred in the assumption of long‐term debt and convertible debentures have
been included in the carrying value of the related debt.
Executive Compensation Plan
The Fund recognizes a compensation cost in net earnings (loss) related to employee Unit option
grants that will be settled by issuing Fund Units. The compensation cost is the fair value of the Unit
options on the grant date using the Black‐Scholes option pricing model and is recognized as an
expense with a corresponding credit to contributed surplus over the vesting period. On the exercise
of the options, the consideration paid by the employee and the related fair value of the option are
credited to Units within Unitholders’ Equity. Forfeitures or cancellation of option grants are
accounted for in the period in which they occur.
The Fund recognizes a compensation cost in net earnings (loss) related to the Deferred Performance
Plan that will be settled by issuing equity. The compensation cost is determined based on the pay‐
out ratio achieved by the Fund and the distributions declared and paid by the Fund in respect of
2,213,668 (2009 – 1,831,454) underlying Units approved for issuance. The compensation cost is
recognized as an expense with a corresponding credit to contributed surplus. When units are issued
to settle the obligation, the amount previously recorded to contributed surplus is transferred to units
within Unitholders’ Equity.
Lease Inducements
Lease inducements received in the form of cash, leasehold improvements or rent free periods are
deferred and amortized on a straight‐line basis as a reduction of rent expense over the term of the
related lease.
For operating leases with escalating rental terms, total rent payments are expensed on a straight‐line
basis over the term of the lease. The difference between rent expense and the amount paid is
recorded as an increase or reduction in lease inducements.
Leases
Leases are classified as operating or capital leases, depending on whether substantially all of the
risks and rewards have been transferred to the lessee. Capital leases are capitalized by recording the
asset, along with the related obligation, to reflect the acquisition and financing.
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4.

Summary of Significant Accounting Policies, cont’d
Investment
As determined by GAAP, the Fund has significant influence with respect to its investment in Real
Matters Inc. (“Real Matters”), formerly known as Solidifi Inc. As a result, the equity method is used
to account for this investment. Under the equity method, the original cost of the investment is
adjusted for the Fund’s proportionate share of post‐acquisition net earnings (loss) and other
comprehensive income (loss) and reduced by any dividends payable to the Fund. The investment is
written down when there is a loss in value that is other than temporary.
Financial Assets
Held‐for‐trading
Financial assets that are held with the intention of generating profits in the near term, and derivative
contracts that are financial assets, except for a derivative that is a designated and effective hedging
instrument, are classified as held‐for‐trading. In addition, any other financial assets can be
designated by the Fund upon initial recognition as held‐for‐trading. These instruments are
subsequently re‐measured at fair value with the change in the fair value recognized in net earnings
(loss) during the period.
Held‐to‐maturity
Financial assets that have a fixed maturity date, and which the Fund has a positive intention and the
ability to hold to maturity, are classified as held‐to‐maturity, which are subsequently re‐measured at
amortized cost using the effective interest rate method.
Loans and receivables
Loans and receivables are non‐derivative financial assets resulting from the delivery of cash or other
assets in return for a promise to repay on a specified date, or on demand, usually with interest.
Loans and receivables are subsequently re‐measured at amortized cost using the effective interest
rate method.
Available‐for‐sale
Available‐for‐sale assets are non‐derivative financial assets that are either designated in this
category or not classified in any of the other categories. Financial assets classified as available‐for‐
sale are subsequently re‐measured at fair value, with the changes in fair value recorded in other
comprehensive income (loss).
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4.

Summary of Significant Accounting Policies, cont’d
Portfolio equity investments not quoted in an active market are recorded at cost, and the income on
the investment is recorded when dividends are received. If the fair value of the financial asset is less
than its carrying amount and the decline is other than temporary, then the asset is considered
impaired. An impairment loss is measured as the amount by which the carrying value exceeds its
fair value and is recorded in net earnings (loss) for the period.
Financial Liabilities
Held‐for‐trading
Financial liabilities that are held with the intention of generating profits in the near term, and
derivative contracts that are financial liabilities, except for a derivative that is a designated and
effective hedging instrument, are classified as held‐for‐trading. In addition, any other financial
liabilities can be designated by the Fund upon initial recognition as held‐for‐trading. These
instruments are subsequently re‐measured at fair value with the change in the fair value recognized
in net earnings (loss) during the period.
Other liabilities
Non‐derivative financial liabilities that have not been designated as held‐for‐trading are classified as
other liabilities, which are subsequently re‐measured at amortized cost using the effective interest
rate method.
The Fund has classified its financial instruments as follows:
Financial Instrument
Cash and cash equivalents
Accounts receivable
Accounts payable and accrued liabilities
Payables to vendors
Distributions payable
Other current liabilities
Obligations under capital leases
Redemption proceeds payable
Convertible debentures
Long‐term debt
Other long‐term obligations

Classification
Held‐for‐trading
Loans and receivables
Other liabilities
Other liabilities
Other liabilities
Other liabilities
Other liabilities
Other liabilities
Other liabilities
Other liabilities
Other liabilities
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5.

Recent Accounting Pronouncements
International Financial Reporting Standards
The CICA is converging GAAP with International Financial Reporting Standards (“IFRS”) effective
January 1, 2011. While IFRS requirements will have an effective date of January 1, 2011, it will also
require the restatement for comparative purposes of amounts reported by the Fund for the interim
and annual financial statements in 2010.
As a result of the adoption of IFRS, future accounting changes relating to GAAP are not applicable in
these consolidated financial statements as they will never be applied by the Fund.

6.

Cash and Cash Equivalents
Cash and cash equivalents comprise of:
December 31, 2010
Cash

$

9,644

December 31, 2009
$

8,995

$

8,995

32,983

Term Deposits
$

42,627

‐
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7.

Prepaid Expenses
As part of the Referral and Services Agreement between Altus Residential Limited and Real Matters,
the Fund has paid a Sales and Account Management Fee of $3,500 with respect to services to be
performed over the 20 year agreement ending April 2029. This amount has been included with
prepaid expenses and is being amortized on a straight‐line basis over the term of the contract.

8.

Investment
During the second quarter of 2009, the Fund increased its investment in Real Matters and adopted
the equity method of accounting as it was established that it obtained significant influence with
respect to this investment.
Amount
Balance December 31, 2008

$

3,000

Additional investment in Real Matters

3,000

Equity accounted earnings (loss) for 2009

(615)

Balance December 31, 2009

5,385

Additional investment in Real Matters

3,000

Equity accounted earnings (loss) for 2010
Balance December 31, 2010

(1,038)
$

7,347
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9.

Property, Plant and Equipment

Accumulated
Amortization

Cost
Land

$

Buildings
Parking lot

706

$

‐

December 31, 2010
Net Carrying
Amount
$

706

3,702

615

3,087

99

31

68

4,348

1,681

2,667

Furniture, fixtures and equipment

12,074

6,753

5,321

Computer equipment

12,100

6,489

5,611

Leasehold improvements

$

33,029

$

$

Buildings
Parking lot
Leasehold improvements
Furniture, fixtures and equipment
Computer equipment

706

17,460

$

‐

$

706

3,694

488

3,206

99

25

74

3,773

1,168

2,605

10,738

5,257

5,481

9,435
$

$

December 31, 2009
Accumulated
Net Carrying
Amortization
Amount

Cost
Land

15,569

28,445

4,867
$

11,805

4,568
$

16,640

Furniture, fixtures and equipment includes assets held under capital lease amounting to $995
(December 31, 2009 ‐ $1,012) and accumulated amortization of $515 (December 31, 2009 ‐ $404).
Computer equipment includes assets held under capital lease amounting to $75 (December 31, 2009 ‐
$Nil) and accumulated amortization of $14 (December 31, 2009 ‐ $Nil). Additions to assets held
under capital lease for the year ended December 31, 2010 were $85 (year ended December 31, 2009 ‐
$Nil).
Leasehold improvements include tenant inducements amounting to $378 (December 31, 2009 ‐ $261)
and accumulated amortization of $83 (December 31, 2009 ‐ $18).
Leasehold improvements financed by a loan from the landlord (note 12) was $480 (December 31,
2009 ‐ $450).
Assets acquired and not yet available for use include computer equipment amounting to $32
(December 31, 2009 ‐ $29), furniture, fixtures and equipment amounting to $28 (December 31, 2009 ‐
$Nil) and leasehold improvements amounting to $246 (December 31, 2009 ‐ $Nil). Accordingly, these
assets are not being amortized.
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10. Intangible Assets

Accumulated
Amortization

Cost
Finite‐life assets
Brands of acquired businesses

$

Computer application software
Custom software applications
Customer backlog
Customer lists
Databases
Employment contracts and non‐compete
agreements

12,851

$

12,851

December 31, 2010
Net Carrying
Amount
$

‐

6,652

2,761

3,891

10,645

9,159

1,486

9,290

7,896

1,394

86,094
2,735

56,135
2,735

29,959
‐

12,298

9,948

2,350

101,485

39,080

140,565
Indefinite life assets
Brand

6,265
$

146,830

$

12,902

101,485

Accumulated
Amortization

Cost
Finite‐life assets
Brands of acquired businesses

6,265

‐
$

$

11,449

$

45,345

December 31, 2009
Net Carrying
Amount
$

1,453

Computer application software

5,501

2,214

3,287

Custom software applications

9,054

6,948

2,106

Customer backlog
Customer lists
Databases
Employment contracts and non‐compete
agreements

9,196

6,300

2,896

77,340

43,889

33,451

2,735

2,735

‐

11,048

7,339

3,709

127,776

80,874

46,902

Indefinite life assets
Brand

6,265
$

134,041

‐
$

80,874

6,265
$

53,167

Custom software applications and customer list financed by a loan from the vendor (note 12) was
$434 (December 31, 2009 ‐ $434).
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10. Intangible Assets, cont’d
Included in computer application software is $2,501 (December 31, 2009 ‐ $1,685) of computer
application software acquired and not yet available for use. Accordingly, these assets are not being
amortized.
11. Convertible Debentures
On December 1, 2010, the Fund completed the issuance of $50,000 convertible unsecured
subordinated debentures (“convertible debentures”) with a maturity date of December 31, 2017. The
convertible debentures bear interest at a rate of 5.75% per annum, and are payable semi‐annually on
June 30 and December 31 each year. The effective interest rate is 8.44%.
Each convertible debenture is convertible into Fund Units at the option of the holder at a conversion
price of $18.60 per Fund Unit at any time after January 3, 2011 and prior to the close of business on
the earlier of December 31, 2017 and the business day immediately preceding the date fixed for
redemption. On or after December 31, 2013 and prior to December 31, 2015, the convertible
debentures may be redeemed at the option of the Fund, in whole or in part, at a redemption price
equal to the principal amount plus accrued and unpaid interest, provided that the current market
price on the date of notice is at least 125% of the conversion price. On or after December 31, 2015 and
prior to the maturity date, the Fund may at its option redeem the convertible debentures, in whole or
in part, at a price equal to the principal amount plus accrued and unpaid interest. On redemption or
at the December 31, 2017 maturity date, the Fund may, at its option and subject to regulatory
approval, elect to satisfy its obligation to pay all or a portion of the principal amount and the accrued
and unpaid interest by the issuance of Fund Units. The number of Fund Units to be issued will be
determined by dividing the principal amount of the convertible debentures to be redeemed or
repaid at maturity plus accrued and unpaid interest by 95% of the current market price as at the date
of redemption or maturity.
Upon the occurrence of a change in control involving the acquisition of voting control or direction
over of 66.67% or more of the Units of the Fund, the Fund will be required to make an offer to
purchase, within 30 days, all of the outstanding convertible debentures at a price equal to 101% of
the principal amount plus accrued and unpaid interest.
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11. Convertible Debentures, cont’d
The convertible debentures have characteristics of both debt and equity. Accordingly, on issuance,
the conversion feature was separately valued and presented as a component of equity in the amount
of $4,356. The remaining value of the convertible debentures is classified as a liability. Transaction
costs of $2,690 have been netted against the liability. Interest expense includes a charge for the
coupon interest as well as the accretion of the liability to the convertible debentures’ aggregate face
value of $50,000 at maturity using the effective interest rate method. As at December 31, 2010, the
carrying value of the convertible debenture liability was $43,019.
For the year ended December 31, 2010, interest expense on the convertible debentures was $302.
The fair value of the convertible debentures as at December 31, 2010 was approximately $48,700,
based on market quotes.
12. Other Credit Facilities
Altus Group Limited Partnership (“Altus LP”) has credit facilities as follows:
a) Revolving Operating Facility: Senior secured Revolving Operating Facility, in the principal
amount of up to $12,500 (December 31, 2009 ‐ $12,500), due on demand. This facility will mature
on October 1, 2012. At December 31, 2010, the amount drawn under this facility was $Nil
(December 31, 2009 ‐ $Nil).
b) Revolving Term Facility: Senior secured Revolving Term Facility in an amount of $97,931
(December 31, 2009 ‐ $87,931). The Revolving Term Facility will mature October 1, 2012. The
Term facility requires repayment of principal, at such time as certain thresholds are exceeded. At
December 31, 2010, the amount drawn under this facility was $89,667 (December 31, 2009 ‐
$71,332).
Loans under all facilities are repayable without any prepayment penalties, and will bear interest at a
floating rate, based on the Canadian Dollar prime rate, bankers’ acceptance rates, US base rates or
LIBOR rates plus, in each case, an applicable margin to those rates. The margin ranges from 0.50% to
2.75% depending on the calculation of the funded debt to EBITDA ratio (note 28) and the facility
used. Letters of credit are also available on customary terms for facilities of this nature.
Pursuant to the Credit Agreement for the above noted facilities, security is granted over all of Altus
LPʹs assets. Guarantees and a security interest over all or certain assets is provided by certain
subsidiaries of the Fund.
The Credit Agreement requires Altus LP to comply with certain financial covenants, as disclosed in
note 28.
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12. Other Credit Facilities, cont’d
In addition, certain subsidiaries of the Fund must account for at least 85% of Earnings before
Interest, Taxes, Depreciation, and Amortization (“EBITDA”) at the end of each fiscal quarter. As at
December 31, 2010, the Fund has met this requirement.
At December 31, 2010, $87,500 (December 31, 2009 ‐ $12,500) of the credit facilities were subject to
various interest rate swap arrangements (note 17) to fix the interest rate.
In 2009, the Fund received a loan to finance leasehold improvements made to leased premises. The
loan, payable in installments up to March 2019, is with the landlord and bears interest at Canadian
Dollar prime rate plus 2%. In 2010, the Fund received a loan to finance leasehold improvements for
another leased premise. The loan, payable in installments up to August 2014, is with the landlord
and bears interest at 7%. The loans are not secured.
In 2009, the Fund indirectly purchased a custom software application and a customer list for $500
plus applicable taxes. This amount is payable in monthly installments over a term of 3 years to
September 1, 2012. The implicit interest rate is 9.34%.
Long‐term debt is as follows:
December 31, 2010
Revolving Term Facility, weighted effective interest rate of
3.89% (December 31, 2009 – 3.65%)

$

89,667

December 31, 2009
$

71,332

Leasehold improvements loans, weighted effective interest rate
of 4.43% (December 31, 2009 – 4.25%)

434

445

Intangible assets financing loan, weighted effective interest rate
of 9.34% (December 31, 2009 – 9.34%)

272

407

(1,758)

(2,155)

88,615

70,029

198

175

Less: deferred financing fees
Less: current portion
$

88,417

$

69,854
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12. Other Credit Facilities, cont’d
Principal repayments on long‐term debt are as follows:
2011
2012
2013
2014
2015
Thereafter

$

198
89,840
53
53
49
180

$

90,373

Interest incurred on the long‐term debt during the year ended December 31, 2010 was $3,112 (year
ended December 31, 2009 ‐ $1,980).
13. Other Current Liabilities
Other current liabilities include the following:
December 31, 2010
Current portion of obligations under capital leases (note 19)

$

243

December 31, 2009
$

221

95

169

Cash flow hedges (note 17)

145

‐

Redemption proceeds payable (note 21)

817

‐

Other current liabilities

264

‐

Current portion of lease inducements

Balance

$

1,564

$

390
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14. Other Long‐Term Obligations
Other long‐term obligations include the following:
December 31, 2010
Obligations under capital leases (note 19)

$

156

December 31, 2009
$

330

Lease inducements

951

544

Cash flow hedges (note 17)

402

577

94

1,462

235

455

Redemption proceeds payable (note 21)
Other long‐term obligations
Balance

$

1,838

$

3,368

15. Commitments and Contingencies
Future minimum annual lease payments under operating leases for the Fund’s premises and
equipment for each of the years ended December 31 and thereafter are as follows:
2011
2012
2013
2014
2015
Thereafter

$

7,104
6,573
4,519
3,649
3,413
18,939

As at December 31, 2010, the Fund provided letters of credit of approximately $266 to its lessors
(December 31, 2009 ‐ $2,103 to its lessors and to vendors of an acquired business).
The Fund is currently in a dispute with the vendors of the business of Capital Planning Solutions
Inc., who are seeking an adjustment to the purchase price. In addition, there is a Statement of Claim
from the principal vendor for wrongful dismissal. In management’s opinion, both actions are
without merit. No amount has been accrued in the consolidated financial statements.
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16. Segmented Information
The operations of the Fund consist of four reportable segments: Research, Valuation & Advisory
(“RVA”), Cost Consulting & Project Management (“Cost”), Realty Tax Consulting (“Realty Tax”)
and Geomatics. Discrete operating and financial information is available for these reportable
segments, and is used to determine operating performance for each segment and to allocate
resources.
RVA performs real estate valuations, litigation support, financial due diligence, research and real
estate‐related services.
Cost provides construction cost planning, loan monitoring and project management services to
construction companies and financial institutions as well as providing software solutions for
tracking and optimizing the value of capital assets.
Realty Tax performs realty tax assessment reviews and appeals, and assists with realty tax
compliance filings.
Geomatics provides advanced geomatics solutions including geographic information systems,
digital mapping, remote sensing, 3‐D laser scanning and orthophoto maps. Geomatics operates
primarily in the oil and gas sector. It also provides environmental services to the forestry and energy
sectors.
The accounting policies of the segments are the same as those described in the summary of
significant accounting policies described in note 4. Revenue transactions between segments are
valued at market rates and eliminated on consolidation.
The Fund operates in four geographic regions: Canada, the UK, the Asia Pacific region and the US.
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16. Segmented Information, cont’d
Segment Revenues and Expenditures

Revenues
Amortization of
property, plant
and equipment
Earnings (loss)
before income
taxes and non‐
controlling interest
Property, plant
and equipment
additions
(1)

(2)

$

51,278

$ 252,481

728

1,633

21,667

4,921

408

710

RVA

Realty
Tax

Cost

$ 60,988

$ 69,591

$ 70,624

613

368

9,046

1,033

39

$ 252,520

3,342

884

4,226

7,707

43,341

(41,600)

1,741

1,261

3,412

1,431

4,843

$

Corporate includes global corporate office costs, interest expense, amortization of intangible assets acquired as part of
business acquisitions, and equity accounted earnings (loss) of Real Matters.

Revenues
Amortization of
property, plant
and equipment
Earnings (loss)
before income
taxes and non‐
controlling interest
Property, plant
and equipment
additions
(1)

Geomatics

Year ended December 31, 2010
Total
Total
Operations Corporate(1)

Geomatics

Year ended December 31, 2009(2)
Total
Operations Corporate(1)
Total

$

$

RVA

Realty
Tax

Cost

$ 54,799

$ 67,793

$ 59,024

620

395

590

1,741

7,230

21,919

9,048

205

221

214

38,113

219,729

$

37

$ 219,766

3,346

730

4,076

39

38,236

(37,295)

941

222

862

555

1,417

Corporate includes global corporate office costs, interest expense, amortization of intangible assets acquired as part of
business acquisitions, and equity accounted earnings (loss) of Real Matters.
The 2009 comparatives have been reclassified to conform to the presentation adopted in 2010.
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16. Segmented Information, cont’d
Segment Assets and Goodwill
December 31, 2010
Realty
Tax

RVA
Assets

$

Goodwill

53,647

$

74,860

33,076

48,216

RVA

Realty
Tax

Cost
$

77,756

Total
Geomatics Operations

Corporate

Total

$

61,469

$ 267,732

$ 112,322

$ 380,054

34,006

160,443

‐

160,443

Geomatics

Total
Operations

45,145

December 31, 2009

Assets
Goodwill

$

45,643
30,006

$

74,342
48,804

Cost
$

90,163

$

52,915

54,213

$ 264,361

33,703

165,428

Corporate
$

Total

75,087

$ 339,448

‐

165,428

Geographic Information – Revenue and Earnings (Loss) before Income Taxes and Non‐
Controlling Interest
Year ended December 31, 2010
Canada
Revenues
Earnings (loss) before income taxes and
non‐controlling interest

$ 187,918

UK
$

5,486

23,464

Asia Pacific
$

2,166

30,130

$

(6,808)

US

Total

11,008

$ 252,520

897

1,741

Year ended December 31, 2009
Canada
Revenues
Earnings (loss) before income taxes and
non‐controlling interest

$ 177,073
3,051

UK
$

27,049
(357)

Asia Pacific
$

14,568
(1,982)

$

US

Total

1,076

$ 219,766

229

941
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16. Segmented Information, cont’d
Geographic Information – Property, Plant and Equipment and Goodwill
December 31, 2010
Canada
Property, plant and equipment

$

Goodwill

15,022

UK
$

597

Asia Pacific
$

1,185

128,737

18,237

9,711

Canada

UK

Asia Pacific

Total

US
$

656

$

17,460
160,443

3,758

December 31, 2009
Property, plant and equipment
Goodwill

$

14,876
128,433

$

670

$

19,655

1,090
17,340

US
$

4
‐

Total
$

16,640
165,428

17. Financial Instruments
Fair Value Measurements
Fair value measurements recognized in the balance sheet must be classified in accordance with the
fair value hierarchy established by Section 3862, which reflects the significance of the inputs used in
determining the measurements. The inputs can be either observable or unobservable. Observable
inputs reflect assumptions market participants would use in pricing an asset or liability based on
market data obtained from independent sources while unobservable inputs reflect a reporting
entity’s pricing based upon its own market assumptions.
The fair value hierarchy consists of the following three levels:
Level 1: Inputs are quoted, unadjusted prices in active markets for identical assets or liabilities;
Level 2: Inputs other than quoted prices included in Level 1 that are observable for the asset or
liability, either directly or indirectly;
Level 3: Inputs for the asset or liability that are not based on observable market data.
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17. Financial Instruments, cont’d
The following interest rate swaps were outstanding at December 31, 2010:
December 31, 2010
Effective Date
June 19, 2006

Annual Fixed Rate (1)
4.46%

Nominal Amount
$

Fair Value

12,500

$

(145)

Contracts Expire
May 13, 2011

August 20, 2010

0.98%

$

75,000

$

187

August 31, 2011

August 31, 2011

2.77%

$

75,000

$

(589)

August 31, 2015

(1)

The annual fixed rate excludes the stamping fee of 2.75%

December 31, 2009
Effective Date
June 19, 2006
(1)

Annual Fixed Rate

Nominal Amount

(1)

4.46%

$

12,500

Fair Value
$

(577)

Contracts Expire
May 13, 2011

The annual fixed rate excludes the stamping fee of 1.5%

The fair value of the interest rate swaps, designated as cash flow hedges, was determined using
estimated future discounted cash flows, using a comparable current market rate of interest (Level 2).
Accounts receivable, accounts payable and accrued liabilities, distributions payable and payables
due to vendors within a year are all short‐term in nature and, as such, their carrying values
approximate fair values.
The fair values of long‐term debt and obligations under capital leases approximate their carrying
values, as these instruments bear interest at rates comparable to current market rates. The applicable
interest rates are disclosed in notes 12 and 19. The fair value of other long‐term liabilities and long‐
term payables to vendors is estimated by discounting the future contractual cash flows at the cost of
money to the Fund, which is equal to its carrying value.
The fair value of convertible debentures is based on the published trading prices on the Toronto
Stock Exchange, which is disclosed in note 11.
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17. Financial Instruments, cont’d
Financial Risk Management Objectives and Policies
The Fund does not enter into financial instrument arrangements for speculative purposes. The Fund
may be exposed to financial risks resulting from its normal operating activities, as follows:
Market Risk
Interest Rate Risk
The Fund is exposed to interest rate risk in the event of fluctuations in the bank’s prime rate or
bankers’ acceptance rate, US base rate and LIBOR rate as the interest rates on the Revolving
Operating Facility and Revolving Term Facility fluctuate with changes in the bank’s prime rate,
bankers’ acceptance rate, US base rate or LIBOR rate.
In order to limit interest rate exposure, the Fund has entered into interest rate swap agreements
associated with its credit facilities. In 2006, the Fund entered into an interest rate swap agreement
with a notional amount of $12,500 (December 31, 2009 ‐ $12,500). The Fund is obligated to pay the
Swap Counterparty an amount based upon a fixed interest rate of 4.46% per annum plus a stamping
fee of 2.75% (2009 – 1.5%) and the Swap Counterparty is obligated to pay the Fund an amount equal
to the Canadian Bankers’ Acceptance rate.
During the third quarter of 2010, the Fund entered into two additional interest swap agreements.
One swap agreement, effective August 20, 2010, has a notional amount of $75,000. The Fund is
obligated to pay the Swap Counterparty an amount based upon a fixed interest rate of 0.98% per
annum plus a stamping fee of 2.75% and the Swap Counterparty is obligated to pay the Fund an
amount equal to the Canadian Bankers’ Acceptance rate. The other interest rate swap is a forward
swap, effective August 31, 2011, on expiry of the previous swap, for a notional amount of $75,000.
The Fund is obligated to pay the Swap Counterparty an amount based upon a fixed interest rate of
2.77% per annum plus the applicable stamping fee at that time, and the Swap Counterparty is
obligated to pay the Fund an amount equal to the Canadian Bankers’ Acceptance rate.
The Fund monitors its interest rate exposure and its hedging strategy on an ongoing basis.
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17. Financial Instruments, cont’d
Fluctuations in applicable interest rates will impact earnings. For the year ended December 31, 2010,
every 1% increase or decrease in the applicable Revolving Operating and Term Facility interest rate
results in a corresponding $441 decrease or increase in the Fund’s net earnings (loss), respectively (year
ended December 31, 2009 ‐ $411).
Currency Risk
The Fund has operations in Canada, UK, US, Australia and in other countries across Asia and,
therefore, has exposure to currency risk. The Canadian operations have an insignificant amount of
foreign denominated monetary assets and liabilities, resulting in minimal exposure. There is,
however, significant exposure to foreign exchange translation risk on the consolidation of the Fund’s
self‐sustaining foreign subsidiaries. Assets and liabilities of self‐sustaining foreign subsidiaries are
translated at the period end exchange rate and, therefore, have different values depending on
exchange rate fluctuations. As provided by the accounting standards adopted, the effects of such
variations are recognized in other comprehensive income (loss).
The statement of earnings (loss) of the foreign operations are translated into Canadian Dollars using
the period’s average exchange rate and, accordingly, exchange rate fluctuations impact revenues and
expenses, denominated in Canadian Dollars.
The Fund monitors its foreign exchange exposure and its hedging strategy on an ongoing basis.
The following table summarizes the effect of a 10% strengthening of the Canadian Dollar on the Fund’s
earnings (loss) before income taxes and non‐controlling interest as a result of translating the statement
of earnings (loss) of foreign operations, assuming all other variables remain unchanged:
Year ended
December 31, 2010

Year ended
December 31, 2009

Foreign exchange risk:
UK

$

(195)

$

(92)

227

136

Asia

303

(54)

US

(81)

(21)

Australia

A 10% weakening of the Canadian Dollar would have an equal but opposite effect on the above
currencies to the amounts shown above, assuming all other variables remain unchanged.
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17. Financial Instruments, cont’d
Non‐market Risk
Credit Risk
The Fund is exposed to credit risk with respect to accounts receivable. Credit risk is not concentrated
in any particular client or geographic sector but there is exposure to the real estate and oil and gas
sectors. Accounts receivable are monitored on an ongoing basis with respect to their collectability
and, where appropriate, a specific reserve is recorded. In addition, a general reserve is set up on
accounts receivable in accordance with the Fund’s accounting policies.
At December 31, 2010, gross accounts receivable are $65,918 (December 31, 2009 – $58,820). The
allowance for doubtful accounts is $5,575 (December 31, 2009 – $5,860). The decrease in the
allowance for doubtful accounts of $285 (year ended December 31, 2009 ‐ $1,939) is due to amounts
previously provided for that have now been written off. Amounts past due which are outstanding
over 60 days but not considered impaired, are estimated at $4,304 (December 31, 2009 ‐ $3,329). A
specific reserve is recorded for balances greater than 365 days.
Liquidity Risk
Liquidity risk is the risk that the Fund will not be able to meet its financial obligations as they fall
due. The Fund manages liquidity risk through the management of its capital structure and financial
leverage. It also manages liquidity risk by continuously monitoring actual and projected cash flows,
taking into account the seasonality of the Fund’s revenues and receipts and maturity profile of
financial assets and liabilities. The Board of Trustees reviews and approves the Fund’s operating and
capital budgets, as well as any material transactions out of the ordinary course of business, including
proposals on mergers, acquisitions or other major investments.
Management believes that funds generated by operating activities and available credit facilities will
allow the Fund to satisfy its requirements for purposes of working capital, investment and debt
repayment at maturity.
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17. Financial Instruments, cont’d
The following table sets out the undiscounted contractual obligations related to the Fund’s financial
liabilities:

Carrying Contractual
amount cash flows
Accounts payable and
accrued liabilities
Payables to vendors
Obligations under
capital leases

$

31,414

$

31,414

Less than
1 year
$

31,414

1–3
years
$

‐

December 31, 2010
After
Total
5 years

4–5
years
$

‐

$

‐

$

31,414

7,580

9,135

1,731

7,404

‐

‐

9,135

399

426

264

162

‐

‐

426

1,165

146

49

80

1,440

Other current and
long‐term liabilities
Convertible
debentures

1,410

1,440

43,019

50,000

‐

‐

‐

50,000

50,000

Long‐term debt

90,373

90,462

227

89,921

122

192

90,462

547

17,862

3,373

7,905

6,584

‐

17,862

Interest rate swaps

18. Income Taxes
Significant components of income tax expense (recovery) are as follows:
Year ended
December 31, 2010

Year ended
December 31, 2009

Current:
Earnings (loss) before income taxes, non‐controlling interest and
equity accounted earnings (loss)

$

Income not taxable in the Fund, eliminated on consolidation
Tax expense (recovery) at statutory income tax rates

2,779

$

1,556

(10,782)

(13,684)

(8,003)

(12,128)

(2,398)

(3,823)

Change in substantively enacted SIFT Rules

130

212

Operating in countries with different tax rates

252

(71)

(332)

64

Other
$

(2,348)

$

(3,618)
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18. Income Taxes, cont’d
December 31, 2010

December 31, 2009

Future income tax assets:
Current:
Issuance costs

$

‐

$

246

Non‐capital income tax loss carry‐forwards

2,784

944

Other

1,402

846

4,186

2,036

87

68

Tax deductible goodwill

4,519

4,144

Non‐capital income tax loss carry‐forwards

3,473

3,986

207

243

Non‐current:
Issuance costs

Other

8,286
$

12,472

8,441
$

10,477

Future income tax liabilities:
Current:
(1,171)

(984)

(73)

‐

(1,244)

(984)

Intangible assets

(7,929)

(10,089)

Property, plant and equipment

(1,235)

(604)

(79)

‐

Work‐in‐process
Other
Non‐current:

Other

(9,243)
$

(10,487)

(10,693)
$

(11,677)
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18. Income Taxes, cont’d
As at December 31, 2010, there are non‐capital‐loss carryforwards from a Canadian subsidiary of the
Fund, which may be applied against taxable income of future years, not later than as follows:
2013
2014
2015
2024
2025
2026
2027
2028
2029
2030

$

120
94
112
1,139
104
8
9
4,420
1,209
2,456

$

9,671

There are non‐capital losses that have been generated in a UK subsidiary and may be carried
forward indefinitely in the amount of $11,553. In addition, there are non‐capital losses that have
been generated by Australian subsidiaries in the amount of $1,204, by a Hong Kong subsidiary in the
amount of $77 and by a Singapore subsidiary in the amount of $123, which may be carried forward
indefinitely.
19. Obligations Under Capital Leases
Future minimum lease payments required under capital leases, which expire between 2011 and 2013,
are as follows:
2011
2012
2013

$

264
149
13
426

Less: amounts representing interest (6% to 13.4%)

(27)
399

Less: current portion (note 13)
Long‐term portion (note 14)

243
$

156

Interest on obligations under capital leases for the year ended December 31, 2010 was $35 (year
ended December 31, 2009 ‐ $48).
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20. Units
The beneficial interests in the Fund are divided into two classes, described and designated as
“Units” and “Special Voting Units”. There is an unlimited number of authorized Units and Special
Voting Units.
Fund Units
Each Unit is transferable and represents an equal undivided beneficial interest in any distribution
from the Fund and in any of the Fund assets net of Fund liabilities, or in any other net assets of the
Fund in the event of termination or winding‐up of the Fund. All Units outstanding from time to time
shall be entitled to equal shares in any distributions by the Fund and, in the event of termination or
winding‐up of the Fund, in the Fund net assets. All Units have equal rights and privileges. Each Unit
shall entitle the holder of record thereof to one vote at all meetings of Unitholders and holders of
Special Voting Units, or in respect of any written resolutions of the Unitholders.
Units are redeemable at any time, at the option of the holder, at amounts related to market prices.
Cash redemptions are limited to a maximum of $50 in any particular month. This limitation may be
waived at the discretion of the Trustees of the Fund.
Altus LP Series 1 Class B limited partnership units
These units are held by the vendors of certain acquired businesses and certain employees.
On closing of the Fund’s initial public offering, the Fund, Altus Operating Trust, Altus Group
General Partner Corporation, Altus Group LP, Altus Investors Management Partnership and the
vendors of the predecessor operating entities holding Altus LP Series 1 Class B limited partnership
units and Altus LP Series 2 Class B limited partnership units entered into an Exchange Agreement.
The Exchange Agreement grants the holders of the Altus LP Series 1 Class B limited partnership
units and Altus LP Series 2 Class B limited partnership units the right to effectively exchange all or
any portion of their Class B limited partnership units for Fund Units after a conversion date
prescribed in the Altus LP Partnership Agreement, on the condition that certain earnings and
distribution thresholds have been met.
As at December 31, 2007, Altus LP satisfied the earnings and distribution thresholds such that the
Altus LP Series 1 Class B limited partnership units are no longer subordinated to the Fund Units.
Accordingly, these units are exchangeable and are classified as Units.
During the year ended December 31, 2010, 567,445 Altus LP Series 1 Class B limited partnership
units valued at $6,611 were exchanged for Fund Units.
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20. Units, cont’d

Fund Units

Altus LP Series 1
Class B units
Number
of Units
Amount

Total
Number
of Units

Amount

34,671

18,622,777

$ 229,000

(374,078)

(4,102)

‐

‐

5,815

130,909

1,440

889,053

7,255

‐

‐

46,791

525

46,791

525

3,552

32

‐

‐

3,552

32

Issued for Deferred Performance
Plan (note 29)

18,486

120

89,747

585

108,233

705

Units repurchased and cancelled
in relation to Deferred
Performance Plan (note 29)

(5,407)

(35)

(2,980)

(19)

(8,387)

(54)

16,739,773

$ 204,363

2,922,246

33,100

19,662,019

$ 237,463

Exchange of Altus LP Series 1
Class B limited partnership units
into Fund Units

567,445

6,611

(567,445)

(6,611)

‐

‐

Issued on acquisitions (note 2)

257,090

3,509

9,868

120

266,958

3,629

Issued under Unit Option Plan
(note 29)

207,012

1,698

‐

‐

207,012

1,698

5,172

68

‐

‐

5,172

68

Issued for Deferred Performance
Plan (note 29)

16,154

230

95,426

1,361

111,580

1,591

Issued as compensation to others

‐

‐

4,193

60

4,193

60

Fractional units redeemed

‐

‐

(127)

(1)

(127)

(1)

17,792,646

$ 216,479

2,464,161

28,029

20,256,807

$ 244,508

Number
of Units

Amount

15,590,920

$ 194,329

3,031,857

Exchange of Altus LP Series 1
Class B limited partnership units
into Fund Units

374,078

4,102

Issued on acquisitions (note 2)

758,144

Balance as at December 31, 2008

Issued on purchase price
adjustments (note 2)
Issued as compensation to
Trustees

Balance as at December 31, 2009

Issued as compensation to
Trustees

Balance as at December 31, 2010

$

$

$
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20. Units, cont’d
Special Voting Units
A Special Voting Unit shall not entitle the holder thereof to any interest or share in the Fund, in any
distribution from the Fund or in the net Fund assets in the event of a termination or winding‐up of
the Fund. Special Voting Units are issued only to holders of Altus LP Series 1 Class B limited
partnership units and Altus LP Series 2 Class B limited partnership units and are evidenced only by
the certificate or certificates representing such Altus LP Class B limited partnership units.
Accordingly, the number of Special Voting Units outstanding at any given time is equal to the
number of Altus LP Series 1 Class B limited partnership units and Altus LP Series 2 Class B limited
partnership units outstanding at the time. At December 31, 2010, there are 4,823,588 Special Voting
Units outstanding (December 31, 2009 – 5,281,674). A Special Voting Unit may be transferred solely
with the transfer of the Altus LP Class B limited partnership unit with which it is associated. A
holder of record of Special Voting Units shall be entitled to that number of whole votes (rounded
down to the nearest whole vote) at all meetings of Fund Unitholders that is equal to the number of
Fund Units into which the Altus LP Class B limited partnership units to which such Special Voting
Unit relates is, directly or indirectly, exchangeable (other than in respect of units that have been so
exchanged and are held by the Fund or an affiliate thereof). Upon the exchange, conversion or
cancellation of an Altus LP Class B limited partnership unit, the Special Voting Unit that is
associated with such Altus LP Class B limited partnership unit will immediately be cancelled for no
consideration without any further action of the Trustees, and the former holder of such Special
Voting Unit will cease to have any rights with respect thereto.
21. Non‐controlling Interest
Altus LP Series 2 Class B limited partnership units
As part of the formation of the Fund, 2,296,439 Altus LP Series 2 Class B limited partnership units,
each of which also represents a Special Voting Unit of the Fund, were issued by Altus LP to the
sellers of the predecessor operating entities. These units are exchangeable into Fund Units on a one‐
for‐one basis, subject to adjustment, after December 31, 2010.
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21. Non‐controlling Interest, cont’d
Altus UK LLP Class B and Class D limited liability partnership units
As part of the formation of Altus UK LLP, 455,418 Class B limited liability partnership units were
issued to the sellers of the predecessor operating entity, who are also current member‐partners of
Altus UK LLP, and 293,818 Class D limited liability partnership units were issued for the beneficial
interest of certain employees of the predecessor operating entity. Each Altus UK LLP Class B and
Class D limited liability partnership unit is entitled to an allocation from profits in an amount equal
to the cash distributions declared and paid on the same number of Altus LP Class B limited
partnership units in respect of the same accounting period. The Class B and Class D limited liability
partnership units have no additional interest in the equity of the partnership and are not included in
the calculation of diluted earnings per unit.
The non‐controlling interest is as follows:
Altus UK LLP
Class B units
Number
of Units
Amount
Balance December 31, 2008

455,418

$

Altus UK LLP
Class D units
Number
of Units
Amount

6,092

293,818

$

3,931

Altus LP Series 2
Class B units
Number
of Units
Amount

Amount

2,359,428

$ 18,788

$ 28,811

Total

Redemption of units

(170,291)

(2,278)

(66,900)

(895)

‐

‐

(3,173)

Share of net earnings

‐

468

‐

285

‐

418

1,171

Distributions

‐

(468)

‐

(285)

‐

(2,831)

(3,584)

Balance December 31, 2009

3,814

226,918

3,036

2,359,428

$ 16,375

$ 23,225

Redemption of units

(6,375)

(85)

(49,948)

(668)

(1)

‐

(753)

Share of net earnings

‐

342

‐

226

‐

373

941

Distributions
Balance December 31, 2010

285,127

$

‐
278,752

$

(342)

‐

3,729

176,970

$

$

(226)

‐

(2,831)

(3,399)

2,368

2,359,427

$ 13,917

$ 20,014
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21. Non‐controlling Interest, cont’d
On January 30, 2009, 26,466 Altus UK LLP Class D limited liability partnership units were redeemed
for cash of $7.75 per unit. On April 1, 2009, 40,434 Altus UK LLP Class D limited liability partnership
units were redeemed for cash of $6.50 per unit. On July 1, 2009, 122,125 Altus UK LLP Class B
limited liability partnership units were redeemed at a value of $8.22 per unit, proceeds of which are
being held in trust for a two year period. On December 24, 2009, 48,166 Altus UK LLP Class B
limited liability partnership units were redeemed at a value of $12.43 per unit, proceeds of which
have been issued in escrow. On April 16, 2010, 49,948 Altus UK LLP Class D limited liability
partnership units were redeemed for cash of $14.17 per unit. On November 4, 2010, 6,375 Altus UK
LLP Class B limited liability partnership units were redeemed at a value of $15.39 per unit, proceeds
of which are being held in trust for a two year period. The difference between the redemption prices
totalling $2,877 and the historical cost per unit of $13.38, totalling $3,926, resulted in a contributed
surplus adjustment of $1,049 (note 25).
22. Accumulated Other Comprehensive Income (Loss)
December 31, 2010
Fair value of cash flow hedges of $(547), net of future tax
recovery of $114
Unrealized loss on translating financial statements of self‐
sustaining foreign operations

$

(433)

December 31, 2009
$

(12,169)
$

(12,602)

(577)
(8,597)

$

(9,174)

23. Pension Plan
The Fund maintains a defined contribution pension plan for the employees in two of the practice
areas. The Fund is in the process of winding up the defined contribution pension plan for one of
these practice areas and there were no contributions made to this plan in 2010 or 2009. Pension
expense during the year ended December 31, 2010 was $8 (year ended December 31, 2009 ‐ $24).
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24. Earnings per Unit
Basic net earnings (loss) per unit are calculated by dividing net earnings (loss) by the weighted
average number of units outstanding during the period. Diluted net earnings (loss) per unit includes
Altus LP Series 2 Class B limited partnership units, using the “if converted” method. Under the “if‐
converted” method, earnings (loss) are adjusted for earnings (loss) allocated to the non‐controlling
interest, and the weighted average number of units is adjusted for the conversion of the Altus LP
limited partnership units. The dilutive impact of the convertible debentures is also determined using
the “if converted” method. The dilutive effect of stock options is determined using the treasury stock
method. The dilutive effect of contingently issuable units is determined based on the number of
units, if any, that would be issuable if the end of the reporting period were the end of the
contingency period. The contingently issuable units are included in the denominator of diluted
earnings per unit as of the beginning of the period, or as of the date of the contingent unit
agreement, if later. For the purposes of the weighted average number of units outstanding, units are
determined to be outstanding from the date they are issued.
The following table reconciles the basic net earnings (loss) to the diluted net earnings (loss):
Year ended
December 31, 2010
Basic net earnings (loss)
Non‐controlling interest relating to Altus LP partnership units
(note 21)

$

Adjusted net earnings (loss)

$

3,148

Year ended
December 31, 2009
$

373
3,521

3,388
418

$

3,806

The following table reconciles the basic weighted average number of units outstanding to the diluted
weighted average of units outstanding:
Year ended
December 31, 2010

Year ended
December 31, 2009

17,315,721

16,119,955

2,628,102

3,004,976

19,943,823

19,124,931

2,359,428

2,359,428

Dilutive Fund Unit options

269,743

165,177

Contingently issuable units

6,498

‐

22,579,492

21,649,536

Fund Units
Altus LP Series 1 Class B limited partnership units
Weighted average number of units outstanding – basic
Altus LP Series 2 Class B limited partnership units

Weighted average number of units outstanding – diluted

For the year ended December 31, 2010, the convertible debentures were excluded from the diluted
earnings (loss) per unit as the impact would have been anti‐dilutive.
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25. Contributed Surplus
Amount
Balance December 31, 2008
Redemption of Altus UK LLP Class B and D limited liability
partnership units (note 21)

$

198
1,102

Executive Compensation Plan (note 29)

1,860

Units issued for Deferred Performance Plan (note 29)

(705)

Repurchase of units from Deferred Performance Plan (note 29)

43

Balance December 31, 2009
Redemption of Altus UK LLP Class B and D limited liability
partnership units (note 21)

$

2,498
(53)

Executive Compensation Plan (note 29)

3,430

Units issued for Deferred Performance Plan (note 29)

(1,591)

Units issued under Unit Option Plan (note 29)

(191)

Balance December 31, 2010

$

4,093

26. Related Party Transactions
The Fund had the following transactions with related parties during the period, which were in the
normal course of operations and measured at the exchange amount.
Year ended
December 31, 2010
Rent remitted to entities controlled by employee unitholders

$

501

Year ended
December 31, 2009
$

311

The Fund has a consulting agreement with the principals of one of the original entities, Altus
Québec, pursuant to which the principals agreed to provide consulting services for a period of 10
years in respect of certain information technology developed by the principals and acquired by the
Fund on May 19, 2005. In consideration for provision of the consulting services, the principals are
entitled to a fee, payable only to the extent that earnings exceed certain thresholds. For the year
ended December 31, 2010, $151 has been accrued and is included in accounts payable and accrued
liabilities (year ended December 31, 2009 ‐ $Nil).
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26. Related Party Transactions, cont’d
The Fund has a consulting agreement with the former owner of the business assets of InSite to
provide certain services to Altus Group Limited, related to the business of Altus InSite, for a period
of six years. The agreement provides that the company will be reimbursed, with no mark‐up, for all
reasonable third‐party costs incurred in connection with the provision of the services. In
consideration for providing the services, the company is entitled to a fee in years two through six of
the agreement. The fee is payable only to the extent that earnings exceed certain thresholds. No
amount is payable in respect of the period January 1 to December 31, 2010 (year ended December 31,
2009 – $Nil).
During the year ended December 31, 2010, the Fund recorded expenses of $394 (year ended
December 31, 2009 ‐ $78), as per the Referral and Services Agreement between Altus Residential
Limited and Real Matters. Included in accounts payable and accrued liabilities is $153 payable to
Real Matters as at December 31, 2010 (December 31, 2009 ‐ $48). Included in accounts receivable is
$123 receivable from Real Matters as at December 31, 2010 (December 31, 2009 ‐ $75).
During the year ended December 31, 2010, the Fund had revenues of $41 (year ended December 31,
2009 ‐ $26), for appraisal services provided to Real Matters.
27. Distributions to Unitholders
With the exception of monthly and quarterly distributions paid in December 2010, which had a
record date of December 21, 2010 and were paid on December 31, 2010 in order to facilitate the
conversion of the Fund’s income trust structure into a corporation, the timing of distributions was
unchanged from previous years as outlined below.
The Fund declared distributions on a monthly basis to Unitholders of record as of the last business
day of each month with distributions paid on the 15th day of the following month. Altus LP declared
distributions on a monthly basis to the Altus LP Series 1 Class B limited partnership unitholders of
record as of the last business day of each month with distributions paid on the 15th day of the
following month. Altus LP declared distributions on a quarterly basis to the Altus LP Series 2 Class
B limited partnership unitholders of record as of the last business day of each quarter with
distributions being paid on the 15th day of the month following quarter end. Altus UK LLP declared
distributions on a quarterly basis to unitholders of record as of the last business day of each quarter
with distributions paid on the 15th day of the month following the end of the quarter.
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28. Capital Disclosures
The Fund’s objective in managing capital is to ensure that adequate resources are available to fund
organic growth and to enable it to undertake strategic acquisitions. The Fund’s capital is composed
of net debt, non‐controlling interest and Unitholders’ equity.
Operating cash flows are used to provide sustainable cash distributions to unitholders and fund
capital expenditures in support of organic growth. In addition, operating cash flows, supplemented
throughout the year with a revolving operating facility, are used to fund working capital
requirements.
A revolving term facility and equity are used to finance controlling interest in strategic acquisitions.
Additionally, vendors of acquired businesses are required to receive a portion of the purchase price
in equity in the acquiring operating entities of Altus.
Non‐controlling interest arises when equity is issued to a vendor from a foreign subsidiary or with
respect to the Altus LP Series 2 limited partnership units which are not exchangeable until after
December 31, 2010.
The Fund’s capitalization is summarized in the following chart:
December 31, 2010
Convertible debentures

$

Other long‐term debt (note 12)
Cash flow hedges (note 17)

43,019

December 31, 2009
$

‐

88,615

70,029

547

577

399

551

Total debt

132,580

71,157

Less: cash and cash equivalents

(42,627)

(8,995)

Net debt

89,953

62,162

Non‐controlling interest (note 21)

20,014

23,225

174,805

186,033

Obligations under capital leases (note 19)

Unitholders’ equity
Total capitalization

$

284,772

$

271,420
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28. Capital Disclosures, cont’d
The Fund monitors certain ratios in line with its banking agreement. At December 31, 2010, the Fund
is in compliance with the financial covenants of the credit facilities as illustrated below:
December 31, 2010

December 31, 2009

1.34:1

1.68:1

EBITDA to interest expense (minimum 4.50:1)

9.62:1

10.55:1

Working capital ratio (minimum 1.25:1)

3.75:1

2.47:1

Funded debt

(1)

(1)

to EBITDA (maximum 2.50:1)

Funded debt includes long‐term debt, obligations under capital leases, cash flow hedge, bank indebtedness less cash on
hand.

Under the terms of the credit facilities, the Fund may elect to have the funded debt to EBITDA ratio
maximum raised from 2.0:1 to 2.5:1 for the next four consecutive quarters after completing an
approved acquisition funded with debt. Further, the election provides that the ratio shall not be
greater than 2.0:1 at the end of the election period. During the quarter ended September 30, 2010 and
as a result of the PwC Appraisal Management Practice acquisition, the Fund gave notice to its
lenders to apply this election.
29. Executive Compensation Plan
In May 2008, the Fund commenced an equity‐based Executive Compensation Plan that comprises
two elements: a Unit Option Plan and a Deferred Performance Plan. During the quarter ended June
30, 2010, Unitholders approved a special resolution to increase the number of Fund Units available
for issuance under the Unit Option Plan and the Deferred Performance Plan from 1,831,454 to
2,213,668.
Unit Option Plan (“Option Plan”)
The options, which have a maximum term of 48 months, shall be allocated and granted to certain
key employees. The Administrators of the Option Plan have discretion as to the number of options
issued, the exercise price of each option, the expiration date of each option, the extent to which each
option is exercisable during the term of the option, and any other terms and conditions relating to
each option. However, if no specific determination is made by the Administrators, (i) an option shall
vest no earlier than 12 months from the date of its grant (the “Vesting Date”); and (ii) the period
during which the option shall be exercisable shall be 12 months from the Vesting Date. The exercise
price for the options under the Option Plan is calculated as the weighted average closing price of the
Fund Units on the Toronto Stock Exchange for the five business days immediately preceding such
grant date. Except in specific defined circumstances, an option and all rights to purchase Fund Units
terminate upon the optionee ceasing to be an employee of Altus.
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29. Executive Compensation Plan, cont’d
The changes in options under the Option Plan are as follows:

Number of Options

Weighted Average
Exercise Price

‐

‐

730,000

$7.28

‐

‐

Terminated

(22,591)

$7.28

Balance as at December 31, 2009

707,409

$7.28

Granted on May 7, 2010

730,000

$13.86

Balance as at December 31, 2008
Granted on May 4, 2009
Exercised

Exercised
Terminated
Balance as at December 31, 2010

(207,012)

$7.28

(35,650)

$10.91

1,194,747

$11.19

The options granted in 2009 and 2010 vest over a period from 12 to 36 months. The fair value of each
option granted was estimated on the date of grant using the Black‐Scholes option pricing model
with the following assumptions:

Risk‐free interest rate
Expected yield
Expected volatility
Expected option life
Weighted average grant‐date fair value per unit option

May 2010 Grant

May 2009 Grant

1.60%

0.83%

10.37%

9.68%

40%

39%

1‐4 years

1‐4 years

$1.82

$0.94

Information about the Fund’s options outstanding and exercisable at December 31, 2010 is as
follows:

Exercise Price

Number of
options outstanding

Weighted average
remaining contractual life

Number of
options exercisable

$7.28

484,397

1.75 years

28,788

$13.86

710,350

2.35 years

‐

$11.19

1,194,747

2.11 years

28,788

During the year ended December 31, 2010, the Fund recorded compensation expense of $773 (year
ended December 31, 2009 – $269) related to Fund Unit options granted to employees with a
corresponding adjustment to contributed surplus (note 25).
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29. Executive Compensation Plan, cont’d
Deferred Performance Plan (“Performance Plan”)
The Performance Plan provides for a notional account, (the “Distribution Account”), equal to the
distributions declared and paid by the Fund in respect of 2,213,668 (December 31, 2009 ‐ 1,831,454)
underlying Units approved for issuance. Under the terms of the Performance Plan, the Performance
Plan is funded if the Fund meets certain performance objectives tied to a range of the Fund’s payout
ratio, which are set annually during the budget process and approved by the Administrators of the
Performance Plan. On April 1 each year, an amount equal to the Distribution Account for the prior
year will be used to acquire equity. Therefore, the value of the issued securities will be equal to the
value of the Distribution Account. The Administrators may issue these securities in the form of Fund
Units, Class B LP units, or a newly created class of non‐voting shares (the “Non‐Voting Special
Shares”) created by Altus Group Limited. Any Fund Units or Class B LP units issued under the
Performance Plan will be issued to the Altus Group Income Fund Employee Benefit Plan Trust
(“Altus EBT”) to be held for two years prior to distribution to any participant who is a continuing
employee of Altus. Distributions declared on Fund Units in the ordinary course of the Fund will be
paid to the Altus EBT. It is anticipated Altus EBT will distribute all of its income to its beneficiaries
on an annual basis after payment of Altus EBT’s expenses. In specified circumstances, the Fund will
repurchase units issued to Altus EBT for nominal consideration. During the fourth quarter of 2009,
the Trustees of the Altus EBT approved a variation to the vesting period that permitted units issued
for the 2008 Deferred Performance Plan to vest in January 2010 and the units issued for the 2009
Deferred Performance Plan to vest in April 2010.
During the second quarter of 2009, the Fund issued 18,486 Fund Units and 89,747 Altus LP Series 1
Class B limited partnership units totaling $705 (note 20) into the Altus EBT with respect to the 2008
Deferred Performance Plan with a corresponding adjustment to contributed surplus (note 25).
During the fourth quarter of 2009, the Fund cancelled 1,737 Altus LP Series 1 Class B limited
partnership units totaling $11 that were issued with respect to the 2008 Deferred Performance Plan
(note 20). Also, during the fourth quarter of 2009, the Fund repurchased 5,407 Fund Units and 1,243
Altus LP Series 1 Class B limited partnership units, that were issued with respect to the 2008
Deferred Performance Plan, for nominal consideration which resulted in a contributed surplus
adjustment of $43 (notes 20 and 25).
During the second quarter of 2010, the Fund issued 16,154 Fund Units and 95,426 Altus LP Series 1
Class B limited partnership units totaling $1,591 (note 20) into the Altus EBT with respect to the 2009
Deferred Performance Plan with a corresponding adjustment to contributed surplus (note 25).
For the year ended December 31, 2010, as the actual pay‐out ratio fell within the established range,
the Fund recorded an expense of $2,657 (year ended December 31, 2009 ‐ $1,591) in relation to the
Fund’s Deferred Performance Plan with a corresponding adjustment to contributed surplus (note
25).
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30. Subsequent Events
Corporate Conversion
On December 8, 2010, unitholders and holders of the special voting units of the Fund approved the
reorganization of the Fund’s income trust structure into a corporation, pursuant to a plan of
arrangement under the Business Corporations Act (Ontario) (the “Arrangement”). The effective date
of the Arrangement was January 1, 2011.
Pursuant to the Arrangement, unitholders of the Fund and holders of Class B limited partnership
units of Altus LP exchanged their units for common shares of the newly formed, wholly owned
subsidiary of the Fund on a one‐for‐one basis. The new amalgamated corporation, Altus Group
Limited, will continue to operate the business of the Fund. Altus LP, Altus Operating Trust and the
Fund were liquidated and dissolved.
Altus Group Limited assumed the obligation of the Fund in respect of outstanding Fund Unit
options. Upon exercise of the outstanding Fund Unit options, holders will receive the number of
common shares equal to the number of Fund Units they would have been entitled to receive in
accordance with the Fund’s Unit Option Plan.
In connection with the Arrangement, Altus Group Limited assumed all of the obligations of the
Fund relating to the outstanding convertible debentures. The convertible debentures have become
convertible unsecured subordinated debentures of Altus Group Limited and holders are entitled to
receive common shares, rather than Fund Units, at the same conversion price at which the Units
were previously issuable upon conversion.
The Trustees of the Fund have become the Board of Directors of Altus Group Limited and the
officers and management of the Fund have become officers and management of Altus Group
Limited.
Amendment to Credit Facilities
As a result of the corporate conversion, amendments were required to the Credit Facilities. The
amended Credit Facilities are effective January 1, 2011 and have a revised maturity date of
December 31, 2015. The Revolving Operating Facility limit has increased from $12,500 to $20,000.
The Revolving Term Facility limit has increased from $97,931 to $110,000, with an accordion feature
which allows Altus Group Limited to increase the limit further to $150,000. Interest rates continue to
be based on the Canadian Dollar prime rate, bankers’ acceptance rates, US base rates or LIBOR rates
plus, in each case, an applicable margin to those rates. The margin ranges from 1.0% to 3.5%
depending on the calculation of the funded debt to EBITDA ratio and the facility used.
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30. Subsequent Events, cont’d
Under the amended Credit Facilities, certain subsidiaries of the Fund must account for a minimum
of 80% of EBITDA at the end of each fiscal quarter, as compared to 85% of EBITDA previously.
Further, certain subsidiaries of the Fund must now also provide a minimum of 80% of total
consolidated assets at the end of each fiscal quarter.
The amended agreement also resulted in new and revised financial covenants. These have been
summarized below:
Funded debt to EBITDA ratio: maximum of 2.50:1
Minimum fixed charge coverage ratio: minimum of 1.25:1
Maximum funded debt to capitalization ratio: maximum of 0.5:1
The agreement provides for an election to have the funded debt to EBTIDA ratio maximum raised
from 2.50:1 to 3.00:1 for the next two consecutive quarters after completing an approved acquisition
funded with debt.
Repayment of Revolving Operating Facility and Cancellation of $12,500 Interest Rate Swap
On January 5, 2011, Altus Group Limited repaid $12,500 on the Revolving Operating Facility and
cancelled its $12,500 interest rate swap agreement, incurring a penalty of $145.
Convertible Note Receivable to Real Matters
On February 25, 2011, Altus Group Limited issued a convertible note receivable to Real Matters in
the amount of $1,000. The convertible note receivable has a maturity date of February 20, 2012 and
bears interest at 7% per annum, compounded annually, payable at maturity. During the period up to
May 31, 2011, Altus Group Limited may, at its option, convert the receivable into shares using a
conversion price of $1.7848 per share.
Non‐binding Letter of Intent
On March 7, 2011, Altus Group Limited entered into a non‐binding letter of intent to acquire 100% of
the shares of a third party. Altus Group Limited may be required to pay $3,000 US Dollars in certain
circumstances if the acquisition is not completed. At this time, there can be no assurance that any
transaction will occur, or assurance as to the timing, structure or terms of any such transaction. The
full impact of the acquisition on future financial results cannot be determined at this time.
31. Comparative Figures
Certain comparative amounts have been reclassified to conform to the financial statement
presentation adopted in 2010.
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